

# VULNERABILITY ATTENUATION AND RESILIENCE ENHANCEMENT TO CLIMATE VARIABILITY AND CHANGE THROUGH AGROFORESTRY PRACTICES IN SMALLHOLDER FARMING SYSTEMS IN THE NORTH-WEST REGION OF CAMEROON

Nyong Princely Awazi

# ▶ To cite this version:

Nyong Princely Awazi. VULNERABILITY ATTENUATION AND RESILIENCE ENHANCEMENT TO CLIMATE VARIABILITY AND CHANGE THROUGH AGROFORESTRY PRACTICES IN SMALLHOLDER FARMING SYSTEMS IN THE NORTH-WEST REGION OF CAMEROON. Agronomy. Université de Dschang (Cameroun), 2020. English. NNT: . tel-03661565

# HAL Id: tel-03661565 https://hal.science/tel-03661565

Submitted on 7 May 2022

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers.

L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



Distributed under a Creative Commons Attribution - NonCommercial 4.0 International License



**REPUBLIQUE DU CAMEROUN** 

Paix – Travail – Patrie

\*\*\*\*\*

**UNIVERSITÉ DE DSCHANG** 

\*\*\*\*\*

ECOLE DOCTORALE

**REPUBLIC OF CAMEROON** 

**Peace – Work – Fatherland** 

\*\*\*\*\*

UNIVERSITY OF DSCHANG

\*\*\*\*\*

POST GRADUATE SCHOOL

DSCHANG SCHOOL OF AGRICULTURE AND ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES

UNITE DE RECHERCHE DE FAUNE, AIRES PROTEGEES, SYLVICULTURE ET TECHNOLOGIE DU BOIS LABORATORY OF FAUNA, PROTECTED AREAS, SILVICULTURE AND WOOD TECHNOLOGY

# **Title of Thesis**

VULNERABILITY ATTENUATION AND RESILIENCE ENHANCEMENT TO CLIMATE VARIABILITY AND CHANGE THROUGH AGROFORESTRY PRACTICES IN SMALLHOLDER FARMING SYSTEMS IN THE NORTH-WEST REGION OF CAMEROON

"Thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the award of the degree of PhD in Agroforestry and Valuation of Ecosystem Services, University of Dschang"

**Option: Agroforestry and Valuation of Ecosystem Services** 

By:

NYONG Princely AWAZI

MSc. in Agroforestry and Valuation of Ecosystem Services Department of Forestry, University of Dschang Registration number: CM-UDS-13ASA0600

Thesis publicly defended on July 22, 2020 before a jury composed of:

President: LAMBI Cornelius MBIFUNG, Professor, University of Buea Rapporteurs: TCHAMBA NGANKAM Martin, Professor, University of Dschang TEMGOUA Lucie Félicité, Senior Lecturer, University of Dschang

### **Examiners:**

- MAPONGMETSEM Pierre Marie, Professor, University of Ngaoundéré
- TANKOU MUBETENEH Christopher, Associate Professor, University of Dschang
- MBOLO ABADA Marie Marguerite, Associate Professor, University of Yaoundé I

2019/2020 Academic Year

### CERTIFICATION

This is to certify that this PhD thesis titled "Vulnerability Attenuation and Resilience Enhancement to Climate Variability and Change through Agroforestry Practices in Smallholder Farming Systems in the North-West Region of Cameroon" submitted through the Department of Forestry to the Dschang School of Agriculture and Environmental Sciences (DSAES), Faculty of Agronomy and Agricultural Sciences, University of Dschang as part of the requirements for the award of the degree of PhD in Agroforestry and valuation of ecosystem services, is an original and an innovative piece of work undertaken by NYONG Princely AWAZI, registration number CM-UDS-13ASA0600, under the mentorship of Prof. TCHAMBA NGANKAM Martin and Dr. TEMGOUA Lucie Félicité. As supervisors of this scientific work, we duly acknowledge to the best of our knowledge that the contents found therein have not been submitted in any form to another university for the award of any degree or diploma. We therefore maintain that this work is very novel and original.

### **AUTHOR:**

#### NYONG Princely AWAZI

Date..... Signature.....

#### **SUPERVISORS:**

### Prof. TCHAMBA Martin NGANKAM

Dr. TEMGOUA Lucie Félicité

Signature.....

Date.....

### Signature.....

Date.....

### Head of Department of Forestry

Signature..... Date.....

# **CERTIFICATION OF CORRECTION OF THESIS**

This is to certify that this PhD thesis titled "Vulnerability Attenuation and Resilience Enhancement to Climate Variability and Change through Agroforestry Practices in Smallholder Farming Systems in the North-West Region of Cameroon" publicly defended by NYONG Princely AWAZI on July 22, 2020 has been reviewed and corrected following the suggestions and recommendations of the constituted jury made up of:

### **PRESIDENT:**

LAMBI Cornelius MBIFUNG, Professor, University of Buea

Date..... Signature.....

### **RAPPORTEURS/SUPERVISORS:**

### Prof. TCHAMBA Martin NGANKAM

Signature.....

Date.....

### Dr. TEMGOUA Lucie Félicité

Signature.....

Date.....

# **EXAMINERS:**

# MAPONGMETSEM Pierre Marie,

Professor, University of Ngaoundéré

# **TANKOU MUBETENEH Christopher**, Associate Professor, University of Dschang

Signature..... Date.....

Signature.....

Date.....

### MBOLO ABADA Marie Marguerite,

Associate Professor, University of Yaoundé I

Signature...... Date.....

# LIST OF PUBLICATIONS AND OTHER CONTRIBUTIONS TO SCIENCE

### Peer reviewed journal articles

**1. Awazi, N.P.,** Tchamba, N.M., Avana, T.M.L. (2019). Climate change resiliency choices of small-scale farmers in Cameroon: determinants and policy implications. *Journal of Environmental Management 250 (2019) 109560*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2019.109560</u>

**2.** Awazi, N.P., Tchamba, N.M., Temgoua, L.F. (2019). Enhancement of resilience to climate variability and change through agroforestry practices in smallholder farming systems in Cameroon. *Agroforestry Sysems* 94: 687–705. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10457-019-00435-y</u>

**3.** Awazi, N.P., Tchamba, N.M. and Temgoua, L.F. (2020). Climate-smart practices of smallholder farmers in Cameroon faced with climate variability and change: The example of agroforestry. *Agricultural Research.*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40003-020-00477-0</u>

**4. Awazi, N.P.,** Tchamba, N.M., Temgoua, L.F. and Avana, T.M.L. (2020). Appraisal of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climatic variations and changes in Cameroon. *Scientific African 10* (2020) e00637. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sciaf.2020.e00637</u>

**5.** Awazi, N.P., Tchamba, N.M. (2018). Determinants of small-scale farmers' adaptation decision to climate variability and change in the North-West Region of Cameroon. *Afr. J. Agric. Res.* 13(12): 534-543.

**6.** Awazi, N.P., Tchamba, N.M. (2019). Enhancing agricultural sustainability and productivity under changing climate conditions through improved agroforestry practices in smallholder farming systems in sub-Saharan Africa. *Afr. J. Agric Res.* 14(7): 379-388.

**7.** Awazi, N.P., Tchamba, N.M., Tabi, F.O. (2019). An assessment of adaptation options enhancing smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change: Case of Mbengwi Central sub-Division, North-West Region of Cameroon. *Afr. J. Agric. Res.* 14(6): 321-334.

**8.** Awazi, N.P., Temgoua, L.F. and Shidiki, A.A. (2021). Examining farmers' resilience to climate change and policy ramifications in North-West Cameroon. *Current World Environment*, in press.

**9.** Awazi, N.P., Temgoua, L.F., Tchamba, N.M. (2021). Contribution of agroforestry to the attenuation of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climatic changes in north western Cameroon. *Current Research in Environmental Sustainability (Elsevier).*, pending publication.

**10.** Awazi, N.P., Tchamba, N.M., Temgoua, L.F., Avana, T.M.L. (2021). Agroforestry as an adaptation option to climate change in Cameroon: assessing farmers' preferences. *Agricultural Research (Springer).*, pending publication.

**11.** Awazi, N.P., Tchamba, N.M., Temgoua, L.F., Avana, T.M.L. (2021). Assessing smallholder farmers' practice of multifunctional agroforestry systems confronted with climatic variations and changes in Cameroon. *Scientific African (Elsevier).*, pending publication.

### Journal articles under review

**1. Awazi, N.P.,** Quandt, A. (2021). Livelihood resilience to environmental changes in areas of Kenya and Cameroon: a comparative analysis. *Climatic Change (Springer).*, under review.

**2.** Awazi, N.P., Quandt, A. (2021). Farmers' practice of agroforestry as a resilience strategy to extreme climate events in Kenya and Cameroon: a comparative analysis. *Agroforestry Systems (Springer).*, under review.

**3.** Awazi, N.P., Quandt, A. and Kimengsi, J.N. (2021). Drivers of livelihood resilience to climate change in the Western Highlands of Cameroon: assessing the role of endogenous

livelihood capital assets and policy implications. Society and Natural Resources., under review.

# **Book chapters**

**1.** Awazi, N.P., Tchamba, M.N., Temgoua, L.F. and Avana, TM-L. (2020). Farmers' adaptive capacity to climate change in Africa: Small-scale farmers in Cameroon. In: Leal Filho W., Ogugu N., Adelake L., Ayal D., da Silva I. (eds) African Handbook of Climate Change Adaptation. *Springer, Cham, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-42091-8\_9-1</u>* 

**2. Awazi, N.P.,** Tchamba, M.N., Temgoua, L.F., Avana, T.M-L., Shidiki, A.A., Forje, G.W. and Nfornkah, B.N. (2021). Agroforestry for climate change adaptation: evaluating smallholder farmers' practice of multifunctional agroforestry systems in the face of adverse climatic changes. In: Galanakis CM (ed) Environment and Climate-smart Food Production. *Springer Nature Switzerland AG.*, pending publication.

# <u>Books</u>

**1.** Awazi, N.P. (2018). Adaptation Options Enhancing Farmers' Resilience to Climate Change. *LAP LAMBERT Academic Publishing*, 132 pages. **ISBN-10:** 3330027940; **ISBN-13:** 978-3330027947.

# **Conference/seminar/workshop presentations**

**1. Awazi and Tchamba** (2016). Enhancing agricultural sustainability and productivity under changing climate conditions through improved agroforestry practices in smallholder farming systems. Open Day of Excellence of Scientific Research and Innovation for the North-West Region of Cameroon (JERSI – NW 2016). 24th – 26th October 2016, Bamenda, Cameroon.

**2.** Awazi et al. (2016). An assessment of adaptation options enhancing smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change. National Capacity Building Workshop on climate change mitigation strategies organized by MINEPDED. 20th – 22nd December 2016, Bamenda, Cameroon.

# Peer review record

Performed over 400 reviews for journals including Agroforestry Systems; Scientific African; SN Social Sciences; Current World Environment; African Journal of Agricultural Research; Asian Journal of Agricultural Extension, Economics & Sociology; International Journal of Plant & Soil Science; Journal of Experimental Agriculture International; International Journal of Biodiversity and Conservation; Journal of Agricultural Extension and Rural Development; Journal of Ecology and the Natural Environment; African Journal of Environmental Science and Technology; Journal of Development and Agricultural Economics; International Journal of Livestock Production; Asian Journal of Advances in Agricultural Research; Asian Journal of Research in Agriculture and Forestry; Journal of Horticulture and Forestry; International Journal of Environment and Climate Change; and Current Journal of Applied Science and Technology; placing in the 99th percentile for verified review contributions on Publons up until July 2020. Link: <a href="https://publons.com/a/1538863">https://publons.com/a/1538863</a>

# DEDICATION

I dedicate this thesis to my lovely mother - Engoh Rose, and father - Nyong Jacob, and to all my brothers and sisters.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I must start by sincerely thanking God for enabling me to see the light at the end of the tunnel after the numerous trials and tribulations that stood in the way of my academic path. Immeasurable thanks go to my supervisor Prof. TCHAMBA NGANKAM Martin for the trust and confidence he bestowed on me and the opportunity he gave me to follow my passions science and academics. Prof. I must admit that I am so grateful for what you have done to me and my debt of gratitude to you is incalculable. Working with someone like you known for his legendary rigour has been a huge pleasure and my sincerest hope is that the bond we have shared during these years lasts forever. I also extend my utmost gratitude to my co-supervisor Dr. TEMGOUA Lucie Félicité for her guidance and words of encouragement throughout the process of writing this thesis. Taking time off her very busy schedule to go through the manuscript and proffering pertinent corrections was heart warming to me. I thank you very much Doctor for the role you have played towards the advancement of my academic career. I equally wish to acknowledge the enormous contributions of one of the most brilliant scientific minds I know in the person of Dr. AVANA TIENTCHEU Marie-Louise for tutoring and advising me consistently. Her insistence on the virtue of humility when conducting research made me to stay grounded and focused during and after the completion of this thesis. Thank you very much Doctor, I owe you more gratitude than you could ever imagine. I will not forget Prof. Vincent KHAN PAYNE who with his words of advice and suggestions was the father-figure during and after the thesis write-up. Thanks a lot Prof. for all you did to me and I must confess that I am forever indebted to you. I wish to also thank all the lecturers in the Faculty of Agronomy and Agricultural Sciences of the University of Dschang who tutored and instilled in me the scientific consciousness and knowledge I have today.

I wish to sincerely thank all my family members far and wide for the material, morale, logistical and financial support they provided throughout the process of this thesis write-up. I can not list all your names here because it will be seemingly endless. I wish to let you know that you will always be in my heart and my debt of gratitude to you can not be expressed in words.

To all my classmates in the Dschang School of Agriculture and Environmental Sciences notably those in the Department of Forestry, I wish to thank you very much for your collaboration and scientific contributions during this thesis write-up. I also wish to thank all my friends and acquaintances whom I can not list - because the list is simply endless. Know that I am thinking of you in a special way, for you all have been a source of motivation during my most trying moments.

My deepest gratitude also goes to all the authorities on the field (traditional, governmental and non-governmental) who provided me with the needed assistance during field surveys. I also immensely thank the smallholder farmers who responded very well to my questionnaires during the household surveys as well as the staff of the meteorological stations who provided me with much solicited climate data. Thank you all for your help and my gratitude to you is immeasurable.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

CERTIFICATION	i
CERTIFICATION OF CORRECTION OF THESIS	.ii
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS AND OTHER CONTRIBUTIONS TO SCIENCE	ii
DEDICATION	v
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vi
LIST OF TABLES	xii
LIST OF FIGURES	xiv
LIST OF EQUATIONS	XV
LIST OF APPENDICES	xvi
LIST OF ACRONYMS	xvii
ABSTRACT	xviii
RÉSUMÉ.	xix
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Background of the study	1
1.2. Statement of the problem	3
1.3. Objectives of the study	5
1.4. Hypotheses of the study	5
1.5. Significance of the study	8
1.6. Thesis outline	9
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	10
2.1. Definition of concepts	10
2.1.1. Climate variability	10
2.1.2. Climate change	10
2.1.3. Resilience to climate variability and change	11
2.1.4. Vulnerability to climate variability and change	11
2.1.5. Adaptation to climate variability and change	11
2.1.6. Mitigation of climate change	12
2.1.7. Smallholder or small-scale farmers	12
2.1.8. Agroforestry	12
2.2. Effects of climate variability and change on smallholder farmers	13
2.3. Adaptation options implemented by small-scale farmers faced with climate change	14
2.4. Agroforestry for mitigation of and adaptation to climate change adversities in	
smallholder farming systems	15
2.5. Causes of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to the impacts of climate variability and change	17
0-	

2.6. Agroforestry for vulnerability attenuation and resilience enhancement in smallholder farming systems faced with climate variability and change	18
2.7. Classification of and major tradeoffs in agroforestry systems	20
2.7.1. Classification of agroforestry systems in sub-Saharan Africa	20
2.7.2. Major trade-offs in agroforestry systems in sub-Saharan Africa	20
2.8. Tree diversity and density in agroforestry systems in sub-Saharan Africa	21
2.9. Theoretical and conceptual frameworks	22
2.9.1. Theoretical framework	22
2.9.2. Conceptual framework	27
2.9.2.1. Vulnerability framework	27
2.9.2.2. Resilience framework	31
CHAPTER THREE: MATERIALS AND METHODS	33
3.1. Description of the study site	33
3.2. Sampling procedure	34
3.3. Vulnerability and resilience assessment procedure	37
3.4. Data collection procedure	38
3.4.1. Secondary data collection	38
3.4.2. Primary data collection	38
3.4.2.1. Sample frame, study population and sample size	39
3.4.2.2. Questionnaire design for household survey	40
3.4.2.3. Inventory of crop, livestock and tree species on smallholder farmers' agroforestry and non-agroforestry plots	41
3.4.2.5. Focus group discussion	44
3.4.2.6. Assessing drivers of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change	45
3.4.2.7. Characterizing smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices in the face of climate variability and change	46
3.4.2.8. Examining the contribution of agroforestry practices to vulnerability reduction and resilience enhancement to climate variability and change in smallholder farming systems	47
3.5. Data analysis procedure	47
3.6. Survey limitations	53
CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	55
4.1. RESULTS	55
4.1.1. Drivers of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change	55
4.1.1.1. Variability and change in climate parameters	55
4.1.1.1.1. Temperature	55
4.1.1.1.2. Rainfall	56

4.1.1.1.3. Rainy days	58
4.1.1.2. Causal and non-causal relationship between climate parameters	60
4.1.1.3. Smallholder farmers' perceptions of variability in climate parameters	62
4.1.1.4. Farmer perceived drivers of vulnerability to climate variability and change	64
4.1.1.5. Degree of vulnerability to climate variability and change as perceived by smallholder farmers	65
4.1.1.6. Factors affecting smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change	66
4.1.1.6.1. Relationship between explanatory variables and smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change	66
4.1.1.6.2. Non-causal relationship between smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change, and continuous and discontinuous explanatory variables	67
4.1.1.6.2.1. Non-causal relationship between smallholder farmers' vulnerability and continuous explanatory variables	67
4.1.1.6.2.2. Non-causal relationship between smallholder farmers' vulnerability and discontinuous explanatory variables	68
4.1.1.6.3. Ranking smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change according to location	69
4.1.1.6.4. Causal relationship between smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change, and explanatory variables	70
4.1.2. Characterized agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers in the face of climate variability and change	2
4.1.2.1. Identified and categorized agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers72	
4.1.2.1.1. Identified agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers	2
4.1.2.1.2. Categorized agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers	73
4.1.2.2. Ecosystem services of agroforestry identified by smallholder farmers practicing agroforestry	73
4.1.2.3. Main classes of agroforestry tree/shrub species integrated in smallholder farmers' plots	74
4.1.2.4. Major food and cash crop species integrated in smallholder farmers' agroforestry farm plots	75
4.1.2.5. Common livestock species raised by smallholder farmers practicing agroforestry	76
4.1.2.6. Common tree/shrub species integrated within smallholder farmers' agroforestry plots	77
4.1.3. Agroforestry practices and smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change	78
4.1.3.1. Factors affecting smallholder farmers' agroforestry practicing decision in the face of climate variability and change	78
4.1.3.1.1. Non-causal relationship between smallholder farmers' agroforestry practicing decision and continuous and discontinuous explanatory variables	78

4.1.3.1.1.1. Non-causal relationship between smallholder farmers' agroforestry practicing decision and continuous explanatory variables	78
4.1.3.1.1.2. Non-causal relationship between smallholder farmers' agroforestry practicing decision and discontinuous explanatory variables	79
4.1.3.1.2. Ranking smallholder farmers' practice of agroforestry in the face of climate variability and change according to location	80
4.1.3.1.3. Causal relationship between smallholder farmers' agroforestry practicing decision faced with climate variability and change, and explanatory variables	81
4.1.3.2. Categorized agroforestry practices and determinants of smallholder farmers' choice of different agroforestry systems in the face of climate variability and change	83
4.1.3.2.1. Categorized agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers in the face of climate variability and change	83
4.1.3.2. Determinants of smallholder farmers' choice of different agroforestry systems in the face of climate variability and change	84
4.1.3.3. Contribution of smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices to the reduction of vulnerability faced with climate variability and change	87
4.1.3.3.1. Relationship between agroforestry practices and smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change	87
4.1.3.3.2. Non-causal relationship between agroforestry practices and smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change	88
4.1.3.3.3. Causal relationship between agroforestry practices and smallholder farmers' vulnerability faced with climate variability	89
4.1.4. Agroforestry practices and smallholder farmers' resilience faced with climate variability and change	91
4.1.4.1. Farmer perceived factors affecting resilience to climate variability and change	. 91
4.1.4.2. Farmer perceived degree or level of resilience in the face of climate variability and change	92
4.1.4.3. Factors affecting smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change	92
4.1.4.3.1. Non-causal relationship between continuous explanatory variables and smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change	92
4.1.4.3.2. Non-causal relationship between discontinuous explanatory variables and smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change	93
4.1.4.3.3. Causal relationship between explanatory variables and smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change	95
4.1.4.4. Contribution of smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices to resilience enhancement in the face of climate variability and change	96
4.1.4.4.1. Non-causal relationship between agroforestry practices and smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change	96
4.1.4.4.2. Causal relationship between agroforestry practices and smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change	97
4.1.4.4.3. Variations in resilience according to location	98

4.1.4.4. Agroforestry systems and smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change	99
4.2. DISCUSSION OF RESULTS	100
4.2.1. Drivers of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change	. 100
4.2.2. Characterized agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers faced with climate variability and change	. 103
4.2.3. Smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices and vulnerability to climate variability and change	. 105
4.2.4. Smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices and resilience to climate variability and change	. 107
CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION, RECOMMENDATIONS AND POLICY IMPLICATIONS	 110
5.1. Conclusion	. 110
5.2. Recommendations	. 112
5.2.1. To smallholder farmers	. 112
5.2.2. To local authorities	. 113
5.2.3. To the government	. 113
5.3. Policy implications	. 114
BIBLIOGRAPHY	116
APPENDICES	132

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1: Farming population and number of smallholder farmers sampled in selected sub-
divisions in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon
Table 3.2: Number of household heads sampled in the selected villages in Mezam Division,
North-West Region of Cameroon
Table 3.3: Agroforestry plots of smallholder farmers surveyed
Table 3.4: Non-agroforestry (monoculture) plots of smallholder farmers surveyed
Table 3.5: Dependent and independent variables of the study
Table 3.6: Description of dependent variables of the study
Table 3.7: Description of independent variables of the study
Table 4.1: Spearman rank correlation coefficient showing relationship between vulnerability
and explanatory variables67
Table 4.2: Independent sample t-test statistic showing non-causal relationship between
vulnerability and explanatory variables
Table 4.3: Chi-square test statistic showing non-causal relationship between vulnerability and
discontinuous explanatory variables
Table 4.4: Kruskall-Wallis test statistic showing variations in vulnerability according to
village70
Table 4.5: Binary logistic regression predicting smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate
variability and change from five explanatory variables71
Table 4.6: Categorized agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers
Table 4.7: Classes of agroforestry tree/shrub species found on smallholder farmers'
agroforestry plots
Table 4.8: Food and cash crop species integrated on smallholder farmers' agroforestry plots
during field surveys75
Table 4.9: Main tree/shrub species integrated by smallholder farmers on their agroforestry
plots77
Table 4.10: Independent sample t-test statistic showing non-causal relationship between
agroforestry practicing decision and continuous explanatory variables
Table 4.11: Discontinuous explanatory variables affecting smallholder farmers' agroforestry
practicing decision
Table 4.12: Kruskall-Wallis test statistic showing variations in the practice of agroforestry
according to village

Table 4.13: Binary logistic regression predicting smallholder farmers' agroforestry practicing
decision from eleven explanatory variables
Table 4.14: Parameter estimates of the multinomial logistic regression model
Table 4.15: Spearman rank correlation coefficient showing relationship between vulnerability
and agroforestry practices
Table 4.16: Chi-square test results for agroforestry practices affecting smallholder farmers'
vulnerability to climate variability and change
Table 4.17: Binary logistic regression model predicting farmers' vulnerability from
agroforestry practices
Table 4.18: Independent sample t-test statistic showing non-causal relationship between
resilience and continuous explanatory variables
Table 4.19: Chi-square test statistic showing the non-causal relationship between resilience
and discontinuous explanatory variables94
Table 4.20: Logistic regression showing influence of continuous and discontinuous variables
on smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change95
Table 4.21: Chi-square test statistic showing the non-causal relationship between resilience
and agroforestry practices
Table 4.22: Logistic regression showing influence of agroforestry practices on smallholder
farmers' resilience to climate variability and change97
Table 4.23: Kruskall-Wallis test statistic showing variations in resilience according to village
Table 4.24: Kruskall-Wallis test statistic showing variations in resilience according to
agroforestry system practiced100

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1: Vulnerability framework for smallholder farming systems (agroforestry and non-
agroforestry systems) in the north western Cameroon
Figure 2.2: Patterns of resilience to climate variability and change in smallholder farming
systems (agroforestry and non-agroforestry systems) in Mezam division, north western
Cameroon: (a) to stress (b) to shock
Figure 3.1: Map showing the study area
Figure 3.2: Map showing distribution of agroforestry and non-agroforestry plots surveyed43
Figure 3.3: Data collection methods for the study45
Figure 4.1: Maximum and minimum temperature 1961-201855
Figure 4.2: Temperature variation 1961-2018
Figure 4.3: Maximum and minimum rainfall 1961-201857
Figure 4.4: Variation in rainfall 1961-2018
Figure 4.5: Maximum and minimum rainy days 1961-201845
Figure 4.6: Variation in rainy days 1961-2018
Figure 4.7: Relationship between rainfall and temperature 1961-201860
Figure 4.8: Relationship between rainy days and temperature
Figure 4.9: Relationship between rainy days and rainfall 1961-2018
Figure 4.10: Smallholder farmers' perceptions of variations in temperature in recent years62
Figure 4.11: Smallholder farmers' perceptions of variations in sunshine
Figure 4.12: Smallholder farmers' perception of variations in quantity of rainfall63
Figure 4.13: Smallholder farmers' perceptions of consistency in rainfall
Figure 4.14: Smallholder farmer perceived drivers of vulnerability to climate variability and
change65
Figure 4.15: Smallholder farmers' perceived degree of vulnerability to climate variability and
change
Figure 4.16: Agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers72
Figure 4.17: Ecosystem services of agroforestry identified by smallholder farmers74
Figure 4.18: Livestock species reared by smallholder farmers practicing agroforestry
Figure 4.19: Categorized agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers
Figure 4.20: Factors affecting resilience to climate variability and change perceived by
smallholder farmers91
Figure 4.21: Degree of resilience to climate variability and change perceived by smallholder
farmers92

# LIST OF EQUATIONS

Equation 2.2 
$$U_{ij} (\beta'_j X_i + \varepsilon_j) > U_{ik} (\beta'_k X_i + \varepsilon_k), k \neq j$$
.....23

Equation 2.3  

$$P(Y = 1/X) = P(U_{ij} > U_{ik})$$

$$P([\beta'_{j}X_{i} + \varepsilon_{j}] - [\beta'_{k}X_{i} - \varepsilon_{k}] > 0/X)$$

$$P([\beta'_{j}X_{i} - \beta'_{k}X_{i}] + [\varepsilon_{j} - \varepsilon_{k}] > 0/X)$$

$$P(X^{*}X_{i} + \varepsilon^{*} > 0/X = F(\beta^{*}X_{i})$$

$$P(X^{*}X_{i} + \varepsilon^{*} > 0/X = F(\beta^{*}X_{i})$$

Equation 2.5 
$$\frac{\partial P_j}{\partial X_k} = P_j \left( \beta_{jk} - \sum_{j=1}^{J-1} P_j \beta_{jk} \right) \dots 24$$

# LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix 1: List of key informants interviewed in Mezam Division, North West Region of Cameroon	132
Appendix 2: Average monthly temperature 1961 – 2018 for Mezam Division, North-West Region of Cameroon	33
Appendix 3: Average monthly rainfall 1961 – 2018 for Mezam Division, North-West Region of Cameroon	34
Appendix 4: Average monthly rainy days 1961 – 2018 for Mezam Division, North-West Region of Cameroon	35
Appendix 5: Questionnaire addressed to smallholder farmers in Mezam Division, North- West Region of Cameroon	35
Appendix 6: Interview guide addressed to key informants in Mezam Division, North West Region of Cameroon	40
Appendix 7: Data collection sheet for tree/shrub inventories on smallholder farmers' agroforestry plots	42
Appendix 8: Focus group discussions1	42
Appendix 9: Household surveys 1	43
Appendix 10: Inventory on agroforestry plots 1	43
Appendix 11: Inventory on non-agroforestry farm plots	46

# LIST OF ACRONYMS

AFPs:	Agroforestry Practices
AFS:	Agroforestry Systems
ANAFOR:	Agence Nationale des Forêts
ANOVA:	Analysis of Variance
BNL:	Binomial Logistic Regression Model
$CO_2$ :	Carbon dioxide
CV:	Coefficient of Variation
CVC:	Climate Variability and Change
FCFA:	Franc des colonies françaises d'afrique
FGDs:	Focus Group Discussions
FAO:	Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations
GDP:	Gross Domestic Product
GHG:	Green House Gases
IIA:	Independence of Irrelevant Alternatives
IPCC:	Inter-Governmental Panel on Climate Change
KIIs:	Key Informant Interviews
MNL:	Multinomial Logit Regression Model
NGO:	Non-Governmental Organization
PP diagram:	Probability Plot diagram
QQ diagram:	Quantile Quantile diagram
REDD+:	Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation
SPSS:	Statistical Package for Social Science
UNFCCC:	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
US\$:	United States Dollar
USAID:	United States Agency for International Development

### ABSTRACT

Climate variability and change is today one of the greatest existential threats facing humanity. The ravaging effects of this scourge spell doom for stakeholders involved in climate dependent sectors like agriculture. Promoting climate-smart practices that reduce vulnerability and enhance resilience becomes incumbent. It is within this framework that this study sought to assess the contributions of agroforestry practices towards the attenuation of vulnerability and the enhancement of resilience of smallholder farming systems in Cameroon in general and Mezam division, north western Cameroon in particular faced with climate variability and change. Both secondary and primary data were collected for the study. Secondary data collected included mainly climate data (temperature and rainfall). Primary data on its part was collected through household surveys, focus group discussions, key informant interviews, and inventories on smallholder farmers' agroforestry and nonagroforestry plots. Data collected was analyzed on SPSS 20, Excel 2007 and STATA 13 making use of descriptive and inferential statistics. From the results obtained, both smallholder farmers' perceptions and analyzed climate data revealed an increase in temperature and a marked reduction in the total quantity of rainfall in recent decades. It was also found that smallholder farmers perceived recurrent extreme weather events (99%) and poverty (96%) as the main drivers of vulnerability to climate variability and change. Household size, age of household head, household income, access to information, and access to land had a significant negative causal relationship (p<0.05) with smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change demonstrating that these variables have a high propensity to reduce smallholder farmers' vulnerability. The main agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers were home gardens with livestock (53%), trees on croplands (48%), and home gardens (44%); with agroforestry practices categorized under the agrosilvicultural agroforestry system (with 7 practices) being the most dominant. The findings equally revealed that five agroforestry practices (home garden with livestock, trees on croplands, trees on grazing lands, coffee-based agroforestry and Taungya) had a strong negative causal relationship (p<0.05) with smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change, which shows that these agroforestry practices play a major role towards reducing smallholder farmers' vulnerability. It was also found that four agroforestry practices (home garden with livestock, home gardens, trees on grazing lands and coffee-based agroforestry) had a significant positive causal relationship (p<0.05) with smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change, which proves that these agroforestry practices play a major role towards enhancing smallholder farmers' resilience. Thus, agroforestry practices play a significant role towards reducing vulnerability and enhancing resilience of smallholder farmers faced with climate variability and change. Based on the findings of this study, it is highly recommended that agroforestry practices and systems be integrated into the mainstream as a best practice owing to its ability to reduce vulnerability and enhance resilience to climate variability and change especially for smallholder farmers.

# **Key words:** Climate variability and change, vulnerability, resilience, agroforestry, smallholder farmers, farming system, Cameroon

# RÉSUMÉ

Les changements climatiques est aujourd'hui considérés comme l'une des plus grandes menaces auxquelles l'humanité est confrontée. Les effets dévastateurs de ce fléau constituent un mauvais présage pour les acteurs impliqués dans les secteurs dépendant du climat tels que l'agriculture. Promouvoir des pratiques durables qui réduisent la vulnérabilité et améliorent la résilience devient essentielle. C'est dans ce cadre que s'est inscrite cet étude à travers l'examination des contributions des pratiques agroforestières à l'atténuation de la vulnérabilité et à l'amélioration de la résilience face aux changements climatiques, des systèmes de petites exploitations agricoles au Cameroun en général et du departement de la Mezam, nord-ouest du Cameroun en particulier. Si les données secondaires collectées comprenaient principalement des données climatiques (température et précipitations), les données primaires quant à elles ont été collectées grâce aux enquêtes auprès des ménages, les focus group, d'interviews des personnes ressources et d'inventaires sur des parcelles agroforestières et non-agroforestières des paysans. Ces données ont été analysées sur SPSS 20, Excel 2007 et STATA 13 en utilisant de statistiques descriptives et inférentielles. D'après les résultats obtenus, les perceptions des petits agriculteurs et les données climatiques analysées ont révélé une augmentation de la température et une réduction de la quantité totale de précipitations au cours des dernières décennies. Il a également été constaté que les paysans percevaient la récurrence des phénomènes météorologiques extrêmes (99%) et la pauvreté (96%) comme les principaux facteurs de vulnérabilité aux changements climatiques. De plus, la taille du ménage, le revenu du ménage, l'âge du chef de ménage, l'accès aux informations et l'accès à la terre avaient une forte relation de cause à effet négative (p<0,05) avec la vulnérabilité des paysans face aux changements climatiques, ce qui démontre que ces variables ont une forte propension à réduire la vulnérabilité des paysans. Les principales pratiques agroforestières des paysans étaient les jardins de case avec des animaux (53%), champs complantés d'arbres (48%) et des jardins de case (44%); les pratiques agroforestières classées sous les systèmes agrosylvicoles (avec 7 pratiques) étant les plus dominantes. Les résultats ont également révélé que cinq pratiques agroforestières (jardin de case avec des animaux, champs complantés d'arbres, arbres dispersés dans les pâturages, pratique agroforestière à base de café et Taungya) avaient une forte relation négative de cause à effet (p<0.05) avec la vulnérabilité des paysans face aux changements climatiques, ce qui signifie que ces pratiques agroforestières jouent un rôle important dans l'atténuation de la vulnérabilité des paysans. Il a également été constaté que quatre pratiques agroforestières (jardin de case avec des animaux, jardins de case, arbres dispersés dans les pâturages et pratique agroforestière à base de café) avaient une forte relation positive de cause à effet (p<0,05) avec la résilience des paysans face aux changements climatiques, ce qui démontre que ces pratiques agroforestières jouent un rôle important dans le renforcement de la résilience des paysans. Tout cela montre que les pratiques agroforestières jouent un rôle important dans l'atténuation de la vulnérabilité et le renforcement de la résilience des systèmes de petites exploitations agricoles confrontés aux changements climatiques. Sur la base des résultats de cette étude, il est vivement recommandé d'intégrer les pratiques et systèmes agroforestiers au centre des politiques en tant que pratiques durables en raison de leur capacité à atténuer la vulnérabilité et à améliorer la résilience des paysans face aux changements climatiques.

# Mots clés: Changements climatiques, la vulnérabilité, la résilience, l'agroforesterie, paysans, système de l'exploitation agricole, Cameroun

#### **CHAPTER ONE**

#### **INTRODUCTION**

### **1.1. Background of the study**

Combating climate change and its negative impacts features prominently amongst the seventeen United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), agenda 2030 (United Nations Sustainable Development Summit, 2015; Burck *et al.*, 2016). This comes in the wake of dangerous changes in climate caused by increasing concentration of carbon dioxide ( $CO_2$ ) and other green house gases (GHGs) in the atmosphere (especially over the last four decades), due principally to fossil fuel combustion and agricultural lands replacing tropical forests (IPCC, 2007; NAS and RS, 2014; IPCC, 2018; Paterson and Charles, 2019).

It is estimated that agricultural activities contribute to 13.5% of total anthropogenic GHG emissions and release mainly nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) and methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) (roughly 45% of agricultural GHG emissions each), with CO<sub>2</sub> contributing the remaining share (Knopf *et al.*, 2010). With the increasing use of nitrogen fertilizers, increase in livestock numbers and more animal manure production, it is expected that N<sub>2</sub>O and CH<sub>4</sub> emissions emanating from agriculture will increase by 35 to 60% by 2030 resulting to severe repercussions on the agricultural sector (Rayner *et al.*, 2015).

Climate variability and change threatens human existence in general and the livelihood of smallholder farmers in particular in the  $21^{st}$  century (Lambi, 2010; Tsalefac *et al.*, 2011; FAO, 2011; Meybeck *et al.*, 2018; Chanana-Nag and Aggarwal, 2018). Studies show that smallholder farmers will bear the greatest brunt of predicted changes in climate patterns owing to their limited adaptive capacity (FAO, 2016). These highly vulnerable smallholder farmers would easily succumb to climate-induced extreme weather events such as floods, prolonged dryness and/or droughts, excessive heat, erratic rainfall and storms leading to devastating impacts on crop and animal health as well as farmers' wellbeing, thus engendering food insecurity (FAO *et al.*, 2018; Tume and Tanyanyiwa, 2018). In the face of increasing climate variability and change, smallholder farmers are faced with two main options: adaptation and/or mitigation (UNFCCC COP21, 2015). However, implementing one or both options involves burdensome human, material and financial resources which smallholder farmers in the majority cannot afford as most lead subsistence lives (FAO, 2010).

In the developing world, it is estimated that there are roughly five hundred million smallholder farms, supporting almost two billion people, and in Asia and Sub-Saharan Africa, these small farms produce about 80% of the food consumed (IFAD, 2012). With an exponential increase in the number of smallholder farms in the developing world which in most cases are inherently unsustainable, there is absolute necessity to document and promote sustainable and agro-ecological options which can better combat the ravages of climate variability and change (Serdeczny *et al.*, 2016; Lewis *et al.*, 2018; Awazi and Tchamba, 2019).

Agroforestry is one of the best practices which can contribute to curb the ravages of climate variability and change in smallholder farming systems while at the same time enhancing resiliency and mitigation efforts (Lasco et al., 2015; Awazi and Tchamba, 2019). With most climate change mitigation programmes in Africa in particular, focusing on reforestation and protection of tropical forests, a dilemma emerges between reducing tropical deforestation and expanding agricultural production to feed the ever growing African population (Mbow et al., 2012; Mbow et al., 2013). It is in this light that agroforestry comes in to solve the quandary between reforestation and agricultural production, for agroforestry increases carbon storage and may also enhance agricultural productivity (Kumar and Nair, 2012; Bishaw et al., 2013; Awazi and Tchamba, 2019). Climate change mitigation initiatives in Africa, especially under the auspices of REDD+ should therefore take into cognizance the food needs of the population and not focus solely on reforestation and forest protection campaigns, for this sort of approach has often failed woefully (FAO, 2010). Smallholder farmers should therefore be encouraged to take up agroforestry for it contributes towards reducing vulnerability and enhancing resilience to climate variability and change (Lott et al., 2009; Viswanath et al., 2018).

African agriculture is dominated by smallholder farmers with food self-sufficiency being the main motivating factor (FAO, 2013; Tankou *et al.*, 2017; Niles and Salemo, 2018; Partey *et al.*, 2018). Climate change mitigation and adaptation measures therefore need to demonstrate that they can increase food production and provide multiple benefits capable of reducing vulnerability and enhancing resilience (Appiah *et al.*, 2018; Awazi and Tchamba, 2019). A multitude of studies have shown that agroforestry could provide multiple ecosystem services which therefore calls for more investment in the practice (Bishaw *et al.*, 2013; Nguyen *et al.*, 2013; Amare *et al.*, 2018). Presently, the contributions of agroforestry practices to the reduction of vulnerability and enhancement of smallholder farmers' resilience faced with

climate variability and change has not been substantially evaluated although there is growing evidence that the numerous ecosystem services provided by agroforestry systems could generate more financial capital which improves the capital accumulation of smallholder farmers (Noordwijk *et al.*, 2011; Thorlakson and Neufeldt, 2012). Some studies in particular have shown that agroforestry has the capacity to increase carbon storage and produce more livelihood assets for smallholder farmers (Bishaw *et al.*, 2013; Awazi and Tchamba, 2019).

In Cameroon like other parts of sub-Saharan Africa, food-focused production systems are a quintessential part of the agricultural sector (Kimengsi and Azibo, 2015; Azibo *et al.*, 2016; Kimengsi *et al.*, 2016; Awazi and Tchamba, 2018; Awazi *et al.*, 2019). These largely food-based production systems are primarily controlled by smallholder farmers who constitute above 80% of the farming population (Molua, 2006). Agroforestry practices constitute a major part of these food-based production systems in Cameroon (Asaah *et al.*, 2011; Njongue *et al.*, 2017; Munjeb *et al.*, 2018). However, despite the seemingly widespread nature of agroforestry practices in smallholder farming systems in Cameroon, little or no research has been undertaken to assess the contribution of agroforestry towards vulnerability reduction and resilience enhancement to climate variability and change. This study therefore sought to blaze a trail and illuminate new pathways by looking at how this somewhat ubiquitous and age-old practice (agroforestry) contributes to vulnerability attenuation and resilience enhancement in smallholder farming systems in Cameroon in general and the North-West Region of Cameroon in particular, faced with climate variability and change.

### **1.2. Statement of the problem**

Agricultural production in the North-West Region of Cameroon in general and Mezam division in particular is presently threatened by climate variability and change coupled with other factors such as poverty, poor market access, limited inputs, severe soil degradation and limited access to credit facilities. Smallholder farmers' almost complete dependence on rainfed agriculture for their livelihoods makes for a scenario where any variation in climate has direct repercussions on food production. Their vulnerability to extreme climate events is largely due to their limited adaptive capacity. Although smallholder farmers have little capacity to adapt to the adverse effects of extreme weather events, they have not just succumbed. They are increasingly resorting to and/or intensifying practices that can help them better adapt to and mitigate the adverse effects of the increasingly variable and changing climate.

One of the sustainable and agro-ecological farming systems practiced by smallholder farmers is agroforestry. However, despite the seemingly widespread nature of agroforestry practices, there exists a dearth of knowledge on how they contribute to attenuate vulnerability and enhance resilience in smallholder farming systems faced with climate variability and change. Given the predicted rate and magnitude of climate variability and change in the North-West Region of Cameroon in general and Mezam division in particular, it is imperative to document and promote the implementation of climate-smart practices like agroforestry in smallholder farming systems fast enough to match the rate of climate variability and change, low cost, environmentally benign and climate smart practices like agroforestry are of the essence. Agroforestry practices therefore hold the key to the future for smallholder farmers in the North-West Region of Cameroon in general and Mezam division in particular within the present dispensation of an increasingly variable and changing climate.

It was within this backdrop that this research work sought to examine the contribution of agroforestry to the attenuation of vulnerability and the enhancement of resilience to climate variability and change in smallholder farming systems in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon. To accomplish this arduous task, the following main research question was posed:

✤ What is the contribution of agroforestry practices to the attenuation of vulnerability and the enhancement of resilience of smallholder farmers faced with climate variability and change in the North-West Region of Cameroon?

To provide plausible answers to the main research question, the following specific/secondary research questions were posed:

- ✓ What are the drivers of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon?
- ✓ What are the different agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon, faced with climate variability and change?
- ✓ What is the role of agroforestry practices to the attenuation of vulnerability of smallholder farmers in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon, faced with climate variability and change?

✓ What are the contributions of agroforestry practices to the enhancement of resilience of smallholder farmers in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon, faced with climate variability and change?

To provide better answers to the main and specific research questions posed, main and specific objectives were set:

# **1.3.** Objectives of the study

This study sought to attain the following main and specific objectives:

# ✤ Main objective

✓ To contribute towards reducing vulnerability and enhancing resilience of smallholder farmers in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon, faced with climate variability and change through the documentation of agroforestry practices.

# ✤ Specific objectives

- ✓ To assess the drivers of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon;
- ✓ To characterize smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices in the face of climate variability and change in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon;
- ✓ To evaluate the role of agroforestry practices to the attenuation of vulnerability of smallholder farmers in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon, faced with climate variability and change;
- ✓ To examine the contribution of agroforestry practices to the enhancement of resilience of smallholder farmers in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon, faced with climate variability and change.

### **1.4.** Hypotheses of the study

For the aforementioned main and specific objectives to have more focus and objectivity, the following main and specific hypotheses were tested:

### \* Main hypothesis

✓ Ecosystem services resulting from agroforestry practices contribute the most towards reducing vulnerability and enhancing resilience of smallholder farmers in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon, faced with climate variability and change.

### Specific hypotheses

- Recurrent extreme weather events are the major driver of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon.
- ✓ Agroforestry practices categorized under the agrosilvicultural agroforestry system are the most practiced by smallholder farmers in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon, faced with climate variability and change.
- Provisioning services of agroforestry contribute the most towards reducing the vulnerability of smallholder farmers in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon, faced with climate variability and change.
- Provisioning services of agroforestry contribute the most towards enhancing the resilience of smallholder farmers in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon, faced with climate variability and change.

The main and specific hypotheses of the study were inspired by the research works of other authors who carried out research in the same line of study in Cameroon, Africa and the tropics in particular and the world in general:

The main hypothesis of the study which states that "ecosystem services resulting from agroforestry practices contribute the most towards reducing vulnerability and enhancing resilience of smallholder farmers in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon, faced with climate variability and change" was inspired by the research works of Verchot (2007); Mbow *et al.* (2013); Nguyen *et al.* (2013); and Awazi *et al.* (2019) which all demonstrated that ecosystem services resulting from smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices/systems could go a long way to enhance their adaptation to climate variability and change. It was therefore this line of thought that guided the stating of the main hypothesis of the study.

Meanwhile, the first specific hypothesis of the study which states that "recurrent extreme weather events are the main driver of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon" was inspired by the research works of Rurinda *et al.* (2014), Innocent *et al.* (2016), Fongnzossie *et al.* (2018) and Awazi *et al.* (2019). All these research works have in one way or the other proofed that reccurrent extreme weather events play some part in smallholder farmers' vulnerability to

climate variability and change. The findings of these studies therefore influenced the stating of this specific hypothesis.

The second specific hypothesis of the study which states that "agroforestry practices categorized under the agrosilvicultural system are the most practiced by smallholder farmers in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon, faced with climate variability and change" was inspired by the scientific findings of Atangana *et al.* (2014), Lasco *et al.* (2015), Njongue *et al.* (2017), Viswanath *et al.* (2018), Awazi and Tchamba (2019) and Awazi *et al.* (2019). The findings of these research works demonstrated that most smallholder farmers take to agroforestry practices categorized or classified under the agrosilvicultural system (home gardens, trees on farmlands, improved fallows, live fences, Taungya, coffee-based agroforestry, and cocoa-based agroforestry) owing to the ease of management of these practices. These studies therefore guided the stating of this specific hypothesis.

The third specific hypothesis of the study which states that "provisioning services of agroforestry practices contribute the most towards reducing the vulnerability of smallholder farmers in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon, faced with climate variability and change" was inspired by the scientific works of Molua (2006), Bishaw *et al.* (2013), Nguyen *et al.* (2013), Vaast and Somarriba (2014), Kumar (2016); Mkonda and He (2017), Amare *et al.* (2018), and Awazi and Tchamba (2019). The findings of these research works showed that most smallholder farmers perceived provisioning services of agroforestry (food, fuelwood, traditional medicines, and building materials) as contributing towards aiding their adaptation efforts, thus reducing their vulnerability faced with climate variability and change. It was therefore within this context that this specific hypothesis was stated.

The fourth and last specific hypothesis of the study which states that "provisioning services of agroforestry play the most important role towards enhancing the resilience of smallholder farmers in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon, faced with climate variability and change" was inspired by the scientific works of Bishaw *et al.* (2013), Mbow *et al.* (2013), Mbow *et al.* (2014), Awazi and Tchamba (2019), and Awazi *et al.* (2019). These studies found that, although agroforestry systems supply a plethora of ecosystem services, provisioning services play a critical role in improving smallholder farmers' adaptation to climate variability and change, which goes a long way to enhance their resilience.

As already mentioned, the main and specific hypotheses of the study were therefore inspired by the research works of various authors who carried out studies in different parts of Cameroon, Africa and the tropics, producing technically sound and scientifically robust research findings. This implies that the main and specific hypotheses of this study are sound and robust enough to stand rigorous scientific tests, evidenced by the soundness of the scientific works from which inspiration was drawn.

It is worth mentioning that most of these studies either focused on climate change mitigation and adaption through agroforestry or laid emphasis on other aspects of agroforestry. This study is one of the first to examine the contributions of agroforestry towards the reduction of vulnerability and the enhancement of resilience to climate variability and change in smallholder farming systems in Cameroon in general and the North-West Region of Cameroon in particular.

### **1.5. Significance of the study**

The significance of this study has been articulated around three sub-themes: scientific, practical and theoretical significance.

In the scientific domain, this study contributes immensely to the enrichment of science owing to its novelty and originality. With climate change wreaking havoc all across the globe, the necessity to promote practices that contribute towards attenuating vulnerability and enhancing resilience becomes incumbent. It is within this framework that this study focuses on the contributions of agroforestry (a best practice) towards attenuating vulnerability and enhancing resilience of smallholder farmers to climate variability and change. Thus, scientifically, the results of this study are very important.

Practically, this study is very important to small-scale farmers, Non-Governmental Organizations (NGOs) as well as local, national and international policy makers. To smallholder farmers, this study contributes towards assisting them in reducing their vulnerability and enhancing their resilience to climate variability and change as it documents different climate-smart agroforestry practices/systems. NGOs as well as local, national and international policy makers can use the results of this study to re-orientate their policy options pertaining to the attenuation of vulnerability and the enhancement of resilience to climate variability and change through the practice of agroforestry in smallholder farming systems.

Theoretically, this study adds more knowledge to the limited body of existing literature on the use of agroforestry to attenuate vulnerability and enhance resilience to climate variability and change in smallholder farming systems.

### 1.6. Thesis outline

This thesis contains five chapters. Chapter one is introductory and hence contains the background of the study, statement of the problem, research questions, objectives, hypotheses and significance of the study. Chapter two looks at literature review and embodies definition of key concepts, drivers of small-scale farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change, contribution of agroforestry practices to the attenuation of vulnerability and the enhancement of resilience of smallholder farmers faced with climate variability and change, classification of agroforestry systems, trade-offs in agroforestry systems, tree diversity and density in agroforestry systems in sub-Saharan Africa, conceptual framework, and theoretical framework. Chapter three focuses on the methodology of the study and thus embodies description of the study site, sampling techniques, data collection procedures, data analysis procedure and limitations of the survey. Chapter four delves into results and discussion pertaining to drivers of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change, characterization of agroforestry practices, contribution of agroforestry practices to attenuation of vulnerability of smallholder farmers to climate variability and change, and the role of agroforestry practices to smallholder farmers' resilience enhancement in the face of climate variability and change. Chapter five looks at the conclusions, recommendations, and policy implications of the study.

### **CHAPTER TWO**

### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### **2.1. Definition of concepts**

### 2.1.1. Climate variability

The Inter-Governmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) defines climate variability as variations in the mean state of climate on all temporal and spatial scales beyond that of individual weather events. This may be internal variability (i.e. caused by natural processes within the climate system), or external variability (i.e. due to anthropogenic forcing) (IPCC, 2007).

### 2.1.2. Climate change

According to the IPCC, climate change refers to a change in the state of the climate that can be identified (for example by using statistical tests) by changes in the mean and/or the variability of its properties, and that persists for an extended period, typically decades or longer (IPCC, 2001; IPCC, 2007). Climate change may be caused by both natural internal processes or external forcings such as modulations of the solar cycles, volcanic eruptions, and persistent anthropogenic changes in the composition of the atmosphere or in land use (McCarthy *et al.* 2004; IPCC, 2007).

The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), in its Article 1, defines climate change as: "a change of climate which is attributed directly or indirectly to human activity that alters the composition of the global atmosphere and which is in addition to natural climate variability is observed over comparable time periods" (UNFCCC, 2006). The UNFCCC therefore distinguishes between climate change attributable mainly to anthropogenic forcings which alter the atmospheric composition, and climate variability attributable to natural causes.

Today, climate change usually refers to changes in modern climate which is sometimes qualified as anthropogenic or human induced climate change or "Global Warming" (USAID, 2007; Biermann, 2007; FAO, 2018).

#### 2.1.3. Resilience to climate variability and change

The IPCC defines resilience to climate variability and change as "the ability of a social or ecological system to absorb disturbances while retaining the same basic structure and ways of functioning, the capacity for self-organization, and the capacity to adapt to stress and change." Thus, the fundamental quality of resilience is the capacity to withstand shocks and rebuild when necessary (IPCC, 2001; IPCC, 2007). Following Turner et al, resilience refers to future actions that can improve a system's ability to cope with outside hazards (Turner et al., 2003). According to Folke *et al. (2010)*, resilience can be socio-ecological which refers to the capacity for transformation when systems cross certain thresholds.

### 2.1.4. Vulnerability to climate variability and change

According to Adger et al, vulnerability to climate variability and change is "the degree to which a system is susceptible to or unable to cope with the adverse effects of climate change, including climate variability and extremes" (Adger *et al.*, 2007). Vulnerability to the impacts of climate variability and change is therefore a function of exposure to extreme climate conditions, sensitivity to those conditions, and the capacity to adapt to the changes (IPCC, 2007).

### 2.1.5. Adaptation to climate variability and change

Smit and Wandel define adaptation as a process, or an action undertaken by a system to improve its resilience to shock, stress or risk (Smit and Wandel, 2006).

Following the IPCC, adaptation to climate variability and change is defined as "the adjustment in natural or human systems in response to actual or expected climatic stimuli or their effects, which moderates harm or exploits beneficial opportunities" (IPCC, 2007).

Climate Change and Biodiversity (CBD) on its part defines adaptation as the responsive adjustment in natural or human managed systems to minimize the expected changes, its effects or impacts (CBD, 2008).

The IPCC categorizes adaptation to climate variability and change into two types: spontaneous and planned. Spontaneous adaptation occurs at the level of individuals whereas planned adaptation occurs at the level of the society or community (Berry *et al.*, 2006).

11

In the domain of agriculture, Smit and Skinner categorized adaptation into four main types: technological, on-farm adjustment practices, government policy including insurance, and diversification of household income sources (Smit and Skinner, 2002).

#### 2.1.6. Mitigation of climate change

The IPCC defines mitigation as an anthropogenic intervention to reduce the sources or enhance the sinks of greenhouse gases (IPCC, 2001). Mitigation can equally take the form of limiting or controlling emissions of greenhouse gases so that the total accumulation is limited. It may also encompass attempts to remove greenhouse gases from the atmosphere (IPCC, 2001).

### 2.1.7. Smallholder or small-scale farmers

The term smallholder farmers which is interchangeably used with the terms "small-scale", "resource poor" and occasionally "peasant" farmers, refers to those farmers owning smallbased plots of land on which they grow subsistence crops and one or two cash crops relying almost exclusively on family labour and for whom the farm provides the principal source of income (Morton, 2007; Ojwang *et al.*, 2010; IFAD, 2012). Generally, smallholder farmers are characterized by limited resource endowment relative to other farmers in the sector (ASAP, 2012).

### 2.1.8. Agroforestry

Agroforestry is a collective name for land-use systems and technologies where woody perennials (trees, shrubs, palms, bamboos) are deliberately used on the same land management units as agricultural crops and/or animals, in some form of spatial arrangement or temporal sequence (Nair, 1989; Nair, 1993). In agroforestry systems, there are both ecological and economic interactions between the different components.

Agroforestry can also be defined as a dynamic, ecologically based, natural resource management system that, through the integration of trees on farms and in the agricultural landscape, diversifies and sustains production for increased social, economic and environmental benefits for land users at all levels (Leakey, 1996). Agroforestry systems are therefore multifunctional systems that can provide a wide range of economic, socio-cultural, and environmental benefits. According to Nair, there are three main types of agroforestry

systems: agrosilvicultural systems which are a combination of crops and trees; silvopastoral systems which combine forestry and grazing of domesticated animals on pastures, rangelands or on-farm; and agrosilvopastoral systems where trees, animals and crops are integrated on the same land management unit (Nair, 1993).

### 2.2. Effects of climate variability and change on smallholder farmers

Africa's smallholder farmers are increasingly being affected by climate change. Scholarship indicates that climate change has mainly adverse effects on Africa's smallholder farming communities. In a study carried out in Kenya, Herrero et al. (2010) found that climate change adversely affected smallholder farmers through recurrent droughts. Mary and Majule (2009) carried out a study in Tanzania, revealing that the recurrence of extreme climate events (changing rainfall and temperature patterns) led to increased risk of crop failure owing to the washing away of seeds and crops, stunted growth, poor seed germination, and withering of crops. It was equally found that, in the case of livestock, variations in rainfall patterns (decreased rainfall - drought) and increased rainfall - floods) led to a decrease in pasture and an increase in parasites and diseases. Similar findings have been reported by other studies carried out in Africa. Mortimore and Adams (2001) for example, found that the timing of the onset of the first rains and other intra-seasonal factors such as the effectiveness of the rains in each precipitation, and the distribution and length of the period of rain during the growing season seriously affects crop-planting regimes as well as the effectiveness and success of farming. According to the IPCC (2007), changes in rainfall patterns and the quantity of rainfall affects soil moisture and the rate soil erosion, both prerequisites for crop growth and crop yields. All these negatively affect smallholder farmers.

In a study assessing the economic impact of climate change on agriculture in Cameroon, Molua and Lambi (2006) found that as temperatures increases, and precipitation decreases, net revenue dropped across all the surveyed farms. The study equally revealed that an increase in temperature by 2.5 °C will lead to a drop in net revenues from agriculture in Cameroon by \$0.5 billion. A 5 °C increase in temperature on its part will lead to a drop in net revenues by \$1.7 billion. A 7% decrease in precipitation will lead to a drop in net revenues by \$1.96 billion and a 14% decrease in precipitation will lead to a drop in net revenues from crops by \$3.8 billion. The study however, found that increases in precipitation will lead to an increase in net revenues. Based on these findings, smallholder farmers in Cameroon will be adversely affected by climate change through a fall in farm revenue. On their part, Tabi *et al.* (2012), in a study carried out in the Volta region of Ghana found that climate change adversely affects rice farmers. These adverse effects were death of animals, loss of farming capital, heat stress, increase in social vices, shortage of water, slow development, and increased poverty and food insecurity. From these findings and those of other studies aforementioned, it could be said that climate change has mainly adverse or negative effects on smallholder farmers in Africa.

#### 2.3. Adaptation options implemented by small-scale farmers faced with climate change

In Africa, small-scale farmers have adopted different adaptive options in order to improve their adaptive capacity faced with climate change. Tabi *et al.* (2012) while assessing rice farming in the Volta region of Ghana found that rain-fed lowland rice farmers practiced different adaptive choices amongst which were the application of fertilizers, water management control practices, alternation of planting dates, herbicide use, and the use of high yielding and disease resistant varieties. On their part, Kuwornu *et al.* (2013) in a study carried out in northern Ghana found that smallholder farmers adopted both indigenous and introduced (modern) adaptive options to improve their adaptive capacity to climate change.

Molua and Lambi (2006), in a study undertaken in Cameroon, found that the main indigenous adaptation strategies implemented by smallholder farmers in the face of climate change were changing timing of farming operations, increasing planting space, undertaking traditional and religious ceremonies, change of crops, varying area cultivated, and cultivation of short season local varieties. The FAO (2006) found that the major indigenous adaptation strategies practiced by smallholder farmers were reducing food intake, change of crops, reducing personal expenditures, mortgaging land, homestead gardening, disposing of productive harvests, and re-sowing or re-planting.

Different authors have carried out studies across Africa with varying findings as far as indigenous adaptive choices implemented by smallholder farmers faced with climate change adversities are concerned. For example, studies carried out by Hassan and Nhemachena (2008); FAO (2009b); Gbetibouo (2009); Deressa *et al.* (2010) showed that diversification of crops is a major indigenous strategy practiced by smallholder farmers faced with climate change adversities. Studies carried out by Easterling *et al.* (2007); Boko *et al.* (2007); Gbetibouo (2009b); FAO (2009b); FAO (2010); and Deressa *et al.* (2010) showed that the integration of livestock to crop production is a key indigenous strategy practiced by
smallholder farmers faced with climate change. Studies undertaken by Molua and Lambi (2006); Easterling *et al.* (2007); Boko *et al.* (2007); Hassan and Nhemachena., (2008); Gbetibouo, (2009) and FAO (2009b) revealed that changing the timing of farm operations is one of the most important indigenous strategies adopted by smallholder farmers in the face of climate change. The FAO (2006); Molua and Lambi (2006); FAO (2009b); and Gbetibouo (2009) found that changing of crops was a major adaptation strategy used by smallholder farmers to adapt to climate change. The FAO (2006) and Altieri and Koohafkan (2008) found that home gardening was a major indigenous strategy practiced by smallholder farmers faced with climate change adversities.

The FAO (2010a); Thorlakson (2011); Rao *et al.* (2011); Mbow *et al.* (2013a); Bishaw *et al.* (2013); Mbow *et al.* (2014); and Kabir *et al.* (2015) found that agroforestry practices like scattered trees on croplands, improved fallows, home gardens, cocoa, coffee and banana agroforests were sustainable and climate-smart adaptive choices practiced by smallholder farmers across Africa in the face of climate change.

From the foregoing, smallholder farmers are adopting both indigenous and introduced adaptive measures to adapt to the adverse effects of climate change across Africa. However, very little has been done so far to assess vulnerability and adaptive capacity (resilience) of smallholder farmers in the face of climate change, through the use of agroforestry.

# 2.4. Agroforestry for mitigation of and adaptation to climate change adversities in smallholder farming systems

Studies have shown that in the face of climate change adversities, agroforestry systems like scattered trees on croplands, improved fallows, home gardens, cocoa-based, coffee-based and banana-based agroforests constitute sustainable, environmentally benign and climate-smart adaptive options practiced mostly by smallholder farmers in the tropics (Latin America. Asia, and Africa) (FAO, 2010a; Thorlakson, 2011; Rao *et al.* 2011; Mbow *et al.* 2013; Bishaw *et al.* 2013; Mbow *et al.* 2014; Kabir *et al.* 2015; and Awazi and Tchamba, 2019). Based on the findings of the aforementioned studies, agroforestry systems can provide several ecosystem services to smallholder farmers' raising their adaptive capacity to climatic variations and changes. The four ecosystem services laid out by the MEA report (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment report) of 2005 i.e. regulating, provisioning, supporting and cultural services) (MEA, 2005), can all be obtained from agroforestry systems. The provisioning services obtained from agroforestry systems (fiber, medicines, food, building materials, wood) can

assist smallholder farmers to increase their sources of income – improving their adaptive capacity to climate change (Zomer *et al.*, 2009; Syampungani *et al.*, 2010; FAO, 2010a; Thorlakson, 2011; Noordwijk *et al.*, 2011; Nguyen *et al.*, 2012; Mbow *et al.*, 2013; Bishaw *et al.*, 2013; Kabir *et al.*, 2015).

Sub-Saharan Africa has experienced a major decline in soil fertility caused principally by extreme weather/climate events like droughts, floods, and desertification, all triggered by climate change (Mboh et al., 2013). Sustainable agriculture is highly affected by declining soil fertility levels – as such agricultural practices depend largely on the natural fertility of the soil. Top soil erosion is the main cause of soil degradation and this is worsened by the washing away of crop residues and surface litter (Mbow et al., 2013). In sub-Saharan Africa, poor agricultural policies, as well as high cost and scarcity of mineral fertilizers have made sustainable and climate-smart practices like agroforestry to come to the limelight (Mbow et al., 2014). Studies have shown that agroforestry has huge potentials to improve soil fertility (Charles et al. 2013; Mbow et al. 2013; Charles et al. 2014; Mbow et al. 2014). Based on the findings of these studies, the practice of agroforestry on farms enhances biological nitrogen fixation by leguminous trees/shrubs and increase soil organic matter. Also, they state that the presence of trees on farms improves the cycling of nutrients thereby enriching the soil with organic matter and nutrients while simultaneously contributing towards the improvement of soil structural properties. Thus, trees contribute towards improving organic matter in the soil, soil moisture conservation through the tapping of water from deeper layers of the soil and leaching prevention, as well as nutrients recovery. All these go to maintain soil fertility while enhancing smallholder farmers' adaptive capacity faced with climate change adversities.

In the present dispensation of recurrent extreme weather/climatic events caused by climate change, studies have shown that the yield gap can be reduced tremendously through the practice of agroforestry (Nguyen *et al.* 2012; Ekpo and Asuquo 2012; Kabir *et al.* 2015; and Awazi and Tchamba, 2019). These studies demonstrated the existence of a plethora of successful agroforestry technologies some of which included: rapidly growing trees/shrubs for fuelwood, medicinal trees/shrubs, local fruit trees/shrubs providing added income and nutrition, and trees/shrubs contributing towards soil fertility improvement. Following these studies, it is important to distinguish between simple or less complex agroforestry practices (like intercropping practices, hedgerow, and alley cropping) and complex agroforestry practices functioning more or less like natural forests ecosystems, found in agricultural

management systems. This is because in the face of climate change adversities, trade-offs need to be made between crop yields and the sustainability of the system. Faced with adverse climatic variations and changes, simple agroforestry practices are generally less sustainable than complex agroforestry (Awazi and Tchamba, 2019). Nevertheless, complex agroforestry systems produce far lesser crop yields than simple agroforestry practices. Thus, in the face of climatic variations and changes, simple agroforestry practices produce more crop yields but are less sustainable while complex agroforestry practices produce fewer crop yields but are more sustainable (Awazi and Tchamba, 2019). This therefore, calls for a trade-off in both systems.

From the foregoing, agroforestry practices/systems therefore, have the potential and capacity to increase the diversity of agro-ecosystems, provide several assets to farmers, and improve sustainable agricultural production which helps to enhance smallholder farmers' adaptation efforts in the face of climate change adversities (Charles *et al.*, 2014).

# 2.5. Causes of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to the impacts of climate variability and change

Smallholder farmers are amongst the most vulnerable to the adverse effects of climate variability and change, and several factors account for this vulnerability. Following the findings of Rurinda (2014), based on a study carried out in the smallholder farming systems of Zimbabwe, the causes of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to the impacts of climate variability and change were increased rainfall variability, lack of draught power, lack of fertilizer, lack of seed, declining soil fertility and lack of knowledge. According to Rurinda's findings, the main cause of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to the impacts of climate variability and change in the studied communities was increased rainfall variability.

On the other hand, a study undertaken by Tabi *et al.* (2012), on smallholder farmers' rice farms in the Volta region of Ghana showed that sources or causes of vulnerability of rice farmers to the negative impacts of climate variability and change were poor soils, few farmers engaged in off-farm activities, difficult land tenure system, low price of rice in the local market, lack of insurance in situations of crop failure, and limited or no access to credit facilities.

Equally, a study conducted by the Coping With Drought and Climate Change Project (Synthesis Report, 2009) in the Chiredzi district of Zimbabwe found out that, the principal

sources or causes of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to the impacts of climate variability and change were inherent dryness, high frequency of drought, mono-cropping (overdependence on maize), poor farming practices, high incidence of poverty, limited alternative livelihood options outside agriculture, low access to technology (irrigation, seed), markets, institutions and infrastructure (poor roads, bridges, modern energy, dams and water conveyance), population pressure, skewed ownership and access to drylands livelihood assets such as livestock and wild-life, lack of drought preparedness plans, and limited use of climate early warning systems.

Studies conducted by Awazi (2016), and Awazi *et al.* (2019) in the North-West Region of Cameroon demonstrated that the principal sources of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change were poverty, inadequate rainfall, limited weather information as well as limited access to land. This goes to show that a combination of factors influenced smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change.

From the findings of the aforementioned studies, it could be safely said that smallholder farmers in Cameroon, Africa and most of the developing world are highly vulnerable to the adverse effects of climate variability and change.

# **2.6.** Agroforestry for vulnerability attenuation and resilience enhancement in smallholder farming systems faced with climate variability and change

Studies carried out by the FAO (2010a); Rao *et al.* (2011); Thorlakson (2011); Bishaw *et al.* (2013); Mbow *et al.* (2013a); Mbow *et al.* (2013b); Kabir *et al.* (2015); Awazi and Tchamba (2019) all demonstrated that agroforestry practices like home gardens, scattered trees on croplands, improved fallows, cocoa, coffee and banana agroforests constitute climate-smart and sustainable adaptation options implemented by smallholder farmers mostly in the developing economies of Africa, Asia, and Latin America in the face of climate variability and change. These studies found that agroforestry practices are low cost, climate-smart landuse systems which provide the four ecosystem services described by the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment report (provisioning, regulating, cultural, and supporting services) (MEA, 2005). Provisioning services in particular (food, fibre, medicines, wood, and building materials) provided by agroforestry practices help smallholder farmers to diversify their income sources thereby aiding their adaptation effort, thus making them more resilient in the face of climate variability and change (Zomer *et al.*, 2009; FAO, 2010a; Syampungani *et al.*,

2010; Noordwijk *et al.*, 2011; Thorlakson, 2011; Nguyen *et al.*, 2012; Bishaw *et al.*, 2013; Mbow *et al.*, 2013a; Kabir *et al.*, 2015; Quandt *et al.*, 2017; Quandt *et al.*, 2018).

Today, soil fertility decline is a major concern in sub-Saharan Africa due mainly to different drivers amongst which is increasing variability and change in climate patterns. This steady decline is soil fertility seriously affects sustainable agriculture (Mboh et al., 2013a). Soil degradation is the direct result of top soil erosion which is exacerbated by the washing away of surface litter and crop residues. With the scarcity and high cost of mineral fertilizers coupled with the lackluster performance of agricultural policies in most sub-Saharan African countries, discussions on sustainable best practices like agroforestry have gained grounds (Mbow et al., 2013b). Agroforestry's potential to enhance soil fertility has been documented by several studies. These studies spearheaded by Mbow et al. (2013a), Mbow et al. (2013b), Charles et al. (2013), Charles et al. (2014) all argue that the practice of agroforestry on farms increases soil organic matter and biological nitrogen fixation especially by leguminous trees. They further state that trees on farms enhance nutrient cycling and enrich the soil with nutrients and organic matter while at the same time improving the structural properties of the soil. Hence, trees help to improve soil organic matter, recover nutrients and conserve soil moisture through water tapping from deeper soil horizons and prevention of leaching, thereby maintaining the fertility of the soil which goes a long way to reduce vulnerability and enhance resilience to climate variability and change.

Studies have also shown that agroforestry has huge potentials to reduce the yield gap in the context of increasing variability and changes in climate. These studies led by Ekpo and Asuquo (2012), Nguyen *et al.* (2012), Kabir *et al.* (2015) and Awazi and Tchamba (2019) demonstrate that there are a good number of successful agroforestry technologies like trees providing medicinal plant products, fast growing trees for fuelwood, indigenous fruit trees that provide added nutrition and income, as well as trees that improve soil fertility. These authors however spell out the necessity to differentiate between complex agroforestry practices integrated in agricultural management systems which function more or less like natural forests ecosystems and simple agroforestry practices (such as hedgerow, alley cropping and intercropping practices). This is because compromises and/or trade-offs need to be made between sustainability of the system and crop yields, faced with climate variability and change. Complex agroforestry practices are generally more sustainable than simple agroforestry practices, in the face of climate variability and change (Awazi and Tchamba,

2019). However, simple agroforestry practices produce more crop yields than complex agroforestry practices in the face of climate variability and change (Awazi and Tchamba, 2019). Some compromise and/or trade-off is therefore needed in both systems.

Thus, agroforestry practices have the capacity to provide farmers with numerous assets, enhance sustainable agricultural production and increase agro-ecosystem diversity which helps reduce vulnerability and build resilience, faced with the adverse effects of climate variability and change (Charles *et al.*, 2014).

### 2.7. Classification of and major tradeoffs in agroforestry systems

# 2.7.1. Classification of agroforestry systems in sub-Saharan Africa

Agroforestry systems can be categorized based on several criteria which include structural basis (spatial arrangement of the woody component, vertical stratification of all the components, and temporal arrangement of the different components); functional basis (the major function of the system, especially the role of the woody component); socioeconomic basis (intensity of management and commercial goals); Ecological (environmental condition and ecological suitability of systems) (Nair, 1993; Atangana et al., 2013). Based on all these criteria, three main agroforestry systems emerge: agrosilvicultural, silvopastoral and agrosilvopastoral agroforestry systems. These three major agroforestry systems are made up of several different practices (Rao et al., 2007). The agrosilvicultural system for example is made up of practices like improved fallows, Taungya, alley cropping, tree gardens, multipurpose trees on croplands, home gardens, live fences (Viswanath et al., 2018). The silvopastoral system on its part is made up of practices like trees on rangelands, fodder banks, estate crops with pasture. Meanwhile the agrosilvopastoral system consists of practices like home gardens with livestock, multipurpose woody hedgerows, aquaforestry. All these agroforestry systems and practices are ubiquitous in sub-Saharan Africa (Amonum et al., 2009; Mbow et al., 2013a; Awazi and Tchamba, 2019).

### 2.7.2. Major trade-offs in agroforestry systems in sub-Saharan Africa

In sub-Saharan Africa, food-based production systems are a major part of the agricultural setup. With the population growing very rapidly, there is increasing urgency to increase food production in order to meet the growing food needs. It is for this reason that most smallholder farmers – who constitute a bulk of the farming population, have resorted to unsustainable but

high food yielding agricultural systems. This therefore means that sustainability is compromised in favour of crop yields. It is within this backdrop that agroforestry systems come in. Agroforestry systems are sustainable, agro-ecological and climate-smart, providing the four ecosystem services defined by the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment report (MEA, 2005). These include provisioning services (fibre, food, fodder, fuelwood, timber, water, finance); regulating services (climate regulation, disease, flood, waste, and water quality control); cultural services (recreation, aesthetics, spiritual); and supporting services (soil formation, photosynthesis, nutrient cycling) (Kumar, 2016; Mkonda and He, 2017). Agroforestry therefore has the potential to ensure the sustainability of farming systems while at the same time enhancing food production (Atangana et al., 2013). There is however some tradeoff to be made between the conflicting goals of food production and attaining sustainability (Mbow et al., 2013a; Vaast and Somarriba, 2014). This is because while agroforestry systems can play a very big role in ensuring sustainability of agricultural systems, their role in the enhancement of food production is not too significant (Awazi and Tchamba, 2019). Nevertheless, agroforestry's collective role in balancing out both food production and sustainability is far greater than many other farming systems (Andreotti *et al.*, 2017) – thus the necessity for smallholder farmers to practice agroforestry, especially in the prevailing dispensation of climate variability and change.

#### 2.8. Tree diversity and density in agroforestry systems in sub-Saharan Africa

In sub-Saharan Africa, studies have shown that tree densities in agroforestry systems range from as low as 5% tree cover in the Sahel to above 45% tree cover in the humid tropical zones where oil palm, cocoa and coffee agroforestry systems dominate (Mbow *et al.*, 2013b). In the same light, this study found that in sub-Saharan Africa, 15% of farms have at least a tree cover of 30%. Endale *et al.* (2017) in a study conducted in the semi-arid East Shewa region of Ethiopia found that agroforestry systems are characterized by varied levels of tree diversity. According to the findings of this study, 77 tree species belonging to 32 families were identified. The study however found that tree diversity varied across different land uses (woodlots, home gardens, croplands and line plantings), with the highest diversity occurring in line plantings and the lowest in woodlots. Ajake (2012) in a study conducted in the Cross River State of Nigeria found that a diversity of forest and non-forest tree species was found in the farming systems of the indigenous population. In total, 19 indigenous tree species were commonly found in the farming systems of the local population. Zomer *et al.* (2014) found

that tree cover in agricultural lands in sub-Saharan Africa, increased by 2% between the years 2000 to 2010. This increase is however slow when compared to South America (12.6% increase), South Asia (6.7% increase), East Asia (5% increase), Oceania (3.2% increase), and Southeast Asia (2.7% increase) (Zomer *et al.*, 2014). Meanwhile Bishaw *et al.* (2013) in studies conducted in Ethiopia and Kenya found high levels of tree diversity and density in different agroforestry systems like home gardens, rotational woodlots, alley cropping, live fences, and fodder banks. However, the highland home garden agroforestry system of the Gedeo region of Ethiopia was found to have a higher tree diversity and density than the arid pastoral agroforestry system in the Afar region located in North-Eastern Ethiopia. In Kenya, agroforestry systems in the Meru highlands were found to have more tree diversity and density than their counterparts in the Kibwezi district which is more arid. In the same light, Negawo and Beyene (2017) equally conducted a study in the Eastern part of Uganda which demonstrated that coffee-based agroforestry systems were characterized by high levels of tree diversity which contributed enormously to tree resources conservation in Eastern Uganda.

#### 2.9. Theoretical and conceptual frameworks

#### 2.9.1. Theoretical framework

This study is modeled around the determinants of smallholder farmers' practice of agroforestry and choice of agroforestry system faced with climate variability and change. With climate variability and change wreaking havoc on smallholder farming systems, smallholder farmers are increasingly making use of agroforestry to reduce vulnerability and enhance resilience to climate variability and change. Assessing the determinants of smallholder farmers' practice of agroforestry and choice of agroforestry system in the face of climate variability and change is therefore imperative. To do this, the study adapts the random utility model developed by Greene (2003). Thus, suppose that  $Y_j$  and  $Y_k$  represent a smallholder farmer's utility for two agroforestry systems, which are denoted by  $U_j$  and  $U_k$ , respectively. The linear random utility model could then be expressed as follows:

$$U_i = \beta'_i X_i + \varepsilon_i$$
 and  $U_k = \beta'_k X_i + \varepsilon_k$  Equation 2.1

Where  $U_j$  and  $U_k$  are hypothesized utilities of agroforestry system *j* and *k* respectively,  $X_i$  is the vector of independent variables that influence the perceived desirability of the system,  $\beta_j$ and  $\beta_k$  are parameters to be estimated, and  $\varepsilon_j$  and  $\varepsilon_k$  are error terms assumed to be independently and identically distributed (Greene 2003). In order to reduce vulnerability and enhance resilience to climate variability and change, if a smallholder farmer decides to use agroforestry system j, it follows that the perceived benefit from agroforestry system j is greater than the benefit from other agroforestry systems (say k). This can be demonstrated as follows:

$$U_{ij} (\beta'_j X_i + \varepsilon_j) > U_{ik} (\beta'_k X_i + \varepsilon_k), k \neq j$$
 Equation 2.2

The probability that a smallholder farmer, in the face of climate variability and change will use agroforestry system *j* among the set of different agroforestry systems could be expressed as:

$$P(Y = 1/X) = P(U_{ij} > U_{ik})$$

$$P([\beta'_{j}X_{i} + \varepsilon_{j}] - [\beta'_{k}X_{i} - \varepsilon_{k}] > 0/X)$$

$$P([\beta'_{j}X_{i} - \beta'_{k}X_{i}] + [\varepsilon_{j} - \varepsilon_{k}] > 0/X)$$

$$P(X^{*}X_{i} + \varepsilon^{*} > 0/X = F(\beta^{*}X_{i})$$
Equation 2.3

Where *P* is a probability function,  $U_{ij}$ ,  $U_{ik,j}$ , and  $X_i$  are as defined above,  $\mathcal{E}^* = \mathcal{E}_j - \mathcal{E}_k$  is a random disturbance term,  $\beta_j^* = (\beta_j^* - \beta_k^*)$  is a vector of unknown parameters that can be interpreted as a net influence of the vector of independent variables influencing the implementation of a given agroforestry system, and  $F(\beta^*X_i)$  is a cumulative distribution function of  $\mathcal{E}^*$  evaluated at  $\beta^*X_i$ . The exact distribution of *F* depends on the distribution of the random disturbance term,  $\mathcal{E}^*$ . Following Greene (2003), a multitude of qualitative choice models can be estimated depending on the assumed distribution that the random disturbance term follows.

For this study, the multinomial logit (MNL) regression model was used. This model has been used by several studies (Kurukulasuriya and Mendelsohn, 2007; Deressa *et al.*, 2008; Tabi *et al.*, 2012; Kuwornu *et al.*, 2013; Atinkut and Mebrat, 2016) to explain the determinants of farmers' choices of adaptation options when faced with climate variability and change. However, this study investigated the determinants of the choice of agroforestry systems used by smallholder farmers to reduce vulnerability and enhance resilience to climate variability and change. According to Wooldridge (2002) and Koch (2007) the strengths of the multinomial logit (MNL) regression model include: permitting the analysis of decisions

across more than two categories; allowing the determination of choice probabilities for different categories, as well as the ease of interpreting estimates of the model.

In order to describe the multinomial logit (MNL) regression model, we consider that *y* represents a random variable (in this case different agroforestry systems of smallholder farmers) with the values (1, 2...*J*) for *J*, a positive integer, and consider that *x* represents a set of explanatory variables. Hence y represents categories (different agroforestry systems) and *x* denotes smallholder farmers' attributes: access to information, access to land, household income, access to extension services, access to credit. The question is how cetiris paribus changes in the elements of *x* affect the response probabilities *P* (y = j / x), j = 1, 2,...,J. Since the probabilities must sum to unity, P(y = j / x) is determined once we know the probabilities for j = 2,...J.

Suppose x to be a  $1 \times K$  vector with first element unity. The MNL model has response probabilities as follows:

P (y = j / x) = 
$$\frac{\exp(x\beta_j)}{1 + \sum_{k=1}^{j} \exp(x\beta_k)}$$
,  $j = 1, ..., J$  Equation 2.4

Where 
$$\beta_j$$
 is K  $\times$  1, j = 1 .....J

However, unbiased and consistent parameter estimates of the multinomial logit (MNL) regression model require the assumption of Independence of Irrelevant Alternatives (IIA) to hold. This implies that the probability of choosing a certain agroforestry system by a given smallholder farmer needs to be independent from the probability of choosing another agroforestry system (that is,  $P_{j'}/P_{k}$  is independent of the remaining probabilities). The premise of the IIA assumption is the independent and homoskedastic disturbance terms of the basic model in equation 2.1.

The parameter estimates of the MNL regression model provide only the direction of the effect of the independent variables on the dependent (response) variable, but estimates do not represent either the actual magnitude of change nor probabilities. Differentiating equation 2.1 with respect to the explanatory variables provides marginal effects of the explanatory variables given as:

$$\frac{\partial P_j}{\partial X_k} = P_j \left( \beta_{jk} - \sum_{J=1}^{J-1} P_j \beta_{jk} \right)$$
Equation 2.5

The marginal effects are usually derived to explain the effects of the independent variables on the dependent variable in terms of probabilities as seen in equation 2.5. The marginal effects measure the expected change in the likelihood of choice of a particular dependent variable with respect to a unit change in the independent or exogenous variable (Greene, 2003).

#### Variables considered for the multinomial logistic (MNL) regression model

The model integrated both explanatory variables and the dependent variable:

# A. Explanatory variables

The exogenous, independent or explanatory variables that influence smallholder farmers' choice of agroforestry system in the face of climate variability and change in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon were broadly classified under three main headings namely: socio-economic, institutional and environmental factors.

# (a) Socio-economic factors

Several studies have been undertaken in different parts of Africa and the tropics demonstrating that socio-economic factors such as age, level of education, sex, land tenure, level of income, training, information received and so forth tremendously influence smallholder farmers' choice of adaptation options when face with the effects of climate variability and change (Deressa *et al.*, 2008; Tabi *et al.*, 2012; Kabir *et al.*, 2015; Atinkut and Mebrat, 2016; Taruvinga *et al.*, 2016; Awazi, 2016; Awazi *et al.*, 2019). For this study, the hypothesized socio-economic factors determining the choice of agroforestry system of smallholder farmers to reduce vulnerability and enhance resilience faced with climate variability and change were: household size, sex of household head, age of household head, number of farms, farm size, farm experience, educational level of household head, access to land, and household income.

#### (b) Institutional factors

Equally, studies on adaptation to climate variability and change undertaken in different parts of Africa and the tropics have shown that institutional factors largely influence smallholder farmers' choice of adaptation options. Some of these institutional factors such as access to credit, integrated warning systems, frequency of agricultural extension visits and existence of markets largely determine smallholder farmers' choice of adaptation options (Nhemachena and Hassan, 2007; Hassan and Nhemachena, 2008; Gbetibouo, 2009; Deressa *et al.*, 2010;

Mandleni and Anim, 2011; Atinkut and Mebrat, 2016; Taruvinga *et al.*, 2016; Awazi, 2016; Awazi *et al.*, 2019). For this study the hypothesized institutional variables influencing smallholder farmers' choice of agroforestry system to reduce vulnerability and enhance resilience to climate variability and change were: access to credit, access to information, access to extension services, and access to markets.

### (c) Environmental factors

A multitude of studies have been undertaken in Africa and the tropics showing that environmental factors especially temperature, rainfall, sunshine and storms go a long way to influence smallholder farmers' choice of adaptation options when faced with the adverse impacts of climate variability and change (Nhemachena and Hassan, 2007; Hassan and Nhemachena, 2008; Gbetibouo, 2009; Deressa *et al.*, 2010; Mandleni and Anim, 2011; Atinkut and Mebrat, 2016; Awazi, 2016; Mensah-Bonsu *et al.*, 2017; Awazi *et al.*, 2019). In this study, the hypothesized environmental factor influencing smallholder farmers' choice of agroforestry system to reduce vulnerability and enhance resilience to climate variability and change was: variation in climate parameters (rainfall and temperature).

#### **B.** Dependent variable

The dependent variable for this study was the different agroforestry practices implemented by smallholder farmers in their farming systems, faced with climate variability and change. However, most scholarship found that smallholder farmers' adaptation measures are always numerous, hence the need to categorize them into fewer and more comprehensive groups in order to ease analysis (Gbetibouo, 2009; Deressa et al., 2010; Kuwornu et al., 2014; Atinkut and Mebrat, 2016; Awazi, 2016; Awazi et al., 2019). This research work therefore followed a similar framework by categorizing the numerous agroforestry practices taken up by smallholder farmers into three major categories: agrosilvicultural; silvopastoral; agrosilvopastoral agroforestry systems with the reference category being "No Agroforestry". Agroforestry practices categorized under agrosilvicultural agroforestry system were home gardens, coffee-based agroforestry, trees on croplands, live fences/hedges, Taungya, and improved fallows. Agroforestry practices categorized under silvopastoral agroforestry system were trees on grazing lands and fodder banks. Agroforestry practices categorized under the agrosilvopastoral agroforestry system were home gardens with livestock, and trees on rangelands with crops. The "No Agroforestry" category stood alone and constituted the reference category for the multinomial logit regression model.

### **2.9.2.** Conceptual framework

The conceptual framework of the study is articulated around two major sub-concepts: vulnerability and resilience.

#### 2.9.2.1. Vulnerability framework

The study makes use of the indicator method to examine the vulnerability of smallholder farming systems (agroforestry and non-agroforestry systems) faced with climate variability and change. This method quantifies the vulnerability of smallholder farming systems (agroforestry and non-agroforestry systems) based on some indicators. Several indicators can be used to examine the vulnerability of smallholder farming systems to climate variability and change. Following the IPCC (2001), vulnerability to climate variability and change is a function of three basic indicators namely: exposure, sensitivity and adaptive capacity (resilience) (Figure 2.1). Exposure is interpreted as the direct danger (i.e., the stressor), and the nature and extent of changes to a region's climate variables (e.g., temperature, precipitation, extreme weather events) while sensitivity describes the human-environmental conditions that can worsen the hazard, ameliorate the hazard, or trigger an impact. Adaptive capacity on its part represents the potential to implement adaptation measures that help avert potential impacts.

In this study, exposure hinges on two main elements; frequency of climate extremes and predicted changes in temperature and rainfall:

One of the main constraints to agriculture in the North-West Region of Cameroon is extreme climate events, which historically included frequent storms and prolonged dry spells. Hence with such recurrent extreme climate events, crop production is more risky. Predicted change in temperature and rainfall for Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon shows that there will be increased temperature and decreased rainfall in the coming decades (Tingem *et al.*, 2008). These changes will expose smallholder farming systems (agroforestry and non-agroforestry systems) to greater extreme climate events to which they would have more difficulties adjusting thereby negatively impacting farm production.

Pertaining to sensitivity, the study examines four factors that influence sensitivity to climate variability and change for a predominantly agricultural zone like Mezam division, North-

West Region of Cameroon; percentage of smallholder farmers, rural population density, rate of irrigation, and number of farmers taking to climate-smart practices like agroforestry:

Firstly, it is hypothesized that the percentage of smallholder farmers in an area greatly influences sensitivity (Turner *et al.*, 2003). This is because smallholder farmers in most cases are subsistence farmers with less capital-intensive technologies and management practices. Thus, a zone like Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon with a large number of smallholder farmers is highly sensitive to climate variability and change.





Source: Adapted from Gbetibouo and Ringler (2009)

Secondly, it is hypothesized that rural population density has a direct influence on sensitivity to climate variability and change (Gbetibouo and Ringler, 2009). This is because rural

population's are the most vulnerable to climate variability and change owing to high rates of poverty, illiteracy and the unavailability of basic infrastructures to aid adaptation efforts in the face of climate variability and change. Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon characterized by very high rural population densities is therefore more sensitive to climate variability and change.

Thirdly, it has been hypothesized that the rate of irrigation equally influences sensitivity to climate variability and change (IPCC, 2007). This is because proper irrigation systems can help a great deal in times of extreme weather events like prolong dry spells or droughts. In Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon, less than 1% of the smallholder farming population undertakes irrigation, as an overwhelming majority practice a rain-fed system of agriculture. This therefore renders smallholder farming systems (agroforestry and non-agroforestry systems) in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon for Cameroon more sensitive to climate variability and change.

Last but not the least the practice of sustainable and climate-smart farming systems like agroforestry also influences sensitivity (FAO, 2016). This is because agroforestry practices permit diversification in the farming system thereby limiting sensitivity to climate variability and change. In Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon, the increasing drive towards monoculture systems in order to have better crop yields makes smallholder farming systems (agroforestry and non-agroforestry systems) in the region highly sensitive to the vagaries of climate variability and change.

With respect to adaptive capacity, emphasis was laid on four livelihood assets; social capital, human capital, financial capital, and physical capital:

To start with, social capital consists of farm organizations (the number of farmers in organized agriculture). It is hypothesized that social capital positively influences adaptive capacity (resilience) to climate variability and change (IPCC, 2001; Awazi, 2016; Fongnzossie *et al.*, 2018; Quandt, 2018; Quandt, 2019; Awazi *et al.*, 2019). This is because smallholder farmers who belong to farm organizations are more aware of environmental changes and new agricultural technologies owing to information sharing during meetings which helps to beef-up resilience. However in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon, there are relatively few smallholder farmers' organizations which go to limit the adaptive capacity of smallholder farming systems (agroforestry and non-agroforestry systems) in the face of climate variability and change.

Secondly, human capital embodies literacy rate and rate of prevalence of HIV/AIDS and other diseases. On the whole, increased literacy enhance adaptive capacity because it increases farmers' capabilities and access to information, thereby improving their ability to cope with adversities, meanwhile higher rates of prevalence of HIV/AIDS and other diseases reduce adaptive capacity because it renders smallholder farmers unhealthy and unable to farm (Gbetibouo and Ringler, 2009; Awazi, 2016). High rates of illiteracy coupled with relatively high rates of prevalence of HIV/AIDS and other diseases amongst smallholder farmers reduce adaptive capacity of smallholder farming systems (agroforestry and non-agroforestry systems) in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon faced with climate variability and change.

In addition, financial capital which consists of farm income, farm holding size, farm assets and access to credit seriously influences adaptive capacity. It is hypothesized that higher farm income, larger farms, greater farm value assets, and more access to credit contribute to a better adaptive capacity in the face of climate variability and change (Turner *et al.*, 2003; IPCC, 2007; Quandt, 2018). This is because these assets permit the farmers to acquire better agricultural technologies and inputs which go a long way to aid the farmers' adaptation drive in the face of climate variability and change. In Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon, farm income is low, farm sizes are small, farm value assets are few, and there is limited access to credit facilities which limit adaptive capacity of smallholder farming systems (agroforestry and non-agroforestry systems) in the face of climate variability and change.

Last but not the least; physical capital embodies infrastructure and access to markets. It is hypothesized that good infrastructural facilities help to beef-up famers' adaptive capacity to climate variability and change (Deressa *et al.*, 2009; Fongnzossie *et al.*, 2018; Awazi and Tchamba, 2018; Quandt, 2018; Awazi *et al.*, 2019). This is because, improved infrastructure reduce transactions costs, and strengthen the links between labour and product markets. Markets on their part are a means of linking people both spatially and over time. Better and easily accessible markets therefore enhance smallholder farmers' adaptive capacity in the face of climate variability and change (Gbetibouo and Ringler, 2009). However, Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon is characterized by few infrastructural facilities and limited properly functional markets (especially in smallholder farming communities)

which go to limit the adaptive capacity of smallholder farming systems (agroforestry and non-agroforestry systems).

#### 2.9.2.2. Resilience framework

The concept of resilience is very important in the context of studies pertaining to climate variability and change. It is a concept which examines the coping capacity of individuals, households, communities and even countries in the face of climate variability and change. Resilience focuses on a desired pathway of development, often assessed in terms of GDP per capita, yield, household income, or agricultural production (Gordon, 2009). In the context of this study, this pathway of development represents smallholder farming systems in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon. These smallholder farming systems are often subject to climate-related stresses or shocks. A stress is a more predictable and less abrupt event such as rising maximum or minimum temperatures or the effects of a continuously drier climate. A shock on the other hand is an abrupt and less predictable event such as a drought or storm (Figure 2.2).



**Figure 2.2:** Patterns of resilience to climate variability and change in smallholder farming systems (agroforestry and non-agroforestry systems) in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon: (a) to stress (b) to shock.

Source: Adapted from Gordon (2009)

Figure 2.2 (a) and (b) show the trends that occur is a smallholder farming system when faced with a climate-related stress or shock. Climate related stresses or shocks are regular occurrences in smallholder farming systems in the North-West Region of Cameroon. In some

circumstances, smallholder farming systems withstand these stresses or shocks. However, in other situations, smallholder farming systems are adversely affected, recovering either rapidly or slowly. At other times, the stresses or shocks become too much that recovery becomes impossible and the system collapses. This occurs for example when a major fire ravages a smallholder farm or a storm pulls down a large number of cash crops (banana, rubber, oil palms) in a smallholder farm. It must however be said that there are usually appropriate countermeasures for each stress or shock.

One of such countermeasures which constitute the main thrust of this study is agroforestry. Agroforestry is an agro-ecological, environmentally benign and climate-smart practice. In this study, it was hypothesized that smallholder farmers practicing agroforestry are more resilient to climate variability and change, than their counterparts involved in non-agroforestry practices. This has been attributed to the many ecosystems services provided by agroforestry systems when compared to non-agroforestry systems. Studies such as those conducted by Syampungani *et al.* (2010), Bishaw *et al.* (2013), Mbow *et al.* (2014), and Awazi and Tchamba (2019) have demonstrated that agroforestry systems through the ecosystem services they provide, can play a major role in aiding climate change adaptation and mitigation efforts especially among smallholder farmers. It must however be said that these studies did not assess the contribution of agroforestry practices towards the enhancement of smallholder farmers' resilience faced with climate variability and change, which was the knowledge gap this study sought to fill.

#### **CHAPTER THREE**

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

# 3.1. Description of the study site

The study was carried out in the North-West Region of Cameroon – specifically in Mezam division (**Figure 3.1**). Mezam Division is one of the seven divisions found in the North-West Region of Cameroon. It is located between longitude  $10^{\circ}08'$  to  $10^{\circ}12'$  E and latitude  $5^{\circ}55'$  to  $6^{\circ}00'$  N. It covers a surface area of 1745 km<sup>2</sup>.



Figure 3.1: Map of the study area

The division is host to the capital of the North-West Region – Bamenda. Bamenda is a major road junction town characterized by a gentle sloping Up Station area separated from an undulating to flat Down Town area by an escarpment which is about 7 km long.

The climate is the humid tropical highland type characterized by two seasons -a rainy season and a dry season. The vegetation is mostly made up of savannah grassland interspersed with short stunted trees. The soils are ferralitic, vertisols and andosols, which are easily eroded and cannot support dense vegetation and intense agricultural activities. The main river that drains the division is River Mezam. Although the division has an urban section – especially the metropolitan city of Bamenda, most of the farming population lives in rural areas. These rural farmers practice mostly crop based farming, pure pastoralism and mixed crop livestock farming. Almost all the farmers are smallholders who practice subsistence agriculture, although surplus is usually sold to raise money for some basic necessities. Farming is highly dependent on rainfall with very few farmers practicing irrigation. The major crops grown here include food, cash and market gardening crops. The main food crops are maize (Zea mays), groundnuts (Arachis hypogaea), okra (Abelmoschus esculentus), beans (Phaseolus vulgaris), cocoyams (Colocasia spp), Irish potatoes (Solanum tuberosum), sweet potatoes (Ipomoea batatas), yams (Dioscorea spp), plantains (Musa x paradisiacal) and cassava (Manihot esculenta). The main cash crops are coffee (Coffea arabica), oil palms (Elaies guineensis), and banana (Musa spp). Market gardening crops include tomatoes (Solanum lycopersicum), cabbages (Brassica oleracea var. capitata), carrots (Daucus carota subsp. Sativus), lettuce (Lactuca sativa), garden huckleberry or African nightshade (Solanum scabrum), watermelon (Citrullus lanatus), and different varieties of condiments. Major fruits widely grown include avocado (Persea americana), guava (Psidium guajava), oranges (Citrus sinensis), grapes (Citrus paradise), plums (Dacryodes edulis), papaya (Carica papaya), and mangoes (Mangifera indica).

Mezam division has a population of about 465644 inhabitants, with a population density of 267 inhabitants per square kilometre (2001 statistics of the National Census Bureau).

# 3.2. Sampling procedure

A multiple-phase sampling procedure was followed in the study, as used by other scientific works (Hadgu *et al.*, 2015; Kabir *et al.*, 2015; Atinkut and Mebrat, 2016; Awazi, 2016; Awazi and Tchamba, 2018; Awazi *et al.*, 2019).

At the first phase, the study area (Mezam division) was selected purposively owing to the high levels of vulnerability of its smallholder farmers to extreme weather events as reported by agricultural, environmental and livestock officials in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon as well as other scientific research studies (Gur et al., 2015 and Innocent et al., 2016) carried out in the division. According to the reports of these officials as well as other scientific research studies farmers who depend almost exclusively on rainfall for agriculture as well as endemic poverty among farmers in the area makes the area a hot bed for high levels of vulnerability to extreme weather events.

At the second phase, the seven (07) sub-divisions (Bafut, Bali, Bamenda I, Bamenda II, Bamenda II, Santa and Tubah) (Table 3.1) found in Mezam division were grouped into four strata based on their geographical location with respect to the road junction town of Bamenda. These four strata were: the Northern flank (Bafut and Bamenda II sub-divisions), the Southern flank (Bamenda I and Santa sub-divisions), the Western flank (Bali and Bamenda II sub-divisions), and the Eastern flank (Bamenda III and Tubah sub-divisions). From these four strata, five sub-divisions were selected with the aid of agricultural extension officials. The five sub-divisions selected were Bamenda I, Bamenda II, Bamenda III, Tubah and Santa (Table 3.1). From these five sub-divisions, ten villages were selected still with the aid of agricultural extension officials. It is worth mentioning that at least one village was selected from each of these strata as follows: Bamenda II sub-division (Mendakwe village); Bamenda II sub-division (Bambui, Bambili and Kedjom Keku villages); and Santa sub-division (Awing, Akum, Njong and Mbei villages). It is important to note that, many more villages were selected from Tubah and Santa sub-divisions owing to their essentially rural milieu which suited the study perfectly.

The third phase involved focus group discussions with smallholder farmers; and key informant interviews (KIIs) with village leaders, chiefs of agricultural posts, divisional and subdivisional delegates in the Ministries of Agriculture and Rural Development; Environment, Protection of Nature and Sustainable Development; Livestock, Fisheries and Animal Husbandry (appendix 1, appendix 6 and appendix 8). Focus group discussions (FGDs) and key informant interviews (KIIs) were conducted in order to obtain vital information about the situation on the ground and to identify potential smallholder farmers to be sampled during the household surveys. At the fourth phase, stratified random sampling of smallholder farmers was undertaken in the selected villages. Smallholder farmers were stratified into two groups: agroforestry practitioners and non-agroforestry practitioners. Random sampling was then conducted in both strata (agroforestry practitioners and non-agroforestry practitioners). In this light, forty (40) smallholder farmer household heads were randomly sampled in the selected villages of Mankon, Nkwen, Bambui, Bambili, and Akum; while 30 smallholder farmer household heads were sampled in the villages of Kedjom Keku, Mendakwe, Mbei-Santa, Njong-Santa and Awing. Thus, a total of 350 smallholder farmer household heads were sampled in the 10 selected villages (Table 3.2). Equally, the agroforestry and non-agroforestry farm plots of smallholder farmers in the different villages were surveyed during which the different crop, livestock and tree species found in them were identified. A total of 200 agroforestry farm plots and 70 non-agroforestry farm plots of smallholder farmers were surveyed in the ten villages (Table 3.3).

Sub-division	Total population	Active population	Farming population	Number of farming families	Number of household heads sampled
Bamenda I	39501	22911	13746	2291	30
Bamenda II	265674	154091	66685	11114	40
Bamenda III	153570	89071	41820	6970	40
Tubah	67613	39216	30156	4553	110
Santa	68707	39850	32354	5392	130
Bali	38151	22128	16364	2727	-
Bafut	87567	50787	37817	6303	-
Total	720780	418052	238942	39351	350

**Table 3.1:** Farming population and number of smallholder farmers sampled in selected subdivisions in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon

**Source:** 2018 Annual Report of the Divisional Delegation of Agriculture and Rural Development for Mezam Division, North-West Region of Cameroon.

Village	Number of respondents sampled
Mankon	40
Nkwen	40
Bambui	40
Bambili	40
Kedjom Keku	30
Mendakwe	30
Mbei-Santa	30
Akum	40
Njong-Santa	30
Awing	30
Total	350

**Table 3.2:** Number of household heads sampled in the selected villages in Mezam Division,

 North-West Region of Cameroon

# 3.3. Vulnerability and resilience assessment procedure

The vulnerability and resilience framework proposed by the Inter-governmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) was adapted for this study. Following this framework, vulnerability to climate variability and change is a function of three main indicators: exposure, sensitivity and adaptive capacity (resilience).

The indicators of exposure of smallholder farming systems (agroforestry and nonagroforestry systems) to climate variability and change were variations and changes in climate parameters (temperature and rainfall) and the recurrence of extreme weather events. It was hypothesized that the greater the variations and changes in climate parameters, and the more frequently extreme weather events occur, the greater the exposure of smallholder farming systems (agroforestry and non-agroforestry systems) to climate variability and change.

The indicators of sensitivity to climate variability and change were the type of smallholder farming system practiced (agroforestry or non-agroforestry system). The main agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers in the face of climate variability and change were home gardens, home gardens with livestock, trees on croplands, trees on grazing lands, improved fallows, and coffee-based agroforestry. Meanwhile, the main non-agroforestry systems of smallholder farmers were monocultures of food and market gardening crops like maize, groundnuts, yams, cocoyams, cassava, sweet potatoes, Irish potatoes, cabbages, carrots,

tomatoes, condiments; and monocultures of cash crops like coffee and oil palms. It was hypothesized that smallholder farmers practicing agroforestry were less sensitive to climate variability and change than their counterparts who were into the non-agroforestry options.

The indicators of adaptive capacity (resilience) were social capital (gender of household head, age of household head, and household size); human capital (educational level, membership in farming groups); financial capital (household income, number of farms, access to land, access to credit); and physical capital (weather stations providing climate-related information, institutions providing extension services, markets, farm-to-market roads). It was hypothesized that as social, financial, human and physical capital increases, resilience increases. Meanwhile as social, financial, human and physical capital decreases, resilience equally decreases.

Thus, for vulnerability to reduce in the face of climate variability and change, smallholder farming systems (agroforestry and non-agroforestry systems) need to experience less exposure, have less sensitivity, and have more adaptive capacity or resilience.

# **3.4. Data collection procedure**

Both secondary and primary data was collected for the study (Figure 3.3).

# 3.4.1. Secondary data collection

Secondary data mainly on past temperature and rainfall (appendix 2, appendix 3 and appendix 4) was collected from the Regional Service of Meteorology for the North-West Region (Bamenda-Station). Equally, several research papers and articles, book chapters and books related to the subject matter of the study were sourced both online and offline during the review of literature. Related studies undertaken in the North-West Region of Cameroon have used a similar data collection approach (Kimengsi et al., 2016; Azibo et al., 2016; Awazi et al., 2019).

#### 3.4.2. Primary data collection

Qualitative and quantitative methods were employed during primary data collection in the study sites as used by other related studies conducted in the North-West Region of Cameroon (Awazi, 2016; Awazi and Tchamba, 2018; Awazi et al., 2019). Household surveys, field surveys (inventories), focus group discussions (FGDs), key informant interviews (KIIs), and

direct field observations (DFOs) were the main methods used to collect primary data. Thus, both biophysical and socio-economic primary data was collected for the study.

A large part of the primary data was collected via household surveys, using semi-structured questionnaires, with smallholder farmer household heads constituting the main sampling unit. Focus group discussions with smallholder farmers and key informant interviews (KIIs) with purposely selected resource persons in the study area provided general information to complement the data obtained through household surveys. A semi-structured interview guide approach was employed during focus group discussions and key informant interviews (KIIs) in order to capture some salient information that could be quantified and used in the study. Household surveys, focus group discussions and key informant interviews provided vital socio-economic data needed for the study.

Field inventories were also undertaken using data collection sheets for inventory of trees, crops and livestock, with agroforestry and non-agroforestry plots constituting the main sampling units. Field inventories of agroforestry and non-agroforestry plots, as well as direct field observations were undertaken in the study sites in order to ascertain the truthfulness of the information gotten from household surveys, focus group discussions and key informant interviews (KIIs). Field surveys (inventories of agroforestry and non-agroforestry plots) provided vital biophysical primary data necessary for the study.

# 3.4.2.1. Sample frame, study population and sample size

For this study, the sample frame consisted of ten villages in Mezam Division, North-West Region of Cameroon: Mankon (Latitude 6°00'N; Longitude 10°06'E; Altitude 1200 metres above sea level - masl), Nkwen (Lat. 5°98'N; Long. 10°21'E; Alt. 1350masl), Bambui (Lat. 6°02'N; Long.10°21'E; Alt. 1250masl), Bambili (Lat. 6°01'N; Long. 10°27'E; Alt. 1500masl), Kedjom Keku (Lat. 5°97'N; Long. 10°31'E; Alt. 1350 masl), Mendakwe (Lat. 5°92'N; Long. 10°20'E; Alt. 1900 masl), Mbei-Santa (Lat. 5°78'N; Long. 10°14'E; Alt. 1700 masl), Akum (Lat. 5°88'N; Long. 10°16'E; Alt. 1900 masl), Njong-Santa (Lat. 5°79'N; Long. 10°17'E; Alt. 1700 masl), and Awing (Lat. 5°83'N; Long. 10°25'E, Alt. 1650 masl). With the help of agricultural extension officials, these villages were selected taking into account the socio-economic, agro-ecological and environmental attributes of the study area. A household survey was then undertaken in the selected sites using semi-structured questionnaires. Smallholder farmer household heads living in the selected villages constituted the study

population. The study population was sampled in such a way as to ensure an adequate sample size ( $\geq 30$ ) for each of the selected villages. According to Bhandari (2009), a general rule of simple and stratified random sampling is that a minimum of 30 persons should be surveyed in a given study site in order to capture some vital information that can be used for analysis. It was in this light that a minimum of 30 smallholder farmer household heads was sampled in each of the selected villages.

#### 3.4.2.2. Questionnaire design for household survey

The study made use of the semi-structured questionnaire approach in order to capture both qualitative and quantitative information from smallholder farmers, as used by other related studies (Tabi et al., 2012; Awazi and Tchamba, 2018; Awazi et al., 2019). Both open ended and close ended questions were incorporated in order to acquire sufficient information from the respondents (smallholder farmer household heads). The questions were designed to provide answers to each of the specific objectives of the study (appendix 5). The questionnaire was sub-divided into five sections. The first section looked at the demographic and socio-economic attributes of the respondents. These attributes included gender, age, education, marital status, household size, annual family income, and number of farms. The second section laid emphasis on the perceptions of smallholder farmers pertaining to climate variability and change as well as their vulnerability to climate variability and change. The third section focused on the different agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers in the face of climate variability and change. The fourth section focused on the role of these agroforestry practices in reducing smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change. The fifth and last section looked at the contributions of agroforestry practices to smallholder farmers' resilience in the face of climate variability and change. Thus, the questions for the last four sections (sections 2, 3 4 and 5) were tailored to attain the four specific objectives of the study (appendix 5).

In order to ensure that the questions posed on the questionnaire were good enough, the questionnaire was tested with non-respondents outside the sample frame (study area) – in Mbengwi sub-division, North-West Region of Cameroon. The reason for the pretesting was to gauge smallholder farmers' comprehension and response to each of the questions posed. The responses from the pretesting helped the principal investigator and his team to refine and restructure the final questionnaire to make it more comprehensible to smallholder farmers' in

the selected villages. It is worth mentioning that, during household surveys, the questions were translated into "Pidgin" to ease comprehension and response by the respondents.

Household surveys were conducted during the months of December 2018 and January 2019 in the ten selected villages. The survey was conducted by the principal investigator and some team members, with some assistance from the chiefs of agricultural posts found in each of the ten selected villages. Mainly the face-to-face interview approach was employed during the administering of questionnaires in all the ten selected villages (appendix 9). The household surveys were conducted in the months of December and January because it was the dry season, which facilitated movements to the different study sites; and considering that it was the off-season for farming, which meant that most farmers were at home, thus facilitating the household survey proper.

# **3.4.2.3.** Inventory of crop, livestock and tree species on smallholder farmers' agroforestry and non-agroforestry plots

In order to identify the different crop, livestock and tree species integrated in smallholder farmers' agroforestry and non-agroforestry plots, inventories were conducted in May and June 2018. These inventories were conducted by the principal investigator with the help of some team members (including a botanist from the National Forests Agency – ANAFOR, and an expert from the divisional delegation of livestock, fisheries and animal husbandry). The inventories were conducted in order to acquire vital biophysical data needed for the study. Field inventories were undertaken in the months of May and June because it was the rainy season, which was the peak period of growth for most crops, and trees/shrubs. Thus, it was relatively easier to identify the different crops and trees/shrubs on smallholder farmers' agroforestry and non-agroforestry farm plots at this time.

Agroforestry practices	Number of plots surveyed (n)	Number of plots surveyed (%)
Home garden with livestock	35	17.5
Home garden	30	15
Trees on croplands	30	15
Live fences/hedges	30	15
Taungya	20	10
Trees on grazing lands	15	7.5
Improved fallows	10	5
Coffee-based agroforestry	25	12.5
Others (entomoforestry,	5	2.5
aquaforestry)		
Total	200	100

 Table 3.3: Agroforestry plots of smallholder farmers surveyed

Two hundred (200) smallholder farmers' agroforestry plots (appendix 7 and appendix 10) and seventy (70) smallholder farmers' non-agroforestry plots (appendix 11) were surveyed in the 10 villages under study (Tables 3.3 and 3.4). The geographical coordinates (latitude, longitude and altitude) of each surveyed plot were taken using Garmin GPS 60, and used to establish a map showing the distribution of the different plots (Figure 3.2).

Speculations	Number of plots surveyed	Number of plots surveyed
	( <b>n</b> )	(%)
Market gardening crops only	20	28.57
Cash crops only	20	28.57
Food crops only	25	35.71
Livestock only	5	7.14
Total	70	100

 Table 3.4: Non-agroforestry (monoculture) plots of smallholder farmers surveyed

In smallholder farmers' agroforestry plots, inventories were conducted to identify crops, livestock and trees in the different agroforestry systems/practices of smallholder farmers which included home gardens with livestock, home gardens, trees on croplands, trees on grazing lands, live fences/hedges, Taungya, coffee-based agroforestry, improved fallows, windbreaks, entomoforestry, and aquaforestry.

Meanwhile in smallholder farmers' non-agroforestry plots, inventories were conducted to identify crops and livestock within the different speculations including market gardening crops, cash crops, food crops and livestock.

Since most (over 95%) of the smallholder farmers' agroforestry and non-agroforestry plots were less than half a hectare (0.5 hectare), the inventory was conducted directly without any measurements of the plots. The plant species were identified with the help of a botanist from ANAFOR – northwest regional service, while the livestock species were identified with the help of an expert from the divisional delegation of livestock, fisheries and animal husbandry for Mezam Division, North-West Region of Cameroon.



Figure 3.2: Map showing distribution of agroforestry and non-agroforestry plots surveyed

# 3.4.2.4. Key informant interviews

Different studies have used key informant interviews (KIIs) to collect qualitative data from various studied populations (Bhandari, 2009; Awazi, 2016; Awazi and Tchamba, 2018; Awazi *et al.*, 2019). This study followed the same path by using key informant interviews

(KIIs) to collect primary data in the study area (appendix 1 and appendix 6). Thirty key informants were selected for the study in five of the seven districts that made up the study area. The key informant interviews (KIIs) focused on aspects like perception of climate variability and change, indicators of climate variability and change, effects of climate variability and change, vulnerability and resilience to climate variability and change, agroforestry practices and systems, products and services of agroforestry practices and systems, contribution of agroforestry practices/systems to the attenuation of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change; and role of agroforestry practices/systems to the enhancement of smallholder farmers' resilience in the face of climate variability and change. The interview was coordinated by the principal investigator using a checklist or interview guide (appendix 6).

Mainly resource persons were interviewed: delegates and sub-delegates in the divisional and sub-divisional delegations of agriculture and rural development; livestock, fisheries and animal husbandry; forestry and wildlife; environment, protection of nature and sustainable development; chiefs of agricultural posts in the study sites, traditional leaders (chiefs or Fons, Sarkis and Ardos); and heads of farmers' groups (appendix 1).

#### 3.4.2.5. Focus group discussion

Focus group discussion (FGD) is an exploratory research tool used extensively by researchers to generate qualitative data and triangulate findings. It is a qualitative study method that requires a small homogeneous group of experienced people to discuss a study topic. In this study, focus group discussion was used to get information from smallholder farmers in the study sites pertaining to extreme weather events, causes of vulnerability, agroforestry practices and systems, and role of agroforestry systems to vulnerability attenuation and resilience enhancement in the face of climate variability and change. The discussion was led by the principal investigator with the help of a drafted interview guide or checklist (appendix 8). Mostly experienced persons of both genders were invited to participate in the focus group discussions. The participants provided necessary information based on their recall of past and present experiences on the subject matter of the study. Five focus group discussions were conducted in the five selected sub-divisions in Mezam division, North-West Region of Cameroon.



Source: Awazi (2019)

# **3.4.2.6.** Assessing drivers of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change

Different studies have assessed the drivers of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change in Cameroon, Africa and the World, using different methodological approaches. For this study, both farmers' perceptions obtained through household surveys and climate data obtained from weather stations in the North-West Region of Cameroon were indispensable. Pertaining to smallholder farmers' perceptions; during household surveys, household heads were asked to state what they perceived as the causes or sources of their vulnerability in the face of climate variability and change. All the respondents generally cited more than one cause or source of their vulnerability in the face of climate variability and change.

Smallholder farmers' perceptions of variations in climate parameters in particular were taken into consideration. Smallholder farmer household heads were asked to rate the variations they have experienced in climate elements like rainfall, temperature, sunshine and storms, in recent years. Rainfall patterns were rated in terms of total amount of rainfall and rainfall consistency (late or early onset of rain, late or early cessation of rain). Smallholder farmers rated total amount of rainfall on the five point likert scale of: increased a lot, increased, stayed the same, decreased, and decreased a lot. Meanwhile rainfall consistency was rated on the five point likert scale of: much more variable, variable, stayed the same, less variable, and much less variable. Temperature on its part was rated on the five point likert scale of: much hotter, hotter, stayed the same, cooler, and much cooler. Sunshine and storms (winds) were rated on the five point likert scale of: increased a lot, increased, stayed the same, decreased, and decreased a lot. To reconcile farmers' perceptions of variations in climate parameters with actual climate data, data was collected from weather stations in the North-West Region of Cameroon. Other related research studies undertaken across Cameroon, Africa and the tropics have used a similar data collection approach (Tabi *et al.*, 2012; Harvey *et al.*, 2014; Rurinda, 2014; Kirui *et al.*, 2015; Atinkut and Mebrat, 2016 ; Awazi, 2016; Awazi *et al.*, 2019).

Smallholder farmers' perceptions as well as climate data collected from weather stations in the North-West Region of Cameroon were then coded and imputed into SPSS version 20.0 for descriptive and inferential statistical analysis.

# **3.4.2.7.** Characterizing smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices in the face of climate variability and change

There exists scholarship (although few) which have used different data collection methods to characterize smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices in the face of climate variability and change. For this study, household and field surveys were conducted. During the household surveys, smallholder farmer household heads practicing agroforestry were asked to identify the different agroforestry practices they practiced in the face of climate variability and change. Smallholder farmer household heads who practiced agroforestry in the face of climate variability and change usually took to a combination of agroforestry practices simultaneously. The different agroforestry practices cited by smallholder farmer household heads were then classified under three main agroforestry systems: agrosilvicultural, silvopastoral and agrosilvopastoral agroforestry systems. Information gotten from household surveys was complemented with that gotten from field inventories of smallholder farmers' agroforestry plots. Both the agroforestry practices identified by smallholder farmer household heads and the classified agroforestry practices (agroforestry systems) were then coded and imputed into SPSS version 20.0 for descriptive and inferential statistical analysis. Little or no research has been done that applies this data collection procedure to characterize smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices faced with climate variability and change. Most studies

conducted across Africa have applied other data collection approaches which are mostly qualitative or based on a review of previous literature (Bishaw *et al.*, 2013; Atangana *et al.*, 2013; Negawo and Beyene, 2017).

# **3.4.2.8.** Examining the contribution of agroforestry practices to vulnerability reduction and resilience enhancement to climate variability and change in smallholder farming systems

Different data collection methods have been used by various studies to examine the contribution of agroforestry practices to vulnerability reduction and resilience enhancement to climate variability and change in smallholder farming systems. For this study, household surveys were conducted during which smallholder farmers' perceptions were obtained. During the household surveys, smallholder farmers practicing agroforestry were asked if they felt vulnerable or not; and resilient or not to climate variability and change. Smallholder agroforestry practitioners were equally asked to cite the different products and services they derived from the practice of agroforestry and how these products and services affected their vulnerability and resilience to climate variability and change. Data collected through household surveys was complemented with information gotten from field inventories, key informants, focus group discussions and direct field observations. The responses of smallholder farmers were then coded and imputed into SPSS version 20.0 for descriptive and inferential statistical analysis. Few or no studies have applied the data collection method explained here, to assess the contribution of agroforestry to the reduction of vulnerability and the enhancement of resilience faced with climate variability and change. Most studies have been based entirely on a qualitative or review of literature approach (Negawo and Beyene, 2017; Mkonda and He, 2017).

#### **3.5. Data analysis procedure**

Statistical analysis of the quantitative data obtained from household and field surveys was run on the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) version 20.0, Microsoft Excel 2007, and STATA 13.0. Both descriptive and inferential statistics were used in the study. Smallholder farmers' perceptions of climate variability and change; causes or sources of vulnerability to climate variability and change; as well as agroforestry practices were presented using descriptive statistics (percentages indices and charts). The study equally made use of different inferential statistics (t-test, chi-square, correlation, Kruskall Wallis (H) test, binary logistic regression and multinomial logistic regression models) to assess the causal and non-causal relationship between the hypothesized dependent and independent variables of the study.

The independent samples t-test (Equation 3.1) and chi-square test (Equation 3.2) were used to determine if there was a significant non-causal relationship between smallholder farmers' vulnerability and resilience to climate variability and change, and the hypothesized continuous and discontinuous explanatory variables of the study respectively.

$$\mathbf{t\text{-test}} = \frac{\bar{Y} - \bar{X}}{\operatorname{Sp}\sqrt{\frac{(m+n)}{mn}}} \quad \text{where } S_{p} = \sqrt{\frac{\sum(X - \bar{X})^{2} + \sum(Y - \bar{Y})^{2}}{m+n-2}} \qquad \text{Equation 3.1}$$

Where:

 $\overline{Y}$ : is the mean of variable Y;

 $\overline{X}$ : is the mean of variable X;

m: is the sample size of variable X;

n: is the sample size of variable Y;

S<sub>p</sub>: is the pooled estimate of the common standard deviation of both variable X and Y

In the case of a 2x2 contingency table which is what has been used in this study, the formula used by SPSS to compute Chi-square ( $X^2$ ) is as follows:

$$X^{2} = \frac{(\mathbf{a.d-b.c})^{2}.N}{(\mathbf{a+c}).(\mathbf{b+d}).(\mathbf{a+b}).(\mathbf{c+d})}$$
Equation 3.2

Where for example:

a: is frequency of agroforestry practitioners who are resilient/vulnerable to CVC.

b: is frequency of agroforestry practitioners who are not resilient/not vulnerable to CVC.

c: is frequency of non-agroforestry practitioners who are resilient/vulnerable to CVC.

d: is frequency of non-agroforestry practitioners who are not resilient/not vulnerable to CVC. N: is the total frequency of all observations.

As a rule of thumb, the normality of the continuous variables was tested using: histogram with normal curve, Probability Plot (PP) and Qauntile Quantile (QQ) diagrams, and most importantly the one sample Kolmogorov–Smirnov test, before choosing the suitable statistic for the analysis.

In the case of the independent samples t-test, a pre-test known as the Levene's test for the equality of variances was run before reading the t-test results. The hypothesis for the Levene's test goes thus:

#### H<sub>0</sub>: Equal variance assumed

### Ha: Equal variance not assumed

If the F-value of the Levene's pre-test is statistically significant, it means that Ha is accepted, implying that equal variance is not assumed. But if on the contrary the F-value of the Levene's pre-test is not statistically significant, it means  $H_0$  is accepted, implying that equal variance is assumed. Hence, the results of the independent samples t-test are read depending on whether equal variance is assumed or equal variance is not assumed.

The Spearman rank correlation (Spearman rho) (Equation 3.3) was run to determine the relationship between the practice of agroforestry and smallholder farmers' vulnerability and resilience to climate variability and change. The Spearman rho which is the non-parametric equivalent of the Pearson correlation coefficient is presented as follows:

Spearman rho = 
$$1 - \frac{6\Sigma(di)^2}{n(n^2-1)}$$
 Equation 3.3

Where:

n: is the numbers of pairs of values of variables X and Y;

di: is the difference obtained from subtracting the rank of Yi from the rank of Xi;

 $\Sigma(di)^2$ : is the sum of the squared values of di.

The Kruskal-Wallis test (H-test) (Equation 3.4) was run to test whether there was a significant variation in smallholder farmers' vulnerability and resilience across different locations (villages). The Kruskall Wallis (H) test statistic which is the non-parametric equivalent of the ANOVA test is presented as follows:

$$\mathbf{H} = \frac{12}{N(N+1)} \left[ \frac{R_1^2}{n_1} + \dots + \frac{R_k^2}{n_k} \right] - \mathbf{3}(N+1)$$
 Equation 3.4

Where:

N = Total number of cases;

n = Number of cases in a given sample;

 $R_i = Rank$  for a given sample.

This is one of the first studies undertaken across Cameroon, Africa and the tropics, to use the inferential statistics of t-test, chi-square, correlation, and the H-test to analyze the non-causal relationship that exists between smallholder farmers' vulnerability and resilience to climate variability and change, and different agroforestry practices/agroforestry systems. Most studies have adopted qualitative analysis approaches.

The binary logistic (BNL) regression model (Equation 3.5) on its part was used to examine the causal relationship between smallholder farmers' vulnerability and resilience to climate variability and change, and several hypothesized continuous and discontinuous explanatory variables (Table 3.5). The binary logistic regression model predicts the log odds of having made one decision or the other. This model therefore permits the analysis of decisions across two categories:

BNL = 
$$\ln\left(\frac{\hat{Y}}{1-\hat{Y}}\right) = \propto +\beta X$$
 Equation 3.5

Where

 $\hat{Y}$ : is the predicted probability of the event;

 $1 - \hat{Y}$ : is the predicted probability of the other decision;

X: is the independent or explanatory variable.

Before running the binary logistic regression model, the Box-Tidwell Test was used to test if the relationship between the continuous predictors and the logit (log odds) was linear. This assumption was tested by including in the model, interactions between the continuous predictors and their logs. The aforementioned assumption and the binary logistic (BNL) regression proper were done on SPSS version 20.0.

After an in-depth literature review, no study conducted across Cameroon, Africa and the tropics was found to have used the binary logistic regression model to analyze the causal relationship between smallholder farmers' vulnerability and resilience to climate variability and change; and most especially the contribution of agroforestry practices/systems towards reducing vulnerability and enhancing resilience to climate variability and change. Most studies that used the binary logistic (BNL) regression model focused mainly on the drivers of farmers' adaptation to climate variability and change (Di Falcao *et al.*, 2011; Awazi, 2016; Awazi and Tchamba, 2018).
The multinomial logistic (MNL) regression model (Equation 3.6) was equally used to determine the causal relationship between smallholder farmers' choice of agroforestry systems (multinomial dependent variable) with respect to various hypothesized continuous and discontinuous explanatory variables (Table 3.5). The dependent variable for the model had three main categories: agrosilvicultural system, silvopastoral system and the agrosilvopastoral system. The fourth category (no agroforestry) was the reference category. Following Greene (2003), Koch (2010) and Wooldridge (2013), the multinomial logistic (MNL) model permits the analysis of multiple choice problems. According to Deressa et al (2009), the multinomial logistic (MNL) regression model permits the analysis of decisions across more than two categories, enabling the determination of choice probabilities and is equally simple to compute. This model has response probabilities.

$$P(y=j/x) = \frac{\exp(x\beta_j)}{1+\sum_{k=1}^{j}\exp(x\beta_k)}, j = 1, \dots, J$$
 Equation 3.6

Where:

y: is a random variable (agroforestry systems) with the values (1,2,....J);

*j:* is a positive integer;

*x:* is a set of conditioning variables (socio-economic, institutional and environmental factors);

$$\beta j$$
: is K×1.

The running of the multinomial logistic (MNL) regression model proper was done on SPSS version 20.0. But before running the actual model estimate, the Hausman Specification test was run on STATA version 13 in order to check the validity of the Independence of Irrelevant Alternatives (IIA) assumption. The test result failed to reject the null hypothesis of the independence of the different agroforestry systems under consideration. This implies that the application of the multinomial logistic (MNL) specification was appropriate to model the determinants of smallholder farmers' choice of agroforestry systems faced with climate variability and change.

Following an in-depth review of literature, it was found that, this one of the first studies undertaken in Cameroon, Africa and the tropics that makes use of the multinomial logistic regression model to analyze the determinants of smallholder farmers' choice of agroforestry systems faced with climate variability and change. Most studies conducted across Cameroon, Africa and the tropics have rather used the multinomial logistic (MNL) regression model to analyze the determinants of smallholder farmers' adaptation choices or options faced with climate variability and change (Temesgen *et al.*, 2008; Tabi *et al.*, 2012; Temesgen *et al.*, 2014; Tesfay, 2014; Atinkut and Mebrat, 2016; Awazi, 2016; Awazi *et al.*, 2019).

### ✤ Variables for the study

This study had five main dependent variables (vulnerability, resilience, practice of agroforestry, agroforestry systems and villages) and twenty (20) independent variables (Tables 3.5, 3.6 and 3.7).

Dependent variables	Independent variables			
Vulnerability	Number of farms			
Resilience	Household size			
Practice of agroforestry	Age of household head			
Agroforestry systems	Annual income of household			
Villages	Educational level			
	Gender of household head			
	Practice of agroforestry			
	Vulnerability to CVC			
	Access to information			
	Access to credit facilities			
	Access to land			
	Access to extension services			
	Home garden with animals			
	Home garden			
	Trees on croplands			
	Live fences/hedges			
	Trees on grazing lands			
	Coffee-based agroforestry			
	Taungya			
	Improved fallows			

Table 3.5: Dependent and independent variables of the study

 Table 3.6: Description of dependent variables of the study

Dependent variables	Description
Vulnerability	Dummy, takes value of 1 if vulnerable and, 0 otherwise
Resilience	Dummy, takes value of 1 if resilient and, 0 otherwise
Practice of agroforestry	Dummy, takes value of 1 if agroforestry is practiced and, 0
	otherwise
Agroforestry systems	Dummy, takes value of 1 if agrosilvicultural, 2 if silvopastoral,
	and 3 if agrosilvopastoral

Independent variables	Description
Number of farms	Continuous
Household size	Continuous
Age of household head	Continuous
Household income	Continuous
Educational level	Dummy, takes value of 0 for no formal education, 1 for primary
	2 for secondary, 3 for high schools and 4 for tertiary
Gender of household head	Dummy, takes value of 1 if male and, 0 otherwise
Practice of agroforestry	Dummy, takes value of 1 if Yes and, 0 otherwise
Vulnerability to CVC	Dummy, takes value of 1 if Yes and, 0 otherwise
Access to information	Dummy, takes value of 1 if Yes and, 0 otherwise
Access to credit facilities	Dummy, takes value of 1 if Yes and, 0 otherwise
Access to land	Dummy, takes value of 1 if Yes and, 0 otherwise
Access to extension services	Dummy, takes value of 1 if Yes and, 0 otherwise
Home garden with livestock	Dummy, takes value of 1 if Yes and, 0 otherwise
Home garden	Dummy, takes value of 1 if Yes and, 0 otherwise
Trees on croplands	Dummy, takes value of 1 if Yes and, 0 otherwise
Live fences/hedges	Dummy, takes value of 1 if Yes and, 0 otherwise
Trees on grazing lands	Dummy, takes value of 1 if Yes and, 0 otherwise
Coffee-based agroforestry	Dummy, takes value of 1 if Yes and, 0 otherwise
Taungya	Dummy, takes value of 1 if Yes and, 0 otherwise
Improved fallows	Dummy, takes value of 1 if Yes and, 0 otherwise

**Table 3.7:** Description of independent variables of the study

From tables 3.5, 3.6 and 3.7 above, it is noticed that the dependent and independent variables of the study were mostly qualitative or discontinuous in nature. This explains why most of the statistical analysis was done using non-parametric tests and non-linear or discrete regression models like the binomial and multinomial logistic regression models.

### **3.6.** Survey limitations

The study was not without limitations. The limitations of the study were:

First and foremost, the study was carried out in the crisis hit North-West Region of Cameroon (specifically Mezam Division), which made it difficult to access all the sub-divisions found in the study area. Although the study was to be undertaken in all the seven (07) sub-divisions constituting Mezam division, the survey proper was carried out in just five (05) of the seven (07) sub-divisions owing to the inability to access two sub-divisions (Bafut and Bali) affected by recurrent skirmishes. It would have been better if the study was conducted at peace times, and in all of the seven sub-divisions that make up Mezam division.

Secondly, the study was conducted in Mezam division which is one of the most urban divisions in the North-West Region of Cameroon. It would have been better for the study to

be carried out in an area characterized by a predominantly rural population (with many smallholder farmers). It must be said that this study was initially scheduled to be undertaken in Boyo division, North-West Region of Cameroon (owing to its predominantly rural population and the existence of diverse agroforestry practices), but the violence and recurrent skirmishes in the division forced the study to be moved to Mezam division which was the only relatively peaceful division in the entire North-West Region of Cameroon at the time of the study.

Lastly, owing to financial and time constraints, the sample size was relatively small. Out of the about 39351 farming families in entire Mezam division, 350 smallholder farmer household heads were surveyed. And out of the many smallholder farmers' agroforestry and non-agroforestry plots, 200 agroforestry plots and 70 non-agroforestry plots were surveyed. Although sampling was done taking into consideration the socio-economic, agro-ecological and environmental characteristics of the study area, it must be admitted that the sample size was relatively small. It could have been better if a larger number of smallholder farmer household heads and smallholder farmers' agroforestry and non-agroforestry plots were surveyed.

However, it must be acknowledged that although these difficulties were a real strain on the study, they did not have a major impact on the survey itself or the data collected. Hence, the findings of this study are novel, valid and relevant, and paint a state of the art picture of the situation of smallholder farmers' vulnerability and resilience to climate variability and change, and the contributions of agroforestry practices towards the attenuation of vulnerability and the enhancement of resilience of smallholder farmers to climate variability and change.

#### **CHAPTER FOUR**

#### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

### 4.1. RESULTS

#### 4.1.1. Drivers of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change

#### 4.1.1.1. Variability and change in climate parameters

### 4.1.1.1.1. Temperature

Annual mean temperature has been varying tremendously across the years from 1961 to 2018. The annual mean temperature was most especially high between the years 1961-1965, 1986-1990, 1991-1995, 1996-2000, 2006-2010, 2011-2015 and 2016-2018 with annual mean temperatures of  $20.12^{\circ}$ C,  $19.74^{\circ}$ C,  $19.98^{\circ}$ C,  $19.77^{\circ}$ C,  $20.28^{\circ}$ C,  $20.43^{\circ}$ C and  $20.88^{\circ}$ C respectively (Figure 4.1).



Figure 4.1: Annual mean temperature variation 1961-2018

Meanwhile the lowest annual mean temperatures were recorded in the years 1966-1970, 1971-1975, 1976-1980, 1981-1985 and 2001-2005 with annual mean temperatures of 19.57°C, 19.65°C, 19.62°C, 18.71°C and 18.64°C respectively. The highest annual mean

temperature was 20.88°C, recorded between 2016-2018 while the lowest annual mean temperature was 18.64°C recorded between 2001-2005 (Figure 4.1). Thus, annual mean temperature has experienced significant variations in the North-West Region of Cameroon in the past five decades.

From temperature anomalies, it was found that from 1961-2018, many more years experienced an increase in temperature than a decrease. Temperature increases were most especially noticed in the years 1961-1965, 1986-1990, 1991-1995, 1996-2000, 2006-2010, 2011-2015 and 2016-2018 with positive temperature anomalies of 0.12°C, 0.12°C, 0.30°C, 0.60°C, 0.26°C, 0.60°C and 1.10°C respectively (Figure 4.2).



Figure 4.2: Annual temperature residuals 1961-2018

On the contrary, the years 1966-1970, 1971-1975, 1976-1980, 1981-1985 and 2001-2005 were characterized by negative temperature anomalies of -0.08°C, -0.22°C, -0.28°C, -1.38°C, and -1.34°C respectively. The highest positive temperature anomaly (1.10°C) was recorded in the years 2016-2018 while the highest negative temperature anomaly (-1.38°C) was recorded in the years 1981-1985 (Figure 4.2). Therefore, temperature extremes have been the norm in the North-West Region of Cameroon in the past five decades.

### 4.1.1.1.2. Rainfall

Annual average rainfall has equally varied enormously between the years 1961 to 2018 with many more years experiencing a lesser amount of rainfall. The years 1961-1965, 1966-1970,

1976-1980, 1981-1985, and 2006-2010 were characterized by high annual average rainfall of 215.49mm, 234.07mm, 204.68mm, 205.08mm, and 194.78mm respectively (Figure 4.3). Meanwhile annual average rainfall was low between the years 1971-1975, 1986-1990, 1991-1995, 1996-2000, 2001-2005, 2011-2015, and 2016-2018 with annual average rainfall amounts of 177.48mm, 185.82mm, 168.74mm, 187.24mm, 188.9mm, 184.11mm, and 150.81mm respectively. Therefore, annual average rainfall was highest between the years 1966-1970 with 234.07mm, and lowest between the years 2016-2018 with 150.81mm (Figure 4.3). Thus, annual average rainfall in the North-West Region of Cameroon has been fluctuating significantly in the past five decades.





From the computation of rainfall residuals, it was found that between the years 1961-2018, many more years had negative residuals than positive. The years characterized by positive rainfall residuals were 1961-1965, 1966-1970, 1976-1980, 1981-1985, and 2006-2010 with rainfall anomalies of 288.7mm, 511.6mm, 158.9mm, 163.5mm and 40.1mm respectively (Figure 4.4). While the years 1971-1975, 1986-1990, 1991-1995, 1996-2000, 2001-2005, 2011-2015 and 2016-2018 were characterized by negative rainfall anomalies of -167.4mm, -67.3mm, -272.3mm, -50.3mm, -30.4mm, -87.9mm, and -487.5mm respectively. The highest negative rainfall anomaly was recorded in the years 1966-1970 with 511.6mm while the highest negative rainfall anomaly was recorded in the years 2016-2018 with - 487.5mm. Thus, rainfall in the North-West Region of Cameroon has experienced significant variations and a drop in quantity in the past five decades.



Figure 4.4: Annual rainfall residuals 1961-2018

### 4.1.1.1.3. Rainy days

There have equally been significant variations in the annual average rainy days between 1961-2018. The years with the highest annual average rainy days were 1961-1966, 1966-1970, 1976-1980, 1981-1985, 1991-1995, 1996-2000, and 2001-2005 characterized by annual average rainy days of 16, 17.7, 16.92, 16.5, 16.08, 17 and 16.5 respectively (Figure 4.5).



Figure 4.5: Annual average rainy days variation 1961-2018



Figure 4.6: Annual rainy days residuals 1961-2018

Meanwhile the years with the least annual average rainy days were 1971-1975, 1986-1990, 2006-2010, 2011-2015 and 2016-2018 characterized by annual average rainy days of 15.92, 15.33, 15.83, 14.33 and 13.17 respectively. The highest annual average rainy days was 17.7 while the least annual average rainy days was 13.17 recorded in the years 1966-1970 and 2016-2018 respectively (Figure 4.5). Hence, the average number of rainy days per year have been varying enormously in the past five decades in the North-West Region of Cameroon.

As per the residuals of rainy days, it was found that most of the years experienced fewer rainy days. The years 1961-1965, 1971-1975, 1986-1990, 1991-1995, 2006-2010, 2011-2015 and 2016-2018 were most especially characterized by negative rainy days residuals of -2, -3, -10, -1, -4, -22 and -36 respectively. Whereas the years 1966-1970, 1976-1980, 1981-1985, 1996-2000 and 2001-2005 were characterized by positive rainy days residuals of 12, 9, 4, 10 and 4 respectively. Between 1961-2018, the highest positive rainy days residual was 12 days while highest negative rainy days residual was -36 days recorded in the years 1966-1970 and 2016-2018 respectively (Figure 4.6). Thus, the number of rainy days per year in the North-West Region of Cameroon has been varying significantly and becoming even fewer in the past five decades.

#### 4.1.1.2. Causal and non-causal relationship between climate parameters

The scatter plot for rainfall and temperature showed the existence of a negative correlation between rainfall and temperature. This implies that as rainfall increase, temperature might decrease (Figure 4.7), or as temperature increases, rainfall might decrease (Figure 4.7).



Figure 4.7: Relationship between rainfall and temperature 1961-2018

Meanwhile, the regression line indicated a negative causal relationship between rainfall and temperature (Figure 4.7). The R-square ( $R^2$ ) of the regression line was 0.18, implying that 18% of variations in rainfall could be provoked by variations in temperature, and vice versa. Thus, there exists an interdependent relationship between temperature and rainfall faced with climate variability and change in the North-West Region of Cameroon.

The scatter plot for rainy days and temperature equally showed the existence of a negative correlation between rainy days and temperature. This demonstrates that as rainy days increases, temperature might decrease (Figure 4.8), and as temperature increases, rainy days might decrease (Figure 4.8).

From the regression line, it was found that a negative causal relationship exists between rainy days and temperature (Figure 4.8). The  $R^2$  of the regression line was 0.312, which goes to show that 31.2% of the variations in rainy days could be caused by variations in temperature, and vice versa. Hence, faced with climate variability and change, rainy days and temperature have an interdependent relationship in the North-West Region of Cameroon.



Figure 4.8: Relationship between rainy days and temperature

The scatter plot for rainy days and rainfall showed a positive correlation between rainy days and rainfall. This indicates that as rainy days increases, rainfall might increase (Figure 4.9), and as rainfall increases, rainy days might increase (Figure 4.9).



Figure 4.9: Relationship between rainy days and rainfall 1961-2018

Looking at the regression line, it was noticed that a positive causal relationship exists between rainy days and rainfall (Figure 4.9). The  $R^2$  of the regression line being 0.478

implied that 47.8% of the variations in rainy days could be caused by variations in rainfall, and vice versa. Thus, rainfall and rainy days have a significant interdependent relationship, faced with climate variability and change in the North-West Region of Cameroon.

#### 4.1.1.3. Smallholder farmers' perceptions of variability in climate parameters

Smallholder farmers perceived variations in climate parameters (temperature, rainfall, sunshine) differently across the study area.

With regards to temperature (Figure 4.10), most smallholder farmers perceived that, in the past three decades, temperature has been higher than usual (62%). Meanwhile 28.9% of the smallholder farmers perceived that temperature was high. Only 6%, 2.57% and 1.14% of the smallholder farmers perceived that temperature had stayed the same, low and very low respectively (Figure 4.10). This goes to show that, according to smallholder farmers' perceptions, temperature has very high and/or high in the past three decades.



Figure 4.10: Smallholder farmers' perceptions of variations in temperature

Pertaining to sunshine (Figure 4.11), a majority of the smallholder farmers perceived that it has increased a lot in the past three decades (70.57%). Meanwhile 23.14% of the smallholder farmers perceived that it has increased. Just 3.71%, 2% and 0.58% of the smallholder farmers perceived that sunshine has stayed the same, decreased, and decreased a lot respectively (Figure 4.11). This demonstrates that a majority of smallholder farmers perceive an increase in the amount of sunshine in the past three decades.



Figure 4.11: Smallholder farmers' perceptions of variations in sunshine

As concerns the quantity of rainfall (Figure 4.12), most of the smallholder farmers perceived that it has decreased in recent years (71.71%). Whereas 21.14% of the smallholder farmers perceived that it has decreased a lot. Merely 4.86%, 1.43% and 0.86% of the smallholder farmers perceived that quantity of rainfall has stayed the same, increased and increased a lot respectively (Figure 4.12). Hence, most smallholder farmers perceive a decrease in the quantity of rainfall in the past three decades.



Figure 4.12: Smallholder farmers' perception of variations in quantity of rainfall

Pertaining to rainfall consistency (Figure 4.13), a majority of smallholder farmers perceived that rainfall has been much more variable in recent years (77.71%). While 14.86% of the

smallholder farmers perceived that rainfall has been more variable. Just 3.14%, 2.57%, and 1.71% of the smallholder farmers perceived that rainfall has stayed the same; become less variable and much less variable respectively (Figure 4.13). Thus, an overwhelming majority of smallholder farmers perceive that rainfall has become very inconsistent (much more variable or more variable) in the past three decades.



Figure 4.13: Smallholder farmers' perceptions of consistency in rainfall

Hence, smallholder farmers' perceived variations in climate parameters matches almost perfectly with variations found through the analysis of climate data for the study area, indicating a congruence between smallholder farmers' perceptions and analyzed climate data for the North-West Region of Cameroon.

### 4.1.1.4. Farmer perceived drivers of vulnerability to climate variability and change

As concerns smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change (CVC) (Figure 4.14), most smallholder farmers were almost unanimous that recurrent extreme weather events (99.25%) and poverty (95.9%) were the major drivers of vulnerability to climate variability and change.



Figure 4.14: Smallholder farmer perceived drivers of vulnerability to climate variability and change

Poor land tenure systems (76.9%), limited information (73.51%) and low prices of agricultural produce (64.55%) were equally identified by smallholder farmers as some of the main sources of their vulnerability to climate variability and change. Not leaving out few organized markets (54.1%), few farm-to-market roads (54.1%), limited agricultural extension services (45.9%), few off-farm jobs (37.69%) and others (21.27%) like soil infertility and hilly terrain. Over all, it is seen that the main drivers of smallholder farmers' vulnerability in the study area are recurrent extreme weather events, poverty, poor land tenure systems and limited information (Figure 4.14). Therefore, the drivers of smallholder farmers often perceive a combination of drivers triggering vulnerability to climate variability and change.

## 4.1.1.5. Degree of vulnerability to climate variability and change as perceived by smallholder farmers

Pertaining to the degree of vulnerability of smallholder farmers faced with climate variability and change (Figure 4.15), most smallholder farmers perceived that they were highly vulnerable (57.43%). Meanwhile 23.43% of the smallholder farmers perceived that they were not vulnerable to climate variability and change. 15.14% of the smallholder farmers

perceived that they were vulnerable to climate variability and change. Merely 3.14% and 0.86% of the smallholder farmers perceived that they were less vulnerable and much less vulnerable respectively to climate variability and change. Based on these perceptions, it is clear that most smallholder farmers feel that they are vulnerable to climate variability and change (Figure 4.15). Thus, most smallholder farmers in the North-West Region of Cameroon are highly vulnerable to climate variability and change.



Figure 4.15: Smallholder farmers' perceived degree of vulnerability to climate variability and change

## 4.1.1.6. Factors affecting smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change

## 4.1.1.6.1. Relationship between explanatory variables and smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change

An analysis of the relationship between smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and eleven explanatory variables revealed that there was an inverse relationship between vulnerability and all these explanatory variables (Table 4.1).

Explanatory variables like number of farms, household size, age of household head, household income, level of education of household head, access to information, access to credit facilities and access to land all had a strong inverse relationship with smallholder farmers' vulnerability. This implies that an increase in any of these explanatory variables

probably leads to a very drastic reduction in smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change.

Explanatory variable	Spearman correlation	Degree and type of
	coefficient	relationship
Number of farms	- 0.786***	Strong negative or inverse
Household size	- 0.630***	Strong negative or inverse
Age of household head	- 0.627***	Strong negative or inverse
Household income	- 0.702***	Strong negative or inverse
Level of education of HHH	- 0.816***	Strong negative or inverse
Gender of household head	- 0.472	Weak negative or inverse
Practice of agroforestry	- 0.282	Weak negative or inverse
Access to information	- 0.535***	Strong negative or inverse
Access to credit facilities	- 0.794***	Strong negative or inverse
Access to land	- 0.546***	Strong negative or inverse
Access to extension services	- 0.479	Weak negative or inverse

**Table 4.1:** Spearman rank correlation coefficient showing relationship between

 vulnerability and explanatory variables

\*\*\* Significant at 1% probability level

Although explanatory variables like gender of household head, practice of agroforestry and access to agricultural extension services had weak inverse relationships with smallholder farmers' vulnerability, it still goes to show that an increase in any of these explanatory variables probably leads to a reduction (although less drastic) in smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change. Hence, there exists a correlation (non-causal relationship) between smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change, which indicates that smallholder farmers' vulnerability faced with climate variability and change could be directly or indirectly linked to these independent/explanatory variables.

4.1.1.6.2. Non-causal relationship between smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change, and continuous and discontinuous explanatory variables

## **4.1.1.6.2.1.** Non-causal relationship between smallholder farmers' vulnerability and continuous explanatory variables

Results from the t-test statistic revealed that there was a significant non-causal relationship between smallholder farmers' vulnerability and four continuous explanatory variables (p<0.001) (Table 4.2).

		Levene's	test for the					
		equality	of variance		t-test for equality of means			
Variable	Assumption	$\mathbf{F}$	p-value	t	df	p-value	Mean diff.	
Number of	Equal variance	53.455	0.000***					
farms	assumed							
	Equal variance							
	not assumed			24.786	92.987	0.000***	5.507	
Household	Equal variance	34.832	0.000***					
size	assumed							
	Equal variance							
	not assumed			13.972	97.832	0.000***	3.195	
Age of	Equal variance	12.259	0.001***					
household	assumed							
head	Equal variance							
	not assumed			15.665	106.536	0.000***	9.917	
Annual	Equal variance	50.754	0.000***					
income of	assumed							
household	Equal variance							
	not assumed			17.847	94.135	0.000***	347902.26	

**Table 4.2:** Independent sample t-test statistic showing non-causal relationship between

 vulnerability and continuous explanatory variables

### \*\*\* Significant at 0.1% probability level

Continuous explanatory variables like number of farms (t = 24.786, p<0.001), household size (t = 13.972, p<0.001), age of household head (t = 15.665, p<0.001), and household income (t = 17.847, p<0.001), all had a significant non-causal relationship with smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change. This is vivid indication that number of farms owned, household size, age of household head, and household income play a plausibly significant role in influencing smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change.

## 4.1.1.6.2.2. Non-causal relationship between smallholder farmers' vulnerability and discontinuous explanatory variables

Chi-square test results showed that there was a statistically significant non-causal relationship between smallholder farmers' vulnerability and seven (07) discontinuous explanatory variables (p<0.001) (Table 4.3).

Discontinuous explanatory variables like level of education of household head ( $X^2 = 317.60$ , p<0.001), gender of household head ( $X^2 = 77.90$ , p<0.001), practice of agroforestry ( $X^2 = 27.74$ , p<0.001), access to information ( $X^2 = 100.18$ , p<0.001), access to credit ( $X^2 = 220.71$ , p<0.001), access to land ( $X^2 = 104.36$ , p<0.001) and access to agricultural extension services

 $(X^2 = 80.16, p < 0.001)$ , all had a statistically significant non-causal relationship with smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change.

Discontinuous		Frequ	ency (n)	Percent	Percentage (%)			
Variable	Description -	V.	N.V.	<b>V.</b>	N.V.	Chi- square	L.R.	p-level
Educational	No formal edu.	31	2	8.86	0.57			
Level of	Primary	237	4	67.71	11.43			
household head	Secondary	0	10	0	2.86	317.60	325.27	0.000***
	High school	0	35	0	10			
	Tertiary	0	31	0	8.86			
Gender of	Male	113	80	32.29	22.86			
household head	Female	155	2	44.29	0.57	77.90	97.77	0.000***
Practice	Yes	196	82	56	23.43			
Agroforestry	No	72	0	20.57	0	27.74	43.85	0.000***
Access to	Yes	10	39	2.86	11.14			
information	No	258	43	73.71	12.29	100.18	84.60	0.000***
Access to credit	Yes	6	63	1.71	18			
	No	262	19	74.86	5.43	220.71	201.26	0.000***
Access to land	Yes	16	45	4.57	12.86			
	No	252	37	72	10.57	104.36	89.72	0.000***
Access to	Yes	24	44	6.86	12.57			
extension	No	244	38	69.71	10.86	80.16	69.82	0.000***

**Table 4.3:** Chi-square test statistic showing non-causal relationship between vulnerability and discontinuous explanatory variables

\*\*\* Significant at 0.1% probability level; V. = vulnerable; N.V. = Not vulnerable; L.R. = Likelihood Ratio; info. = information; edu. = education

The chi-square test statistic clearly showed that level of education of household head, gender of household head, practice of agroforestry, access to information, access to credit, access to land and access to agricultural extension services plausibly affects smallholder farmers' vulnerability. Hence, the discontinuous explanatory variables educational level of household head, gender of household head, practice of agroforestry, access to information, access to credit, access to land, and access to agricultural extension services play a plausibly significant role in affecting smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change.

# **4.1.1.6.3.** Ranking smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change according to location

The Kruskall-Wallis test was run to rank vulnerability to climate variability and change, and to determine if there was a significant variation in smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change across ten villages (Mankon, Nkwen, Bambui, Bambili, Kedjom Keku, Mendakwe, Mbei-Santa, Akum, Njong-Santa, and Awing) (Table 4.4).

	Freque	ncy (n)	Percentage (%)				
Village	Vulnerable	Not vulnerable	Vulnerable	Not vulnerable	Mean rank	Chi- square	p-level
Mankon	33	7	82.5	17.5	185.88		
Nkwen	32	8	80	20	181.50		
Bambui	33	7	82.5	17.5	185.88		
Bambili	33	7	82.5	17.5	185.88		
Kedjom Keku	21	9	70	30	164.00	6.097	0.730
Mendakwe	23	7	76.7	23.3	175.67		(ns)
Mbei-Santa	22	8	73.3	26.7	169.83		
Akum	28	12	70	30	164.00		
Njong-Santa	23	7	76.7	23.3	175.67		
Awing	20	10	66.7	33.33	158.17		

Table 4.4: Kruskall-Wallis test statistic showing variation in vulnerability according to village

**ns** = not significant

The Kruskall-Wallis test (H-test) confirmed that there was no significant variation in vulnerability amongst smallholder farmers across the different villages ( $X^2 = 6.097$ , p> 0.1). This goes to show that smallholder farmers' vulnerability does not vary significantly with location. Although the mean rank indicates that smallholder farmers in villages like Mankon (mean rank = 185.88), Bambui (mean rank = 185.88) and Bambili (mean rank = 185.88) are relatively vulnerable than their counterparts in villages like Awing (mean rank = 158.17), Mbei-Santa (mean rank = 169.83) and Kedjom Keku (mean rank = 164) (Table 4.4).

## 4.1.1.6.4. Causal relationship between smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change, and explanatory variables

The Binary logistic regression model revealed that there was a statistically significant inverse causal relationship between smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change and five (05) explanatory variables (Table 4.5).

From the predictions of this model, household size ( $\beta = -1.815$ , p<0.01), age of household head ( $\beta = -0.695$ , p<0.05), household income ( $\beta = -6.321$ , p<0.01), access to information ( $\beta = -5.387$ , p<0.05), and access to land ( $\beta = -4.239$ , p<0.05) all contributed in drastically reducing smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change. This goes to show that as household size increases; as household income increases; as age of household head increases; as access to information increases; and as access to land increases; there is a decrease in smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change. Thus, the findings of the study demonstrate that some continuous and discontinuous explanatory variables like household size, age of household head, household income, access to information and access to land play a significant role in reducing smallholder famers' vulnerability to climate variability and change.

						95% C.I. for	
Explanatory variables	Coefficients	p-level	Wald	df	Odds ratio	Ex	<b>p</b> β
	(β)				<b>(Exp</b> β)	Lower	Upper
Household size	-1.815***	0.005	7.985	1	0.163	0.046	0.573
Age of household head	-0.695**	0.021	5.307	1	0.499	0.276	0.901
Household income	-6.321***	0.002	3.532	1	0.001	0.000	0.350
Access to information	-5.387**	0.027	4.906	1	0.005	0.000	0.538
Access to land	-4.239**	0.040	4.231	1	0.014	0.000	0.819
Constant	48.169***	0.003	8.898	1	83055688959		
					2572400000		
-2 Log likelihood	18.033						
Likelihood ratio $X^2$	363.05***	0.000					
Nagelkerke R <sup>2</sup>	0.973						
Number of cases correctly	99.7%						
classified							

**Table 4.5:** Binary logistic regression predicting smallholder farmers' vulnerability to

 climate variability and change from five explanatory variables

\*\*, \*\*\* Significant at 5% and 1% probability levels respectively

It must be said that the parameter estimates of this model are valid looking at the Likelihood Ratio  $X^2$ , the Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup> and the number of cases correctly classified. Likelihood Ratio  $X^2$  (5, n = 350 = 363.05, p<0.001), indicated that the model is statistically significant and has a strong explanatory power. Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup> (0.973) demonstrated that the model explained up to 97.3% of the variations in smallholder farmers' vulnerability faced with climate variability and change. Moreover, the model correctly classified up to 99.7% of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change. Looking at all these, it can be said that the predictions of this model are very much valid as far as predicting the factors influencing smallholder farmers' vulnerability and change in the North-West Region of Cameroon are concerned.

# **4.1.2.** Characterized agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers in the face of climate variability and change

### 4.1.2.1. Identified and categorized agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers

### 4.1.2.1.1. Identified agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers

The agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers in the face of climate variability and change were generally varied, and most smallholder farmers were into several agroforestry practices at a time (Figure 4.16).

Among the agroforestry practices taken up by smallholder farmers, home garden with livestock was the most widespread (52.88%). This was closely followed by trees on croplands (47.84%) and the home garden (43.52%). Live fences/hedges (37.05%), trees on grazing lands (34.53%) and coffee-based agroforestry (29.5%) equally featured prominently among the agroforestry practices taken up by smallholder farmers. Meanwhile, very few smallholder farmers were into Taungya (18.34%), improved fallows (12.59%) and others (4.68%) like fodder banks, windbreaks and trees on grazing lands with crops (Figure 4.16).



### Figure 4.16: Agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers

Therefore, smallholder farmers take to a plethora of agroforestry practices faced with the impacts of climate variability and change.

### 4.1.2.1.2. Categorized agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers

The agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers were categorized under three main systems: agrosilvicultural, silvopastoral, and agrosilvopastoral (Table 4.6).

Agroforestry system	Agroforestry practice	Components	
	Home garden	Trees and different types of crops	
Agrosilvicultural	Trees on croplands	Trees and food crops	
	Live fences/hedges	Trees and food crops	
	Taungya	Trees and food crops	
	Coffee-based agroforestry	Trees and cash crop	
	Improved fallows	Shrubs and crops	
	Windbreaks	Trees and crops	
	Trees on grazing lands	Trees and livestock/fodder crops	
Silvopastoral	Fodder banks	Trees and fodder crops	
	Home gardens with livestock		
Agrosilvopastoral	Trees on grazing lands with crops	Trees, crops and livestock	

 Table 4.6: Categorized agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers

Under the agrosilvicultural system, there were six (06) main agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers: home garden, trees on croplands, live fences/hedges, Taungya, coffeebased agroforestry, improved fallows and windbreaks (Table 4.6). As for the silvopastoral system, two main agroforestry practices were identified: trees on grazing lands and fodder banks (Table 4.6). Pertaining to the agrosilvopastoral system, two main practices were identified: home garden with livestock and trees on grazing lands with crops (Table 4.6). Thus, basically three main agroforestry systems and several agroforestry practices are taken up by smallholder farmers faced with climate variability and change.

# 4.1.2.2. Ecosystem services of agroforestry identified by smallholder farmers practicing agroforestry

Smallholder farmers identified a plethora of ecosystem services resulting from their diverse agroforestry practices (Figure 4.17).

Among the different ecosystem services identified by smallholder farmers, food (100%) and fuelwood (100%) were unanimously identified by all the smallholder farmers practicing agroforestry. This was closely followed by natural (traditional) medicines and building materials identified by 76.62% and 71.22% of the smallholder farmer agroforestry practitioners respectively.



Figure 4.17: Ecosystem services of agroforestry identified by smallholder farmers

Meanwhile ecosystem services such as provision of shade, protection against the wind, and erosion control were identified by 57.91%, 52.52% and 47.84% of the smallholder farmer agroforestry practitioners respectively. Only 34.89% and 16.91% of the smallholder farmer agroforestry practitioners identified pollination and others (finance and micro-climate buffering) respectively. This demonstrates that smallholder farmers practicing agroforestry derive several benefits (ecosystem services).

# 4.1.2.3. Main classes of agroforestry tree/shrub species integrated in smallholder farmers' plots

Following field surveys (inventories on farmers' agroforestry plots), it was found that the most common categories of agroforestry tree/shrub species integrated in smallholder farmers' agroforestry plots were fruit trees (100%), fuelwood trees/shrubs (100%), trees/shrubs for building materials (98%), trees for windbreaks (83%), and trees for soil improvement (73%). Fodder trees/shrubs (69%), trees for medicines (51%), trees for food (25%) and others (7%) were equally integrated on smallholder farmers' agroforestry plots (Table 4.7).

Class of agroforestry tree/shrub	Frequency (n)	Percentage (%)	Number of agroforestry plots surveyed (N)
Fruit trees	200	100	
Fuelwood trees/shrubs	200	100	
Trees/shrubs for building materials	196	98	
Fodder trees/shrubs	138	69	
Trees for windbreaks	166	83	200
Trees for soil improvement	146	73	
Trees for medicines	102	51	
Trees for food	50	25	
Others (e.g. flowering trees for apiculture)	14	7	

 Table 4.7: Classes of agroforestry tree/shrub species found on smallholder farmers' agroforestry plots

Thus, a diverse category of agroforestry tree/shrub species were integrated by smallholder farmers on their farm plots faced with the impacts of climate variability and change.

# 4.1.2.4. Major food and cash crop species integrated in smallholder farmers' agroforestry farm plots

Field surveys indicated that the most common herbaceous species integrated in smallholder farmers' agroforestry plots were *Zea mays* (98%), *Manihot esculenta* (92%), *Colocasia spp* (85%), *Phaseolus vulgaris* (75%), *Vigna unguiculata* (80%), *Ipomoea batatas* (64%) and *Musa spp* (56%) (Table 4.8).

Food and cash crop species	Frequency	Percentage	Number of agroforestry
	<b>(n)</b>	(%)	plots surveyed (N)
Zea mays (maize)	196	98	
Coffea (coffee)	35	17.5	
Elaies guineensis (oil palms)	98	49	
Manihot esculenta (cassava)	184	92	
Colocasia spp (cocoyams)	170	85	
Phaseolus vulgaris (beans)	150	75	
Vigna unguiculata (cowpea)	160	80	200
Ipomoea batatas (sweet potato)	128	64	
Musa spp (plantain and banana)	112	56	
Solanum tuberosum (potato)	19	9.5	
Dioscorea spp (yams)	96	48	
Arachis hypogaea (groundnuts)	60	30	
Others (vegetables and market	30	15	
gardening crops)			

Table 4.8: Food and cash crop species integrated on smallholder farmers' agroforestry plots

Meanwhile the least integrated food and cash crops on smallholder farmers' agroforestry plots were *Coffea arabica* (17.5%), *Elaies guineensis* (49%), *Solanum tuberosum* (9.5%), *Dioscorea spp* (48%), *Arachis hypogaea* (30%) and others especially vegetables and market gardening crops (15%) (Table 4.8). Hence, smallholder farmers integrate a variety of crops in their agroforestry plots ranging from food crops, cash crops to even vegetables and market gardening crops in the face of climate variability and change.

## 4.1.2.5. Common livestock species raised by smallholder farmers practicing agroforestry

Out of the many livestock species reared by smallholder farmers practicing agroforestry, it was found that a majority of the smallholder farmers raised *Gallus gallus domesticus* or the indigenous fowl (72.3%), *Sus domesticus* or the domestic pig (65.11%), *Capra aegagrus hircus* or the domestic goat (47.48%) and *Ovis aries* or the sheep (38.49%) (Figure 4.18).



Figure 4.18: Livestock species reared by smallholder farmers practicing agroforestry

Meanwhile fewer smallholder farmers practicing agroforestry were into the rearing of *Cavia porcellus* or the guinea pig (29.14%), *Oryctolagus cuniculus* or the domestic rabbit (19.42%), *Bos Taurus* or cattle (7.55%), *Equus caballus* or domestic horse (3.96%) and *Equus asinus* or donkey (0.72%) (Figure 4.18).

## 4.1.2.6. Common tree/shrub species integrated within smallholder farmers' agroforestry plots

From field surveys of two hundred (200) smallholder farmers' agroforestry plots, it was found that the most common tree/shrub species integrated by smallholder farmers on their agroforestry farm plots were *Persea americana* (93%), *Psidium guajava* (91.5%), *Vernonia amygdalina* (90.5%), *Casuarina equisetifolia* (50.5%), *Albizzia ferruginea* (49.5%), *Calliandra calothyrsus* (53%), *Leucaena leucocephala* (42%), *Eucalyptus spp* (53.5%), *Carica papaya* (45.5%), *Rauvolfia vomitoria* (46%), *Prunus africana* (41.5%), *Dacryodes edulis* (81.5%), *Canarium schweinfurtii* (41%), *Mangifera indica* (77%), *Elaies guineensis* (49%) and *Cola anomala* (52%) (Table 4.9).

**Table 4.9:** Main tree/shrub species integrated by smallholder farmers on their agroforestry plots

Scientific name	Freq.	(%)	Scientific name	Freq.	(%)
	( <b>n</b> ) <sup>-</sup>			( <b>n</b> )	
Persea americana	186	93	Adansonia digitata	9	4.5
Cola anomala	104	52	Ceiba pentandra	68	34
Elaeis guineensis	98	49	Albizia ferruginea	99	49.5
Mangifera indica	154	77	Albizia zygia	43	21.5
Canarium schweinfurtii	82	41	Albizia adianthifolia	21	10.5
Dacryodes edulis	163	81.5	Gliricia sepium	72	36
Psidium guajava	183	91.5	Leucaena leucocephala	84	42
Vernonia amygdalina	181	90.5	Calliandra calothyrsus	106	53
Citrus grandis	16	8	Podocarpus mannii	75	37.5
Citrus limon	10	5	Ficus thonningii	37	18.5
Citrus reticulate	11	5.5	Antiaris africana	4	2
Citrus sinensis	39	19.5	Militia excels	24	12
Prunus Africana	83	41.5	Ficus exasperate	48	24
Rauvolfia vomitoria	92	46	Vitex ciliate	66	33
Voacanga Africana	71	35.5	Khaya senegalensis	22	11
Myrianthus arboreus	2	1	Eucalyptus spp	107	53.5
Uapaca guineensis	19	9.5	Carica papaya	91	45.5
Pycnanthus angolensis	25	12.5	Ficus chlamydocarpa	33	16.5
Spondianthus preussii	13	6.5	Milletia courauri	12	6
Terminalia glaucescens	47	23.5	Ficus elastic	15	7.5
Gmelina arborea	74	37	Citrus aurantifolia	6	3
Casuarina equisetifolia	101	50.5	Sesbania sesban	41	20.5
Sesbania macrantha	52	26	Tephrosia vogelii	17	8.5
Pinus sylvestris	26	13	Raphia spp	75	37.5

Meanwhile the least common tree/shrub species (with less than 10% representation on smallholder farmers' agroforestry farm plots) were *Citrus grandis* (8%), *Citrus limon* (5%),

*Citrus reticulate* (5.5%), *Myrianthus arboreus* (1%), *Uapaca guineensis* (9.5%), *Spondianthus preussii* (6.5%), *Adansonia digitata* (4.5%), *Antiaris africana* (2%), *Milletia courauri* (6%), *Ficus elastic* (7.5%), *Citrus aurantifolia* (3%) and *Tephrosia vogelii* (8.5%) (Table 4.9). Thus a total of 47 different species were identified on the 200 smallholder farmers' agroforestry plots surveyed. This goes to show that smallholder farmers integrate a wide variety of tree/shrubs species on their agroforestry plots faced with the impacts of climate variability and change.

**4.1.3.** Agroforestry practices and smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change

**4.1.3.1.** Factors affecting smallholder farmers' agroforestry practicing decision in the face of climate variability and change

4.1.3.1.1. Non-causal relationship between smallholder farmers' agroforestry practicing decision and continuous and discontinuous explanatory variables

4.1.3.1.1.1. Non-causal relationship between smallholder farmers' agroforestry practicing decision and continuous explanatory variables

T-test results indicated that there was a significant non-causal relationship between smallholder farmers' agroforestry practicing decision and four continuous explanatory variables (Table 4.10).

The continuous explanatory variables of the study: number of farms (t = 8.404, p<0.001), household size (t = 3.800, p<0.001), age of household head (t = 5.908, p<0.001), and household income (t = 4.991, p<0.001), all had a significant non-causal relationship with smallholder farmers' agroforestry practicing decision in the face of climate variability and change.

		Levene's	test for the				
		equality	of variance	t-test for equality of means			
Variable	Assumption	F	p-value	t	df	p-value	Mean diff.
Number of	Equal variance	106.453	0.000***				
farms	assumed						
	Equal variance						
	not assumed			8.404	327.039	0.000***	1.711
Household	Equal variance	14.555	0.000***				
size	assumed						
	Equal variance						
	not assumed			3.800	183.936	0.000***	0.724
Age of	Equal variance	21.746	0.000***				
household	assumed						
head	Equal variance						
	not assumed			5.908	192.126	0.000***	3.344
Annual	Equal variance	38.621	0.000***				
income of	assumed						
household	Equal variance						
	not assumed			4.991	262.955	0.000***	79286.571

**Table 4.10:** Independent sample t-test statistic showing non-causal relationship between agroforestry practicing decision and continuous explanatory variables

\*\*\* Significant at 0.1% probability level

Therefore, following the statistics from the t-test; number of farms owned, household size, age of household head, and household income play a plausible role in influencing smallholder farmers' agroforestry practicing decision in the face of climate variability and change.

## 4.1.3.1.1.2. Non-causal relationship between smallholder farmers' agroforestry practicing decision and discontinuous explanatory variables

Chi-square test results indicated that there was a significant non-causal relationship between smallholder farmers' agroforestry practicing decision in the face of climate variability and change, and seven (07) discontinuous explanatory variables (Table 4.11).

The discontinuous explanatory variables: level of education of household head ( $X^2 = 25.166$ , p<0.001), gender of household head ( $X^2 = 5.354$ , p<0.05), vulnerability to climate variability and change ( $X^2 = 27.735$ , p<0.001), access to information ( $X^2 = 11.974$ , p<0.01), access to credit ( $X^2 = 16.428$ , p<0.001), access to land ( $X^2 = 19.133$ , p<0.001) and access to agricultural extension services ( $X^2 = 3.778$ , p<0.05), all had a significant non-causal relationship with smallholder farmers' agroforestry practicing decision in the face of climate variability and change.

Discontinuous		Frequency (n)		Percentage (%)				
Variable	Description					Chi-	L.R.	p-value
		PAF	NAF	PAF	NAF	square		
Educational	No formal edu.	24	9	6.86	2.57			
Level	Primary	178	63	50.86	18			
	Secondary	10	0	2.86	0	25.166	40.161	0.000***
	High school	35	0	10	0			
	Tertiary	31	0	8.86	0			
Gender of	Male	162	31	46.28	8.86			
household head	Female	116	41	33.14	11.71	5.354	5.331	0.021**
Vulnerability	Yes	196	72	56	20.57			
to CVC	No	82	0	23.43	0	27.735	43.848	0.000***
Access to	Yes	48	1	13.71	0.28			
information	No	230	71	65.71	20.28	11.974	17.130	0.001***
Access to credit	Yes	67	2	19.14	0.57			
	No	211	70	60.28	20	16.428	22.169	0.000***
Access to land	Yes	61	0	17.43	0			
	No	217	72	62	20.57	19.133	31.277	0.000***
Access to	Yes	48	20	13.71	5.71			
extension	No	230	52	65.71	14.86	4.037	3.778	0.045**

**Table 4.11:** Discontinuous explanatory variables affecting smallholder farmers' agroforestry practicing decision

\*\*\*, \*\* Significant at 1% and 5% probability levels respectively; PAF = Practice Agroforestry; NAF = No Agroforestry; L.R. = Likelihood Ratio; info = information

The statistics from the chi-square test therefore confirm that level of education of household head, gender of household head, vulnerability to climate variability and change, access to information, access to credit, access to land and access to agricultural extension services plausibly affect smallholder farmers' agroforestry practicing decision in the face of climate variability and change. Thus, the discontinuous variables: educational level, gender, vulnerability, access to information, access to credit, access to credit, access to land and access to extension services play a plausible role in influencing smallholder farmers' agroforestry practicing decision faced with climate variability and change.

## **4.1.3.1.2.** Ranking smallholder farmers' practice of agroforestry in the face of climate variability and change according to location

The Kruskall-Wallis test was run to rank the practice of agroforestry and to determine if there was a significant variation in smallholder farmers' practice of agroforestry across ten villages (Mankon, Nkwen, Bambui, Bambili, Kedjom Keku, Mendakwe, Mbei-Santa, Akum, Njong-Santa, and Awing) (Table 4.12).

	Frequency (n)		Percentage (%)				
Village	Practice Agroforestry	No Agroforestry	Practice AF	No AF	Mean Rank	Chi- square	p-level
Mankon	29	11	72.5	27.5	163.38		
Nkwen	31	9	77.5	22.5	172.13		
Bambui	34	6	85	15	185.25		
Bambili	32	8	80	20	176.50		
Kedjom Keku	25	5	83.3	16.7	182.33	5.321	0.805
Mendakwe	26	4	86.7	13.3	188.17	(ns)	
Mbei-Santa	23	7	76.7	23.3	170.67		
Akum	32	8	80	20	176.50		
Njong-Santa	25	5	83.3	16.7	182.33		
Awing	21	9	70	30	159.00		

**Table 4.12:** Kruskall-Wallis test statistic showing variation in the practice of agroforestry according to village

**ns** = not significant; AF = Agroforestry

The Kruskall-Wallis test or the H-test indicated that there was no significant variation in the practice of agroforestry in the face of climate variability and change between smallholder farmers across the different villages ( $X^2 = 5.321$ , p>0.1). This goes to show that the practice of agroforestry does not vary very significantly across the ten villages studied. However, based on the mean ranks, it is seen that, faced with climate variability and change, smallholder farmers in Mendakwe (mean rank = 188.17), Bambui (mean rank = 185.25), Kedjom Keku (mean rank = 182.33) and Njong-Santa (mean rank = 182.33) are more into agroforestry than their counterparts in Awing (mean rank = 159), Mankon (mean rank = 163.38), Nkwen (mean rank = 172.13), and Mbei-Santa (mean rank = 170.67).

## 4.1.3.1.3. Causal relationship between smallholder farmers' agroforestry practicing decision faced with climate variability and change, and explanatory variables

The Binary logistic regression model revealed that, there was a significant direct or positive causal relationship between smallholder farmers' agroforestry practicing decision in the face of climate variability and change and five explanatory variables (Table 4.13).

Based on the results of this model, five explanatory variables: age of household head ( $\beta = 0.086$ , p<0.05), household income ( $\beta = 1.243$ , p<0.05), access to information ( $\beta = 1.192$ , p<0.05), access to credit facilities ( $\beta = 7.135$ , p<0.01) and vulnerability to climate variability and change ( $\beta = 22.244$ , p<0.01) had a statistically significant direct causal relationship with smallholder farmers' agroforestry practicing decision.

Explanatory variables	Coefficient (β)	p-level	df	Odds ratio (Exp β)
Household size	-0.310**	0.031	1	0.734
Number of farms	0.027	0.880	1	1.028
Age of household head	0.086**	0.048	1	1.090
Household income	1.243**	0.013	1	3.572
Access to extension	-3.107***	0.000	1	0.045
Level of education	0.219	0.657	1	1.245
Gender of HHH	0.149	0.652	1	1.161
Access to information	1.192**	0.028	1	3.295
Access to credit facilities	7.135***	0.000	1	1255.137
Access to land	18.187	0.996	1	79175473.711
Vulnerability to CVC	22.244***	0.000	1	4575583186.46
Constant	22.227	0.995	1	4498948167.405
Number of observations	350			
-2 Log likelihood	253.072			
Likelihood ratio $X^2$	102.684***	0.000		
Nagelkerke R <sup>2</sup>	0.598			
Number of cases correctly	84.3%			
classified				

**Table 4.13:** Binary logistic regression predicting smallholder farmers' agroforestry

 practicing decision from eleven explanatory variables

\*, \*\*, \*\*\* Significant at 10%, 5% and 1% probability levels respectively

Hence, following the coefficients of the binary logistic regression model; as age, household income, access to information, access to credit facilities and vulnerability increases, there is an increase in smallholder farmers' propensity to practice agroforestry faced with climate variability and change. This could be attributed to the fact that age comes with experience; more income and access to credit facilities gives the farming household more stability and ability to purchase better farm tools; access to information makes farmers more knowledgeable, enabling them to better prepare for extreme weather events; and vulnerability to climate variability and change makes farming households to take to best practices like agroforestry in order to curb their vulnerability.

Meanwhile a strong inverse causal relationship existed between smallholder farmers' agroforestry practicing decision in the face of climate variability and change and two explanatory variables: household size ( $\beta = -0.310$ , p<0.05), and access to agricultural extension services ( $\beta = -3.107$ , p<0.001). This indicates that an increase in household size as well as agricultural extension services leads to a direct proportional reduction in the practice of agroforestry by smallholder farmers in the face of climate variability and change. This could be attributed to the fact that extension services vulgarize mostly monoculture farming

systems, and larger households prefer to go in for monoculture farming systems which brings more food used to feed the large household population.

Although not statistically significant, explanatory variables such as number of farms, educational level of household head, and access to land (p>0.1), all had an positive or direct causal relationship with smallholder farmers' agroforestry practicing decision in the face of climate variability and change. This shows that an increase in number of farms, educational level of the household head, and access to land leads to an increase (although not very significant) in smallholder farmers' propensity to practice agroforestry in the face of climate variability and change.

It is important to note that the results of this model are valid looking at the Likelihood Ratio  $X^2$ , the number of cases correctly classified, the log likelihood and the pseudo R-square (Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup>). Likelihood Ratio  $X^2$  (11, n = 350 = 102.684, p<0.001), indicated that the model was statistically significant and had a strong explanatory power. Meanwhile, the model correctly classified up to 84.3% of smallholder farmers' agroforestry practicing decision faced with climate variability and change. The log likelihood was high (253.072) showing that each of the individual variables contributed significantly to the model. The Pseudo R<sup>2</sup> indicated that at least 59.8% of the changes in smallholder farmers' agroforestry practicing decision faced with climate variability and change resulted from the explanatory variables. From all these, it can be concluded that the predictions of this model are very much valid as far as assessing smallholder farmers' agroforestry decision in the face of climate variability and change is concerned.

**4.1.3.2.** Categorized agroforestry practices and determinants of smallholder farmers' choice of different agroforestry systems in the face of climate variability and change

# **4.1.3.2.1.** Categorized agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers in the face of climate variability and change

In order to do ease data analysis, the different agroforestry practices identified by smallholder farmers were categorized into three major systems and a fourth category made up of smallholder farmers who did not practice agroforestry (Figure 4.19).



Figure 4.19: Categorized agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers

The three main systems which emerged following the categorization of smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices were the agrosilvicultural system, the silvopastoral system and the agrosilvopastoral system. Amongst these three systems, the agrosilvicultural system was the most commonly identified by smallholder farmers representing 43.71%. This was closely followed by the agrosilvopastoral system identified by 24.28% of the smallholder farmers. The silvopastoral system was the least cited, identified by only 11.43% of the smallholder farmers. This clearly shows that agroforestry practices that fall under the agrosilvicultural system are the most practiced by smallholder farmers in the face of climate variability and change. It is worth noting that some smallholder farmers representing 20.57% were into the no agroforestry option.

### **4.1.3.2.** Determinants of smallholder farmers' choice of different agroforestry systems in the face of climate variability and change

Following the categorization of smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices into agroforestry systems, three main agroforestry systems emerged: agrosilvicultural, silvopastoral, and agrosilvopastoral agroforestry systems. These three agroforestry systems represented the dependent variables, with the "no agroforestry category" representing the reference category. From the parameter estimates of the multinomial logistic regression model, it was found that four (04) explanatory variables played an important role in influencing smallholder farmers' choice of different agroforestry systems in the face of climate variability and change (Table 4.14).

	Agrosilvicultural systems		Silvopast	toral	Agrosilvopastoral systems	
Explanatory variables			systen	ıs		
	Coefficient	p-level	Coefficient	p-level	Coefficient	p-level
Constant	-1.420***	0.000	-0.101	0.813	-0.896**	0.014
Access_information	1.450**	0.019	1.982***	0.007	1.247**	0.047
Access_land	1.208**	0.034	1.294**	0.047	1.909***	0.002
Household income	1.457**	0.017	1.582**	0.009	1.672**	0.007
Access_extension_svs	- 2.395***	0.000	- 2.256***	0.000	- 2.336***	0.000
Access_credit	0.659	0.254	0.519	0.482	- 0.079	0.904
Reference category	No					
	Agroforestry					
Number of observations	350					
Log likelihood	298.64					
Likelihood ratio $X^2$	165.20***					
Nagelkerke R <sup>2</sup>	0.842					

**Table 4.14:** Parameter estimates of the multinomial logistic regression model showing the causal relationship between agroforestry systems and explanatory variables

\*\*, \*\*\*; Significant at 5% and 1% probability levels respectively

The parameter estimates of the multinomial logistic regression model showed that three main explanatory variables (access to information, access to land, household income and access to extension services) significantly influenced smallholder farmers' choice of agroforestry systems faced with climate variability and change.

Access to information played a statistically significant role in influencing smallholder farmers' choice of different agroforestry systems (agrosilvicultural, silvopastoral and agrosilvopastoral agroforestry systems). The agrosilvicultural system (a combination of smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices like trees on croplands, home gardens, live fences/hedges, coffee-based agroforestry, Taungya and improved fallows) was directly influenced by access to information ( $\beta = 1.450$ , p<0.05). The silvopastoral system (mostly made up of smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices like trees on grazing lands) was equally significantly influenced by access to information ( $\beta = 1.982$ , p<0.01). The agrosilvopastoral system made up of smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices like home garden with livestock, was also influenced by access to information ( $\beta = 1.247$ , 0.05). This indicates that access to information contributes significantly towards smallholder farmers' practice of agrosilvicultural, silvopastoral and agrosilvopastoral agroforestry systems faced with climate variability and change. This could be attributed to the fact that access to information influences farmers' access to knowledge about the latest agricultural trends, thus farmers with more knowledge on the latest farming trends are able to tilt towards best

practices which can help them adapt to and mitigate the effects of climate variability and change, than their counterparts with limited knowledge.

Access to land played a very significant role in determining smallholder farmers' choice of agrosilvicultural, silvopastoral and agrosilvopastoral agroforestry systems. Access to land positively influenced smallholder farmers' practice of the agrosilvicultural system ( $\beta = 1.208$ , p<0.05), the silvopastoral system ( $\beta = 1.294$ , p<0.05) and the agrosilvopastoral system ( $\beta = 1.909$ , p<0.01). This indicates that as smallholder farmers' access to land increases, the higher their propensity to take to different agroforestry systems faced with climate variability and change. This state of affairs could be explained by the fact that land is an indispensable asset when it comes to the practice of different agroforestry systems.

**Household income** had a statistically significant direct causal relationship with smallholder farmers' choice of agroforestry system faced with climate variability and change. Smallholder farmers' choice of the agrosilvicultural agroforestry system ( $\beta = 1.457$ , p<0.05); silvopastoral agroforestry system ( $\beta = 1.582$ , p<0.05) and agrosilvopastoral agroforestry system ( $\beta = 1.672$ , p<0.05) all had a statistically significant positive causal relationship with household income. This indicates that household income plays a significant positive role in influencing smallholder farmers' choice of agroforestry system faced with climate variability and change.

Access to extension services also played a role in affecting smallholder farmers' choice of different agroforestry systems. But contrary to access to information, access to land and household income which positively influenced smallholder farmers' choice of agroforestry systems, access to extension services negatively influenced smallholder farmers' choice of agroforestry systems faced with climate variability and change. Access to extension services negatively influenced smallholder farmers' practice of the agrosilvicultural system ( $\beta = -2.395$ , p<0.01), the silvopastoral system ( $\beta = -2.256$ , p<0.01) and the agrosilvopastoral system ( $\beta = -2.336$ , p<0.01). This is unprecedented considering that various research works have shown that access to extension services increases smallholder farmers' adoption of adaptation measures faced with climate variability and change. This situation could be attributed to the fact that agricultural extension agents mostly promote intensive food crop and market gardening monoculture systems at the expense of agroforestry systems.

Although access to credit facilities did not significantly influence smallholder farmers' choice of agroforestry systems faced with climate variability and change, it positively influenced
smallholder farmers' choice of agroforestry systems. This implies that as access to credit facilities increases, smallholder farmers' propensity to take to different agroforestry systems faced with climate variability and change increases (although less drastically).

It is worth noting that the parameter estimates of the multinomial logistic regression model are valid looking at the Likelihood Ratio  $X^2$  and the Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup>. The Likelihood Ratio  $X^2$ (5, N = 350 = 165.20, p<0.001), demonstrated that the model was statistically significant and had a strong explanatory power. From the Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup> (Pseudo R<sup>2</sup>) of the model which was 0.842, it indicated that up to 84.2% of the changes in smallholder farmers' choice of agroforestry systems faced with climate variability and change were explained by changes in the different explanatory variables. Looking at the values of the Likelihood Ratio  $X^2$  and the Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup>, it could be safely concluded that the predictions of this model are very much valid pertaining to the contribution of the different explanatory variables in influencing smallholder farmers' choice of agroforestry systems faced with climate variability and change.

# **4.1.3.3.** Contribution of smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices to the reduction of vulnerability faced with climate variability and change

## **4.1.3.3.1.** Relationship between agroforestry practices and smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change

An analysis of the relationship between agroforestry practices and smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change revealed that different agroforestry practices except the home garden had a strong inverse relationship with smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change (Table 4.15).

Explanatory variable	Spearman correlation coefficient	Degree and type of relationship
Home garden with livestock	- 0.650***	Strong negative or inverse
Trees on cropland	- 0.707***	Strong negative or inverse
Home garden	0.402	Weak positive or direct
Lives fences/hedges	- 0.857***	Strong negative or inverse
Trees on grazing land	- 0.900***	Strong negative or inverse
Coffee-based agroforestry	- 0.857***	Strong negative or inverse
Taungya	- 0.670***	Strong negative or inverse
Improved fallows	- 0.535***	Strong negative or inverse

 Table 4.15:
 Spearman rank correlation coefficient showing relationship between vulnerability and agroforestry practices

\*\*\* Significant at 0.1% probability level

Agroforestry practices like the home garden with livestock, trees on cropland, live fences/hedges, trees on grazing land, coffee-based agroforestry, Taungya and improved fallows all had an inverse relationship with smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change (Table 4.15). This plausibly implies that the more these agroforestry practices are taken up by smallholder farmers, the lesser their vulnerability to climate variability and change. Only the home garden had a direct relationship (although weak) with smallholder farmers' vulnerability. This could be due to the absence of the livestock component. Globally, it can therefore be said that agroforestry practices play a plausible role in reducing smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change.

### 4.1.3.3.2. Non-causal relationship between agroforestry practices and smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change

Chi-square test results showed that eight (08) agroforestry practices significantly affected smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change (p<0.01) (Table 4.16).

Variable	Frequency (n)PercentageableDescription(%)		entage	Chi-				
	- •••• <b>-</b>	V.	N.V.	<b>V.</b>	N.V.	square	L.R.	p-value
Home garden	Yes	65	82	18.57	23.43			
with livestock	No	203	0	58	0	147.89	179.27	0.000***
Trees on	Yes	51	82	14.57	23.43			
croplands	No	217	0	62	0	174.72	203.10	0.000***
Home garden	Yes	121	0	34.57	0			
	No	82	147	23.43	42	56.58	82.33	0.000***
Live fences/	Yes	21	82	6	23.43			
hedges	No	247	0	70.57	0	256.81	276.90	0.000***
Trees on	Yes	14	82	4	23.43			
grazing land	No	254	0	72.57	0	283.34	301.32	0.000***
Coffee-based	Yes	9	73	2.57	20.86			
agroforestry	No	259	9	74	2.57	256.85	245.55	0.000***
Taungya	Yes	4	47	1.14	13.43			
	No	264	35	75.43	10	157.19	137.15	0.000***
Improved	Yes	3	32	0.86	9.14			
fallows	No	265	50	75.71	14.29	100.24	84.94	0.000***

**Table 4.16:** Chi-square test results for agroforestry practices affecting smallholder farmers'

 vulnerability to climate variability and change

\*\*\* Significant at 0.1% probability level; V. = vulnerable; N.V. = Not vulnerable; L.R. = Likelihood Ratio

Amongst the different agroforestry practices, home gardens with livestock ( $X^2 = 147.89$ , p<0.001), trees on croplands ( $X^2 = 174.72$ , p<0.001), home garden ( $X^2 = 56.58$ , p<0.001), life

fences/hedges ( $X^2 = 256.81$ , p<0.001), trees on grazing lands ( $X^2 = 283.34$ , p<0.001), coffeebased agroforestry ( $X^2 = 256.85$ , p<0.001), Taungya ( $X^2 = 157.19$ , p<0.001), and improved fallows ( $X^2 = 100.24$ , p<0.001) all had a significant non-causal relationship with smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change. From every indication, it can be said that agroforestry practices like home gardens with livestock, trees on croplands, home garden, life fences/hedges, trees on grazing lands, coffee-based agroforestry, Taungya, and improved fallows all play a plausibly significant role in influencing smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change.

## 4.1.3.3.3. Causal relationship between agroforestry practices and smallholder farmers' vulnerability faced with climate variability

The Binary logistic regression model indicated that there was a causal relationship between agroforestry practices and smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change (Table 4.17).

Explanatory variable	Coefficients	p-level	Odds ratio (Exp B)
Constant	-3.143***	0.000	0.043
Home garden with livestock	-3.482***	0.008	0.030
Trees on croplands	-4.673***	0.000	0.009
Home garden	3.099**	0.027	22.175
Live fences/hedges	-0.486	0.542	0.615
Trees on grazing lands	-1.674**	0.037	0.187
Coffee-based agroforestry	-2.331***	0.009	0.097
Taungya	-1.462**	0.041	0.231
Improved fallows	-0.245	0.856	0.782
Number of observations	350		
-2 log likelihood	89.431		
Likelihood ration $X^2$	192.245***	0.000	
Pseudo R <sup>2</sup>	0.967		

**Table 4.17:** Binary logistic regression model predicting smallholder farmers' vulnerability

 from agroforestry practices

\*\*\*, \*\* Significant at 1% and 5% probability levels respectively

From the estimates of this model, five agroforestry practices: home garden with livestock ( $\beta$  = -3.482, p<0.01), Trees on croplands ( $\beta$  = -4.673, p<0.01), trees on grazing lands ( $\beta$  = -1.674, p<0.05), coffee-based agroforestry ( $\beta$  = -2.331, p<0.01), Taungya ( $\beta$  = -1.462, p<0.05) had a statistically significant negative or indirect causal relationship with smallholder farmers' vulnerability faced with climate variability and change. This goes to show that an increase in agroforestry practices like home gardens with livestock, trees on croplands, trees

on grazing lands, coffee-based agroforestry and Taungya leads to a significant reduction in smallholder farmers' vulnerability faced with climate variability and change. This could be attributed to the crop, tree and livestock components present in these practices which help to increase diversity and therefore diversify smallholder farmers' sources of income too.

Only one agroforestry practice i.e. the home garden ( $\beta = 3.099$ , p<0.01), had a significant positive causal relationship with smallholder farmers' vulnerability faced with climate variability and change. This indicates that as the practice of home garden increases, smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change also increases. This could be attributed to the absence of the livestock component which plays an important role in income generation and diversification of income sources for smallholder farmers.

Although the coefficients of agroforestry practices like live fences/hedges and improved fallows were not statistically significant, they nevertheless had an indirect or negative causal relationship with smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change. This implies that an increase in agroforestry practices like live fences/hedges and improved fallows leads to a reduction (though not too statistically significant) in smallholder farmers vulnerability to climate variability to climate variability and change.

The contribution of these different agroforestry practices towards the reduction of smallholder farmers' vulnerability faced with climate variability and change could be attributed to the different products and services provided by these agroforestry practices: food, fuelwood, building materials, windbreaks, erosion control, and soil fertility improvement.

It is worth mentioning that the results of this model are valid looking at the Likelihood Ratio  $X^2$ , the number of cases correctly classified and the Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup>. Likelihood Ratio  $X^2$  (8, N = 350 = 192.245, p<0.001), indicated that the model was statistically significant and had a strong explanatory power. Meanwhile, following the classification table of the model, the model correctly classified up to 97.62% of smallholder farmers' vulnerability face with climate variability and change. And looking at the Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup> (Pseudo R<sup>2</sup>) of the model which was 0.967, it demonstrated that up to 96.7% of the changes in smallholder farmers' vulnerability faced with climate variability and change were explained by changes in smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices. From the values of the Likelihood Ratio  $X^2$ , the number of cases correctly classified and the Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup>, it can be safely concluded that the predictions of this model are very much valid as far as the contribution of agroforestry

practices in reducing smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change is concerned.

# 4.1.4. Agroforestry practices and smallholder farmers' resilience faced with climate variability and change

### 4.1.4.1. Farmer perceived factors affecting resilience to climate variability and change

Looking at smallholder farmers' resiliency to climate variability and change (CVC) (Figure 4.20), it was found that all the smallholder farmers perceived access to land (100%) and household income (100%) as being the main factors affecting resilience to climate variability and change.



**Figure 4.20:** Factors affecting resilience to climate variability and change perceived by smallholder farmers

Tree planting (82%), accessibility to markets (77.43%), access to credit facilities (72.29%), access to information (64.57%) and access to extension services (55.14) were equally perceived by smallholder farmers as being amongst the key factors affecting resilience to climate variability and change. Other least perceived factors influencing resiliency to climate variability and change were irrigation (30.57%) and others (14%) like road network and topography. However, it is worth mentioning that the main factors influencing smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change to climate variability and change to climate variability and change to climate variability and topography. However, it is worth mentioning that the main factors influencing smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change were access to land, household income, trees on crop and grazing lands, accessibility to markets, access to credit facilities, and access to information (Figure 4.20).

## 4.1.4.2. Farmer perceived degree or level of resilience in the face of climate variability and change

With regards to the degree of resilience of smallholder farmers in the face of climate variability and change (Figure 4.21), most smallholder farmers perceived that they were not resilient (58%).



## Figure 4.21: Degree of resilience to climate variability and change perceived by smallholder farmers

Meanwhile 14%, 20.29% and 4% of the smallholder farmers perceived that they were resilient, less resilient and much less resilient to climate variability and change respectively. Only 3.71% of the smallholder farmers perceived that they were highly resilient to climate variability and change. From these perceptions, it is vivid that most smallholder farmers are not resilient to climate variability and change (Figure 4.21).

4.1.4.3. Factors affecting smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change

## 4.1.4.3.1. Non-causal relationship between continuous explanatory variables and smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change

T-test results showed that there was a significant non-causal relationship between smallholder farmers' resilience and four continuous explanatory variables (Table 4.18).

The continuous explanatory variables of the study: number of farms (t = 10.776, p<0.001), household size (t = 7.552, p<0.001), age of household head (t = 8.224, p<0.001), and household income (t = 9.062, p<0.001), all had a significant non-causal relationship with smallholder farmers' resilience in the face of climate variability and change.

**Table 4.18:** Independent sample t-test statistic showing the non-causal relationship between

 resilience and continuous explanatory variables

		Levene's	test for the					
		equality of	of variance	t-test for equality of means				
Variable	Assumption	$\mathbf{F}$	p-level	t	df	p-level	Mean diff.	
Number of	Equal variance	502.094	0.000***					
farms	assumed							
	Equal variance							
	not assumed			-10.776	170.493	0.000***	-2.940	
Household	Equal variance	107.704	0.000***					
size	assumed							
	Equal variance							
	not assumed			-7.552	195.262	0.000***	-1.590	
Age of	Equal variance	83.806	0.000***					
household	assumed							
head	Equal variance							
	not assumed			-8.224	209.441	0.000***	-5.192	
	Equal variance	150.556	0.000***					
Household	assumed							
income	Equal variance							
	not assumed			-9.062	179.442	0.000***	-179415.9	

\*\*\* Significant at 0.1% probability level

From the statistics of the t-test, it was found that: number of farms owned, household size, age of household head, and household income plausibly affect smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change.

# 4.1.4.3.2. Non-causal relationship between discontinuous explanatory variables and smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change

Chi-square test results showed that there was a significant non-causal relationship between smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change, and seven (07) discontinuous explanatory variables (Table 4.19).

The discontinuous explanatory variables: level of education of household head ( $X^2 = 123.10$ , p<0.001), gender of household head ( $X^2 = 24.95$ , p<0.001), practice of agroforestry ( $X^2 = 64.50$ , p<0.001), access to information ( $X^2 = 44.70$ , p<0.001), access to credit ( $X^2 = 90.88$ , p<0.001), access to land ( $X^2 = 52.50$ , p<0.001) and access to agricultural extension services ( $X^2 = 21.54$ , p<0.001), all had a significant non-causal relationship with smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change.

Discontinuous		Frequen	cy (n)	Percent	age (%)	~ .		p-level
Variable	Description -	R.	N.R.	R.	N.R.	Chi- square	L.R.	
Educational	No formal edu.	11	21	3.14	6			
Level of	Primary	62	180	17.71	51.43			
household head	Secondary	10	0	2.86	0	123.10	141.69	0.000***
	High school	34	1	9.71	2.86			
	Tertiary	30	1	8.57	2.86			
Gender of	Male	104	89	29.71	25.43			
household head	Female	43	114	12.28	32.57	24.95	25.47	0.000***
Practice	Yes	147	132	42	37.71			
Agroforestry	No	0	71	0	20.28	64.50	90.23	0.000***
Access to	Yes	42	7	12	2			
information	No	105	196	30	56	44.70	46.69	0.000***
Access to credit	Yes	64	5	18.28	1.43			
	No	83	198	23.71	56.57	90.88	99.25	0.000***
Access to land	Yes	51	10	14.57	2.86			
	No	96	193	27.43	55.14	52.50	54.33	0.000***
Access to	Yes	45	22	12.86	6.29			
extension	No	102	181	29.14	51.71	21.54	21.41	0.000***

**Table 4.19:** Chi-square test statistic showing the non-causal relationship between resilience

 and discontinuous explanatory variables

\*\*\* Significant at 0.1% probability level; R. = Resilient; N.R. = Not Resilient; L.R. = Likelihood Ratio; info. = information; edu. = education

Based on the chi-square statistics; level of education of household head, gender of household head, practice of agroforestry, access to information, access to credit, access to land and access to agricultural extension services could plausibly affects smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change.

## 4.1.4.3.3. Causal relationship between explanatory variables and smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change

The results of the binary logistic regression model revealed that five main explanatory variables played a statistically significant role in influencing smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change (Table 4.20).

From the results of the model, number of farms ( $\beta = 0.271$ , p<0.05), access to information ( $\beta = 0.937$ , p<0.1), household income ( $\beta = 1.821$ , p<0.05), access to credit facilities ( $\beta = 1.596$ , p<0.05), and access to land ( $\beta = 1.029$ , p<0.05) all had a significant positive causal relationship with smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change. This implies that as the number of farms, access to information, household income, access to credit facilities, and access to land increases, smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change also increases.

Explanatory variables	<b>Coefficients</b> (β)	p-level	Std error	Wald	df	Odds ratio
						$(\mathbf{Exp}\ \beta)$
Constant	- 1.961***	0.000	0.294	44.426	1	0.141
Number of farms	0.271**	0.003	0.092	8.690	1	1.311
Household income	1.821	0.002	0.614	9.064	1	5.134
Access to information	0.937*	0.087	0.548	2.929	1	2.553
Access to credit facilities	1.596**	0.006	0.582	7.526	1	4.931
Access to land	1.029**	0.027	0.465	4.891	1	2.798
Log likelihood	330.37					
Likelihood ratio $X^2$	145.84***	0.000				
Nagelkerke R <sup>2</sup>	0.648					
Number of cases correctly	80%					
classified						

**Table 4.20:** Logistic regression showing influence of continuous and discontinuous

 explanatory variables on smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change

\*, \*\*, \*\*\* Significant at 10%, 5% and 1% probability levels respectively

It is important to note that the results of this model are valid looking at the Likelihood Ratio  $X^2$ , the number of cases correctly classified and the Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup>. Likelihood Ratio  $X^2$  (5, n = 350 = 145.835, p<0.01), indicated that the model was statistically significant and had a strong explanatory power. Meanwhile, the model correctly classified up to 80% of the factors influencing smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change. And looking at

the Nagelkerke  $R^2$  (Pseudo  $R^2$ ) of the model which stood at 0.648, it reveals that up to 64.8% of the changes in smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change could be explained by changes in the continuous and discontinuous explanatory variables of the model. Hence, from the values of the Likelihood Ratio  $X^2$ , the number of cases correctly classified and the Nagelkerke  $R^2$ , it can be concluded that the predictions of this model are very much valid as far as determining the factors influencing smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change are concerned.

## **4.1.4.4.** Contribution of smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices to resilience enhancement in the face of climate variability and change

# 4.1.4.4.1. Non-causal relationship between agroforestry practices and smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change

Chi-square test results showed that there was a significant non-causal relationship between smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change and seven (07) agroforestry practices (Table 4.21).

		Frequ	ency (n)	Percentage				
Variable	Description			(%	6)	Chi-		
		R.	N.R.	R.	N.R.	square	L.R.	p-value
Home garden	Yes	99	49	28.28	14			
with livestock	No	48	154	13.71	44	65.22	66.74	0.000***
Trees on	Yes	92	41	26.29	11.71			
croplands	No	55	162	15.71	46.29	65.02	66.21	0.000***
Home garden	Yes	46	75	13.14	21.43			
	No	101	128	28.86	36.57	1.20	1.21	ns
Live fences/	Yes	84	19	24	5.43			
hedges	No	63	184	18	52.57	93.73	97.21	0.000***
Trees on	Yes	84	12	24	3.43			
grazing land	No	63	191	18	54.57	112.42	119.30	0.000***
Coffee-based	Yes	74	8	21.14	2.28			
agroforestry	No	73	195	20.86	55.71	102.32	109.88	0.000***
Taungya	Yes	45	6	12.86	1.71			
	No	102	197	29.14	56.29	52.39	55.47	0.000***
Improved	Yes	31	4	8.86	1.14			
fallows	No	116	199	33.14	56.86	34.62	36.77	0.000***

**Table 4.21:** Chi-square test statistic showing the non-causal relationship between resilience

 and agroforestry practices

\*\*\* Significant at 0.1% probability level; ns = not significant; R. = Resilient; N.R. = Not Resilient; L.R. = Likelihood Ratio

The agroforestry practices: home garden with livestock ( $X^2 = 65.22$ , p<0.001), trees on croplands ( $X^2 = 65.02$ , p<0.001), live fences/hedges ( $X^2 = 93.73$ , p<0.001), trees on grazing lands ( $X^2 = 112.42$ , p<0.001), coffee-based agroforestry ( $X^2 = 102.32$ , p<0.001), Taungya ( $X^2 = 52.39$ , p<0.001) and improved fallows ( $X^2 = 34.62$ , p<0.001), all had a significant non-causal relationship with smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change. Only the home garden did not have a statistically significant non-causal relationship with smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change. This demonstrates smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices like home garden with livestock, trees on croplands, live fences/hedges, trees on grazing lands, coffee-based agroforestry, Taungya and improved fallows plausibly influence smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change.

# 4.1.4.2. Causal relationship between agroforestry practices and smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change

The results of the binary logistic regression model revealed that four major agroforestry practices played a statistically significant role in enhancing smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change (Table 4.22).

Explanatory variables	<b>Coefficients</b> (β)	p-level	Std error	Wald	df	Odds ratio
	•	-				<b>(Exp</b> β)
Constant	- 3.780***	0.000	0.728	26.935	1	0.023
Home gardens with	3.158***	0.000	0.779	16.422	1	23.514
livestock						
Home gardens	3.189***	0.000	0.756	17.795	1	24.256
Trees on croplands	- 0.452	0.291	0.428	1.116	1	0.636
Trees on grazing lands	1.663**	0.001	0.487	11.677	1	5.276
Live fences/hedges	0.210	0.115	0.619	0.115	1	0.735
Coffee-based agroforestry	2.771**	0.006	1.000	7.677	1	15.980
Taungya	- 1.626	0.168	1.180	1.898	1	0.197
Improved fallows	0.340	0.717	0.937	0.132	1	1.405
Log likelihood	300.15					
Likelihood ratio $X^2$	176.055***	0.000				
Nagelkerke R <sup>2</sup>	0.532					
Number of cases correctly	77.7%					
classified						

**Table 4.22:** Logistic regression showing influence of agroforestry practices on smallholder

 farmers' resilience to climate variability and change

\*\*, \*\*\* Significant at 5% and 1% probability levels respectively

From the results of the model, home gardens with livestock ( $\beta = 3.158$ , p<0.01), home gardens ( $\beta = 3.189$ , p<0.01), trees on grazing lands ( $\beta = 1.663$ , p<0.05), and coffee-based agroforestry ( $\beta = 2.771$ , p<0.05) all had a significant positive causal relationship with smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change. This implies that as home gardens with livestock, home gardens, trees on grazing lands and coffee-based agroforestry increases, smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change also increases. Meanwhile live fences/hedges and improved fallows, although not statistically significant (p>0.1), also had a positive causal relationship with smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change. This implies that an increase in live fences and hedges, as well as improved fallows leads to an increase in smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change. On the contrary, trees on croplands and Taungya, although not statistically significant (p>0.1) had a negative causal relationship with smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change. This implies that the practice of these two agroforestry practices leads to a decrease in smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change. This implies that the practice of these two agroforestry increases in smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change. This implies that the practice of these two agroforestry practices leads to a decrease in smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change.

It must be said that the results of this model are valid looking at the Nagelkerke  $R^2$  of the model which is above the 50% mark (53.2%), Likelihood Ratio  $X^2$ , and the number of cases correctly classified. The Likelihood Ratio  $X^2$  (8, n = 350 = 176.055, p<0.01), indicated that the model was statistically significant and had a strong explanatory power. Meanwhile, the model correctly classified up to 77.7% of the agroforestry practices influencing smallholder farmers' resilience. The Nagelkerke  $R^2$  of the model which stood at 0.532 implies that 53.2% of the changes in smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change could be explained by changes in the different agroforestry practices. From all these, it can be concluded that the predictions of this model are very much valid as far as determining the different agroforestry practices influencing smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change is concerned.

#### **4.1.4.4.3.** Variations in resilience according to location

The Kruskall-Wallis test was run to rank smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change, and to determine if there was a significant variation in smallholder farmers' resilience across ten villages in the North-West Region of Cameroon (Mankon, Nkwen, Bambui, Bambili, Kedjom Keku, Mendakwe, Mbei-Santa, Akum, Njong-Santa, and Awing) (Table 4.23). Based on the mean ranks of the Kruskall-Wallis test (H-test), it was noticed that in the face of climate variability and change, smallholder farmers in Mendakwe (mean rank = 189.50), Mbei-Santa (mean rank = 189.50), Kedjom Keku (mean rank = 183.67) and Njong-Santa (mean rank = 183.67) were more resilient than their counterparts in Mankon (mean rank = 145.73), Bambili (mean rank = 167.63), Nkwen (mean rank = 172), and Bambui (mean rank = 176.38). However, the H-test statistic indicated that there was no statistically significant variation in smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change across the different villages ( $X^2 = 7.409$ , p>0.05).

Village -	Freque	Frequency (n)		age (%)			
	Resilient	Not Resilient	Resilient	Not Resilient	- Mean Rank	Chi- square	p-level
Mankon	10	30	25	75	145.75		
Nkwen	16	24	40	60	172.00		
Bambui	17	23	42.5	57.5	176.38		
Bambili	15	25	37.5	62.5	167.63		
Kedjom Keku	14	16	46.67	53.33	183.67	7.409	0.595
Mendakwe	15	15	50	50	189.50		(ns)
Mbei-Santa	15	15	50	50	189.50		
Akum	18	22	45	55	180.75		
Njong-Santa	14	16	46.67	53.33	183.67		
Awing	13	17	43.33	56.67	177.83		

**Table 4.23:** Kruskall-Wallis test statistic showing variations in resilience according to village

**ns** = not significant

The statistics of the H-test indicated that smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change did not vary significantly across the ten villages under study. It could therefore be concluded that smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change is not dependent on the village of the farmers'.

## 4.1.4.4. Agroforestry systems and smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change

The Kruskall-Wallis (H) test was run to rank smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change according to the agroforestry systems they practiced and to determine if there was a significant variation in smallholder farmers' resilience based on these agroforestry systems (Table 4.24).

	Freque	ncy (n)	Percent	age (%)			
Agroforestry system	Resilient	Not Resilient	Resilient	Not Resilient	Mean Rank	Chi- square	p-level
Agrosilvicultural	71	82	20.28	23.43	183.21		
Silvopastoral	17	23	4.86	6.57	176.38		
Agrosilvopastoral	40	46	11.43	13.14	183.40	8.686	0.034**
No agroforestry	19	52	5.43	14.86	148.83		
(reference category)							

**Table 4.24:** Kruskall-Wallis test statistic showing variations in resilience according to agroforestry system practiced.

\*\* Significant at 5% probability level

From the mean ranks of the Kruskall-Wallis test or the H-test, it was found that smallholder farmers who were into the agrosilvicultural (mean rank = 183.21) and agrosilvopastoral (mean rank = 183.40) agroforestry systems were more resilient to climate variability and change than their counterparts who were into the silvopastoral (mean rank = 176.38) agroforestry system. The least resilient to climate variability and change were smallholder farmers who were into the "No Agroforestry" option (mean rank = 148.83).

The H-test statistic showed that there was a statistically significant variation in smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change according to the different agroforestry systems ( $X^2 = 8.686$ , p<0.05). This indicates that smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change varies in relation to the different agroforestry systems practiced. It can therefore be concluded that smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change is highly influenced by the agroforestry systems they practice.

#### **4.2. DISCUSSION OF RESULTS**

#### 4.2.1. Drivers of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change

Literature is replete with studies carried out across Cameroon, Africa and the tropics, highlighting the causes of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change (Molua and Lambi, 2002; Gbetibouo, 2009; Deressa *et al.*, 2011; Tabi *et al.*, 2012; Yaro, 2013; Rurinda, 2014; Rurinda *et al.*, 2014; Awazi, 2016; Awazi and Tchamba, 2018). However, very few research works have examined the drivers of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change in an in-depth and holistic manner, and employing quantitative techniques. It was within this framework that this study sought to fill this knowledge gap. Based on the findings of the study, three broad categories of variables

i.e. climate-related, socio-economic and institutional variables were the main drivers of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change.

With respect to climate-related variables driving smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change, it was noticed that two climate parameters - temperature and rainfall, were the main variables driving vulnerability. With high levels of fluctuation in temperature and rainfall in the past five decades, smallholder farmers increasingly find it difficult to plan for the farming season. Farmers' local knowledge about weather trends has been hampered by high levels of fluctuation in rainfall and temperature in particular, and other extreme weather events, making it near impossible for farmers to know the start and the end of the farming season (onset and cessation of the rainy season). Although several studies carried out in rural Cameroon in general and Mezam division in particular have demonstrated high levels of variability in climate parameters (temperature and rainfall in particular) in recent years (Kimengsi and Azibo, 2015; Gur et al., 2015; Awazi, 2016; Azibo et al., 2016; Innocent et al., 2016; Kimengsi and Botanga, 2017; Tume, 2019; Tume et al., 2019a; Tume et al., 2019b; Bate et al., 2019; Awazi et al., 2019), little or no research has been conducted demonstrating that variations and changes in climate parameters are a major cause of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change. Equally, although research studies carried out in other parts of the world (Chen and Wang, 1995; Buishand and Brandsman, 1999; Saleshi and Zanke, 2004; Cong and Brady, 2012; Berg et al., 2013; Olsson et al., 2015; Nkuna and Odiyo, 2016; Weng et al., 2017) have demonstrated the existence of a plausible non-causal and causal relationship between climate parameters (temperature, rainfall, and rainy days) in the present dispensation of climate variability and change, little or no research has been carried out in Cameroon in general and the North-West Region of Cameroon in particular, examining the relationship that exists between climate parameters in the face of climate variability and change. These knowledge gaps have been fully addressed in this study.

Pertaining to socio-economic and institutional variables driving smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change, a number of studies carried out across Cameroon and Africa have examined some of these variables as drivers of vulnerability (Molua and Lambi, 2002; Smit and Wandel, 2006; Challinor *et al.*, 2007; Gbetibouo and Ringler, 2009; Tabi *et al.*, 2012; Kasulo *et al.*, 2012; Belaineh *et al.*, 2013; Kuwornu *et al.*, 2013; Tessema *et al.*, 2013; Burney *et al.*, 2014; Temesgen *et al.*, 2014; Rurinda, 2014;

Rurinda et al., 2014; Harvey et al., 2014; Feleke, 2015; Kirui et al., 2015; Awazi, 2016; Kimengsi and Botanga, 2017; Fongnzossie et al., 2018; Awazi and Tchamba, 2018). It must however be said that most of these studies either tackled smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change very superficially, or employed mainly descriptive, qualitative and conceptual approaches to assess smallholder farmers' vulnerability faced with climate variability and change. This study is one of the first to be done in Cameroon in general and the North-West Region of Cameroon in particular, that significantly employed quantitative techniques (inferential statistics like the T-test, Chi-square, Spearman rank correlation, and the binary logistic regression) to demonstrate the role of socio-economic and institutional variables in driving smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change. Findings indicated that a non-causal and causal relationship existed between socio-economic and institutional variables, and smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change. Thus, socio-economic and institutional variables such as number of farms, household size, age of household head, household income, level of education, gender, practice of agroforestry, access to information, access to credit, access to land, and access to extension services, which all had a statistically significant non-causal relationship with smallholder farmers' vulnerability, plausibly affect smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change. Meanwhile socio-economic and institutional variables such as household size, age of household head, household income, access to information, and access to land which had a statistically negative causal relationship with smallholder farmers' vulnerability, play a great role in reducing smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change. The existence of a strong negative causal relationship between these socio-economic and institutional variables (household size, age of household head, household income, access to information, and access to land), and smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change could be due to several reasons: firstly, household size is synonymous to labour force (especially in village settings). Thus, the bigger the household, the bigger the labour force, which enables the family to farm a larger farm plot, which everything being equal results in more output, thus ensuring food security. Age of household head on its part is associated with farm experience. Thus, the older the household head, the more experienced he/she is, which implies better mastery of the environment and cropping seasons. Household income enables farmers to buy better farm inputs, equipments and even food, implying that households with more income are much less vulnerable to the adverse effects of climate variability and change. Access to information on its part helps to strengthen smallholder farmers' decision making abilities. Farmers with more information are more

knowledgeable about the latest trends in the farming sector and therefore take to better farming practices, and apply better farm inputs than their counterparts with less information. Moreover, access to land is vital because land is a major asset indispensable to farming activities. Thus, farmers with more land are able to cultivate a diversity of crops which helps to spread risk. The aforementioned socio-economic and institutional variables therefore play a key role in reducing vulnerability to climate variability and change.

Hence, contrary to other studies which assessed drivers of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change only superficially, or employed mainly descriptive, qualitative and conceptual approaches to assess smallholder farmers' vulnerability, this study makes use of mainly quantitative or inferential techniques, bringing to the limelight, the causal and non-causal relationship existing between climate, socio-economic and institutional explanatory variables, and smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change. Thus, climate, socio-economic and institutional explanatory variables are the main drivers of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change in Mezam division in particular and the North-West Region of Cameroon in general.

## 4.2.2. Characterized agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers faced with climate variability and change

Studies carried out across different parts of Cameroon, Africa and the tropics have generally classified agroforestry practices on the basis of structure, function, socio-economic attributes, and ecological attributes into a plethora of agroforestry systems (Nair, 1985; Nair, 1993; Nair *et al.*, 2004; Nair and Garrity, 2012; Atangana *et al.*, 2014; Montagnini, 2017; Amare *et al.*, 2018; Awazi and Avana, 2019). Thus, the agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers have merely been characterized generally by most studies (Raintree and Torres, 1986; Raintree and Warner, 1986; Pandey, 2007; Snelder and Lasco, 2008; Focho *et al.*, 2009; Asaah *et al.*, 2011; Temgoua, 2011; Kumar and Nair, 2012; Dagar and Tewari, 2017; Coulibaly *et al.*, 2017; Njongue *et al.*, 2017; Munjeb *et al.*, 2018; Tsufac *et al.*, 2019). However, the peculiarity of this study lies in the fact that it sought to characterize the agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers in the face of climate variability and change. Based on this, three main agroforestry systems (agrosilvicultural, silvopastoral, and agrosilvopastoral) and eleven main agroforestry practices (home garden, trees on cropland, live fences/hedges, Taungya, coffeebased agroforestry, improved fallows, windbreaks, trees on grazing lands, fodder banks, home gardens with livestock, and trees on grazing lands with crops) were unearthed.

Although some studies carried out across Cameroon, Africa and the tropics (Molua, 2005; Syampungani *et al.*, 2010; Rao *et al.*, 2011; Asfaw and Lemenih, 2012; Bishaw *et al.*, 2013; Charles *et al.*, 2013; Mbow *et al.*, 2013b; Mbow *et al.*, 2014; De Zoysa and Inoue, 2014; Kabir *et al.*, 2015; Kumar, 2016; Negawo and Beyene, 2017; Awazi and Tchamba, 2019) have attempted to classify the agroforestry practices/systems used by smallholder farmers to adapt to and mitigate the impacts of climate variability and change, most of the research was superficial, descriptive, conceptual and mostly based on a review of literature. Studies conducted in Cameroon in general and the North-West Region of Cameroon in particular have done little or nothing to characterize smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices faced with climate variability and change. A review of literature found that just Awazi (2016) and Awazi *et al.* (2019) conducted some research (although very superficial) assessing smallholder farmers' adaptation options (agroforestry being one of the adaptation options) faced with climate variability and change in Mbengwi Central sub-division, the North-West Region of Cameroon. The findings of this study have therefore come in to fill this knowledge vacuum.

Moreover, the study quantified the ecosystem services derived from smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices; the main classes of agroforestry tree/shrub species integrated on smallholder farmers' agroforestry farm plots; the food and cash crop species integrated on smallholder farmers' agroforestry plots; common livestock species reared by smallholder farmers practicing agroforestry; and common tree/shrub species integrated within smallholder farmers' agroforestry plots; in the face of climate variability and change. Hence, faced with climate variability and change, smallholder farmers take to a plethora of agroforestry practices, within which they integrate a diversity of food and cash crops; livestock; and trees/shrubs species in order to obtain the five "Fs" (Food, fodder, fuelwood, finance and soil fertility improvement) which helps them reduce vulnerability and enhance resilience to climate variability and change. This study is therefore one of the first to do a broad-based characterization of agroforestry practices taken up by smallholder farmers in Cameroon in general and the North-West Region of Cameroon in particular, in the face of climate variability and change.

## **4.2.3.** Smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices and vulnerability to climate variability and change

Here, the study sought to examine the determinants of smallholder farmers' practice of agroforestry faced with climate variability and change; and to assess the contributions of different agroforestry practices to the reduction of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change.

First and foremost, with regards to the determinants of smallholder farmers' practice of agroforestry faced with climate variability and change, it was found that little or nothing has been done in this direction in Cameroon in general and the North-West Region of Cameroon in particular. Although some studies have been carried out on agroforestry systems in Cameroon (Asaah et al., 2011; Temgoua, 2011; Njongue et al., 2017; Munjeb et al., 2018; Awazi et al., 2019; Tsufac et al., 2019; Awazi and Avana, 2019), little or nothing has been done to assess the determinants of smallholder farmers decision to take to agroforestry and choice of agroforestry systems faced with climate variability and change. It was in this light this study sought to fill this gaping knowledge void with a goal to influencing policy. The existence of a statistically significant non-causal relationship between several explanatory variables (number of farms, household size, age of household head, household income, educational level, gender, access to information, access to credit, access to land, and access to extension services) and smallholder farmers' practice of agroforestry faced with climate variability and change, demonstrates that these variables plausibly affect smallholder farmers' decision to practice agroforestry faced with climate variability and change. Meanwhile the existence of a statistically significant positive causal relationship between five explanatory variables (age of household head, access to information, household income, access to credit, and vulnerability) and smallholder farmers' practice of agroforestry faced with climate variability and change, indicates that these five explanatory variables play a major role in enhancing smallholder farmers' practice of agroforestry faced with climate variability and change. This could be attributed to the fact that age goes with experience and the older the farmer, the more experience they have about best practices like agroforestry; access to information makes farmers more knowledgeable about best practices like agroforestry and increases their propensity to practice agroforestry; more household income enables farmers to buy better farm inputs and equipments as well as pay for farm operations like clearing, tilling and pruning; access to credit gives farmers more leverage to choose best

practices like agroforestry; and vulnerability to climate variations pushes farmers to take to best practices like agroforestry that help them reduce vulnerability. Smallholder farmers' choice of agroforestry systems (agrosilvicultural, silvopastoral, and agrosilvopastoral agroforestry systems) was mainly influenced positively by access to information, household income and access to land. This could be attributed to the fact that information helps farmers to make better decisions especially with regards to the adoption and application of best farming practices. Household income enables farmers to pay for agroforestry farm operations like clearing, tilling, thinning and pruning; as well as the purchase of better farm equipments and inputs. Land on its part is an indispensable asset especially for practices like agroforestry which demand large expanses of land. Thus, smallholder farmers' practice of agroforestry and choice of agroforestry system faced with climate variability and change is influenced by several variables.

Secondly, pertaining to the contributions of agroforestry practices to the reduction of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change, it was found that seven agroforestry practices (home gardens with livestock, trees on cropland, live fences/hedges; trees on grazing land; coffee-based agroforestry, Taungya and improved fallows) plausibly contribute towards reducing smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change, owing to the existence of a statistically significant negative non-causal relationship between these agroforestry practices and smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change. Meanwhile five agroforestry practices (home garden with livestock, trees on cropland, trees on grazing land, coffee-based agroforestry, and Taungya) played a major role in reducing smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change, owing to the existence of a statistically significant negative causal relationship between these five agroforestry practices and smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change. The contribution of these agroforestry practices towards reducing smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change could be attributed to the different ecosystem services provided by these agroforestry practices like food, fodder, fuelwood, finance, and soil fertility enhancement. Agroforestry as an adaptation and mitigation option to climate variability and change has been proven by different studies carried out across different parts of Africa and the tropics (Syampungani et al., 2010; Rao et al., 2011; Bishaw et al., 2013; Mbow et al., 2013; Charles et al., 2013; Mbow et al., 2014; Kabir et al., 2015; Sobola et al., 2015; Newaj et al., 2016; Awazi and Tchamba, 2019), owing to its ability to supply a plethora of ecosystem services to smallholder farmers which gives agroforestry

practicing farmers an edge over their non-agroforestry practicing counterparts, faced with climate variability and change. However, little or nothing has been done so far to assess the contributions of agroforestry towards reducing smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change in Cameroon in general and the North-West Region of Cameroon in particular which has been fully addressed by this study, thus filling the knowledge gap.

## 4.2.4. Smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices and resilience to climate variability and change

Here, the study sought to examine the determinants of smallholder farmers' resilience faced with climate variability and change; and the contributions of agroforestry practices to smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change. Following extensive literature review, it was found that very little research had been done on these two aspects, which explains why this study sought to fill the knowledge gap. Literature review demonstrated that most of the research focusing on smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change was descriptive, qualitative and conceptual (Mccarthy et al., 2004; Deressa et al., 2009; Gordon, 2009; Gbetibouo, 2009; Gbetibouo et al., 2009; Folke et al., 2010; Deressa et al., 2011; World Bank, 2013; Atinkut and Mebrat, 2016). Meanhwhile very little research had been carried out to assess the contribution of agroforestry practices towards enhancing smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change across different parts of Africa and the tropics (Verchot et al., 2006; Rao et al., 2007; Lin, 2007; Nsabimana et al., 2008; Lott et al., 2009; Thorlakson, 2011; Nguyen et al., 2013; Bishaw et al., 2013; Mbow et al., 2013b; Mbow et al., 2014; Vaast and Somarriba, 2014; Kumar, 2016; Liyama et al., 2017; Awazi, 2018; Toppoand Raj, 2018; Awazi and Tchamba, 2019), with little or nothing done in Cameroon in general and the North-West Region of Cameroon in particular. This study therefore actively sought to fill the aforementioned knowledge gaps.

Thus, pertaining to the determinants of smallholder farmers' resilience faced with climate variability and change, it was found that a statistically significant non-causal relationship existed between explanatory variables (number of farms, household size, age of household head, household income, educational level, gender, practice of agroforestry, access to information, access to credit, access to land, and access to extension services) and smallholder farmers' resilience, which goes to show that these variables plausibly affect smallholder farmers' resilience faced with climate variability and change. Meanwhile, a statistically significant positive causal relationship was found to exist between five

explanatory variables (number of farms, access to information, household income, access to credit, and access to land) and smallholder farmers' resilience, demonstrating that these variables played a major role in enhancing smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change. Hence, smallholder farmers with many farms are more resilient to climate variability and change which could be attributed to more yields obtained from these many farms which is consumed by the household and excess sold to buy farm inputs. In the same light, smallholder farmers with better access to information are more resilient than their counterparts with limited or no access which could be attributed to the fact that smallholder farmers with easy access to information are able to make plans into the future which helps them to adopt best practices. Equally, smallholder farmers with more income and access to credit facilities are more resilient than their fellow farmers with limited or no access to credit. This could be due to the fact that smallholder farmers with easy access to credit facilities are able to buy better farm inputs and can easily switch to best practices which act as a buffer to the adverse effects of climate variability and change. Meanwhile smallholder farmers with limited income and little or no access to credit facilities are unable to buy good farm inputs and cannot switch to best practices on time which renders them weak in the face of climate extremes. Similarly, smallholder farmers with more access to land were more resilient than their counterparts with limited or no land which could be attributed to the fact that land is an indispensable asset to any farmer for it is the most important fixed asset, and without it, no farming activity can take place.

As per the contribution of agroforestry practices to smallholder farmers' resilience faced with climate variability and change, it was found that seven agroforestry practices played a plausible role in affecting smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change (home garden with livestock, trees on cropland, live fences/hedges, trees on grazing land, coffee-based agroforestry, Taungya and improved fallows) owing to the existence of a statistically significant non-causal relationship between these agroforestry practices and smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change. Meanwhile four agroforestry practices (home garden with livestock, home garden, trees on grazing land, and coffee-based agroforestry) played a major role in enhancing smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change, owing to the existence of a statistically significant positive causal relationship between these agroforestry practices and smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change, owing to the existence of a statistically significant positive causal relationship between these agroforestry practices and smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change. Thus, it was noticed that most of the agroforestry practices have a positive causal relationship with smallholder farmers' resilience

to climate variability and change. This shows that as agroforestry practices increase, smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change also increases. This improvement in smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change following an increase in agroforestry practices could be attributed to the environmentally benign, low cost and sustainable nature of agroforestry practices when compared to other practices (especially monoculture) taken up by some smallholder farmers.

#### **CHAPTER FIVE**

### CONCLUSION, RECOMMENDATIONS AND POLICY IMPLICATIONS

### 5.1. Conclusion

This study sought to attain four specific objectives: assess the drivers of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change in the North-West Region of Cameroon; characterize smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices in the face of climate variability and change in the North-West Region of Cameroon; examine the contribution of agroforestry practices to the reduction of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change; and evaluate the role of agroforestry practices to the enhancement of smallholder farmers' resilience faced with the impacts of climate variability and change. Based on the findings of this study, it could be safely said that all these four specific objectives were holistically attained.

Pertaining to the drivers of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change, it was found that temperature is on the rise while rainfall is scanty and erratic. This was vindicated by smallholder farmers' perceptions and analysis of over five decades of climate data for the study area. There was almost general unanimity amongst smallholder farmers that recurrent extreme weather events and poverty were the main drivers of vulnerability to climate variability and change, and most smallholder farmers rated that they were highly vulnerable to the adverse effects of climate variability and change. A significant negative causal relationship was found to exist between smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and five explanatory variables (household size, age of household head, access to information, household income and access to land) which goes to show that these explanatory variables contribute enormously towards reducing smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change.

With regards to the characterization of smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices in the face of climate variability and change, it was found that home garden with livestock, trees on croplands and home gardens were the most widespread agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers. A categorization of smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices revealed that agroforestry practices categorized under the agrosilvicultural agroforestry system were the most dominant, with six agroforestry practices. The most recurrent agroforestry products and

110

services identified by farmers were food and fuelwood; the main classes of agroforestry tree/shrub species integrated on smallholder farmers' agroforestry plots were fruit trees and fuelwood trees/shrubs; the most common food crops integrated on smallholder farmers' agroforestry plots were maize (Zea mays), Cassava (*Manihot esculenta*), and cocoyams (*Colocasia spp*); while the commonest livestock species reared by smallholder farmers practicing agroforestry were the indigenous fowl (*Gallus gallus domesticus*), the domestic pig (*Sus domesticus*), and the domestic goat (*Capra aegagrus hircus*); meanwhile the most commonly integrated tree/shrub species on smallholder farmers' agroforestry plots were avocado (*Persea american*), guava (*Psidium guajava*), bitter leaf (*Vernonia amygdalina*), African plum (*Dacryodes edulis*), Mango (*Mangifera indica*), Cola (*Cola anomala*) and Eucalyptus (*Eucalyptus spp*). All these go to show that smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices in the North-West Region of Cameroon are diverse which accounts for the diverse products and services obtained from these different agroforestry practices.

With respect to the contribution of agroforestry practices to the reduction of smallholder farmers' vulnerability faced with climate variability and change, it was found that eight (08) agroforestry practices had a negative causal relationship with smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change. Of the eight agroforestry practices, five (05) had a significant or strong negative causal relationship with smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change. These five agroforestry practices having a strong negative causal relationship with smallholder farmers' vulnerability and change were the home garden with livestock, trees on croplands, trees on grazing lands, coffee-based agroforestry and Taungya. It can therefore be said that the aforementioned five agroforestry practices have a high propensity to reduce smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change.

As per the agroforestry practices enhancing smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change, it was found that seven (07) agroforestry practices namely home gardens with livestock, trees on croplands, trees on grazing lands, live fences/hedges, coffee-based agroforestry, Taungya and improved fallows, had a significant non-causal relationship with smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change ( $X^2 > 34$ , p<0.01). Of the afore-cited seven (07) agroforestry practices, four (04) practices namely home gardens with livestock, home gardens, trees on grazing lands and coffee-based agroforestry had a significant positive causal relationship with smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and confree-based agroforestry had a significant positive causal relationship with smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and confree-based agroforestry had a significant positive causal relationship with smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and confree-based agroforestry had a significant positive causal relationship with smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and confree-based agroforestry had a significant positive causal relationship with smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change. This proves beyond reasonable doubt that the practice of these four

agroforestry practices played a significant role in enhancing smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change.

To sum up, smallholder farmers in Mezam division, the North-West Region of Cameroon are highly vulnerable to the adverse effects of climate variability and change; and the practice of agroforestry plays a major role towards reducing vulnerability and enhancing resilience of to climate variability and change. Thus, the practice of agroforestry by smallholder farmers contributes towards the attainment of some of the Susustainable Development Goals (SDGs) especially goal 1on poverty reduction; goal 2 on zero hunger; and goal 13 on climate action.

### 5.2. Recommendations

Drawing inspiration from the findings of this study, which clearly showed that agroforestry practices contribute towards reducing vulnerability and enhancing smallholder farmers' resilience faced with climate variability and change, the following recommendations to smallholder farmers, local authorities, and the government were doled out:

### 5.2.1. To smallholder farmers

- ✓ Alter planting dates in order to cope with fluctuations in planting seasons caused by climate variability and change;
- Take to more off-farm activities in order to reduce dependence on agriculture which is very climate dependent;
- ✓ Switch from purely rain-fed agriculture to other systems involving irrigation in order to reduce the impacts of prolong dryness on farm crops, caused by erratic rainfall;
- ✓ Try to reconcile local knowledge about past weather conditions to the present dispensation in order to avoid being caught off-guard by sudden extreme weather events;
- ✓ Attend training workshops and seminars treating issues of climate variability and change in order to acquire vital information, build capacity and broaden their scope as far as the thorny issue of climate variability and change is concerned;
- Intensify their existing agroforestry practices and adopt new agroforestry technologies in order to build their resilience to climate variability and change;
- Provisioning services obtained from agroforestry systems should not only be used for subsistence, but some should be sold in order to raise income which could go a long way to enhance resilience to climate variability and change;

- ✓ More fruit, fuelwood and building material trees should be integrated within agroforestry farm plots in order to obtain diverse products which could enhance resilience to climate variability and change;
- ✓ More diverse crop and livestock species should be integrated within agroforestry systems in order to reduce the adverse effects of climate variability and change on the system;
- ✓ Take to easily managed agroforestry systems which will help to reduce costs thereby enhancing their resilience to climate variability and change.

### **5.2.2.** To local authorities

- ✓ Organize training workshops and seminars on climate variability and change in order to school farmers on the impacts of climate variability and change as well as best practices such as agroforestry which could help them reduce the impacts of climate variability and change;
- ✓ Ease access to land especially for women in order to enable them practice agroforestry which would help enhance their resilience to climate variability and change;
- ✓ Create jobs in non-farming sectors which will encourage farmers to take part in offfarm activities which will go a long way to diversify their income and enhance their resilience to climate variability and change;
- ✓ Encourage farmers' involvement in community organizations like farming groups which will help them get novel ideas through information and knowledge sharing;
- ✓ Construct and maintain farm-to-market roads to ease evacuation of farm produce to the market which will go a long way to increase farmers' income and enhance resilience to climate variability and change;
- ✓ Create more local markets to ease the marketing of farmers' produce which help to increase farmers' income, thus enhancing resilience to climate variability and change.

### **5.2.3.** To the government

- ✓ Create and staff more research institutions involved in climate change research and weather forecast, in order to provide farmers with much needed weather information;
- Create and staff more research institutions involved in agroforestry research in order to provide smallholder farmers with climate-smart agroforestry practices;

- ✓ Construct more farm-to-market roads in order to ease farmers' evacuation of their farm produce to the market;
- ✓ Create a stabilization fund that helps to stabilize fluctuations in the prices of farm products;
- ✓ Create more markets to ease the sale of farmers' produce;
- ✓ Employ and deploy more agricultural extension agents to assist smallholder farmers on the field;
- Create more jobs in the secondary and tertiary sectors in order to reduce dependence on farming activities which are too climate dependent;
- The land tenure system should be reoriented in order to ease access to land especially for women;
- ✓ Tree rights should be guaranteed for practitioners of agroforestry in order to encourage farmers to take up the practice;
- ✓ Farmers' banks should be created to provide credit and loans to smallholder farmers;
- ✓ The existing agroforestry practices of smallholder farmers should be promoted and more climate-smart agroforestry technologies should be invented and vulgarized among smallholder farmers to reduce their vulnerability and enhance their resilience to climate variability and change.

### **5.3.** Policy implications

This study sought to assess the contributions of agroforestry practices to the reduction of vulnerability and the enhancement of resilience in smallholder farming systems faced with climate variability and change. Based on the findings of the study, the following policy implications arise:

First and foremost, three main agroforestry systems (agrosilvicultural, silvopastoral and agrosilvopastoral agroforestry systems) were practiced by smallholder farmers faced with climate variability and change. Thus, policies geared towards encouraging the practice of agroforestry in smallholder farming systems faced with climate variability and change should lay emphasis on these three main agroforestry systems.

Secondly, the main agroforestry practices that played a significant contribution towards reducing smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change were home garden with livestock, trees on croplands, trees on grazing lands, coffee-based agroforestry,

and Taungya. Therefore, policies geared towards attenuating smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change should focus on these five main agroforestry practices.

Last but not the least, the main agroforestry practices that played a major role towards enhancing smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change were home garden with livestock, home garden, trees on grazing lands, and coffee-based agroforestry. Hence, policies geared towards using agroforestry to enhance smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change should take a keen look at these four agroforestry practices, and adequate measures should be taken to promote them.

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Adger, W.N., Agrawala, S., Mirza, M.M.Q., Conde, C., O'Brien, K., Puhlin, J., Pulwarty, R., Smit, B., and Takahashi, K. (2007). Assessment of adaptation practices, options, constraints and capacity. In climate change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment of the IPCC, ed. Palutikof, J.P., van der Linden, P.J., and Hansen, C.E. Cambridge: *Cambridge University Press.* http://www.ipcc-wg2.gov/AR4/website/17. pdf
- Ajake, A.O. (2012). The role of forest trees in indigenous farming systems as a catalyst for forest resources management in the rural villages of Cross Rivers state Nigeria. *Global Journal of Human social science*, 13(1), 1-24.
- Altieri, M.A., and Koohafkan, P. (2008). Enduring Farms: Climate Change, Smallholders and Traditional Farming Communities. Environment and Development Series 6. Third World Network. Penang, Malaysia. <u>http://www.fao.org/nr/water/docs/enduring\_farms.</u> pdf
- Amare, D., Wondie, M., Mekuria, W., and Darr, D. (2018). Agroforestry of smallholder farmers in Ethiopia: Practices and benefits. *Small-scale Forestry*, 18 (1), 39-56.
- Amonum, J.I., Babalola, F.D., and Agera, S.I.N. (2009). Agroforestry Systems in Nigeria: Review of Concepts and Practices. *Journal of Research in Forestry, Wildlife and Environment*, 1(1), 18-30.
- Andreotti, F., Maoc, Z., Jagoret, P., Speelman, E., Gary, C., and Saj, S. (2017). Trade-off Analysis and Optimization of Ecosystem Services in Agroforestry Systems. <u>http://edepot.wur.nl/416400</u>
- Appiah, D.O., Akondoh, A.C.K., Tabiri, R.K., and Donko, A.A. (2018). Smallholder farmers' insight on climate change in rural Ghana. *Cogent Food & Agriculture*, 4(1), 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/23311932.2018.1436211</u>
- Asaah, E.K., Tchoundjeu, Z., Leakey, R.R.B., Takousting, B., Njong, J., and Edang, I. (2011). Trees, agroforestry and multifunctional agriculture in Cameroon. *International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability*, 9(1), 110-119.
- ASAP. (2012). Adaptation for Smallholder Agriculture Programme. www.ifad.org. pdf
- Asfaw, B., and Lemenih, M. (2012). Traditional agroforestry systems as a safe haven for woody plant species: a case study from a topo-climatic gradient in south central Ethiopia. *For Trees Livelihoods*, 19, 359-377.
- Atangana, A., Khasa, D., Chang, S., and Degrande, A. (2013). Major Agroforestry Systems of the Humid Tropics. *Tropical Agroforestry*, pp 49-93.
- Atinkut, B., and Mebrat, A. (2016). Determinants of farmers' choice of adaptation to climate variability in Dera Woreda, South Gondar Zone, Ethiopia. *Environmental System Research*, 5(6), 1-8.
- Awazi, N.P. (2016). An assessment of adaptation options enhancing smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change: Case of Mbengwi Central Sub-Division,

North-West Region of Cameroon. Master's thesis defended in March 2016 at the Faculty of Agronomy and Agricultural Sciences, University of Dschang, Cameroon., Unpublished.

- Awazi, N.P. (2018). Adaptation Options Enhancing Farmers' Resilience to Climate Change. LAP LAMBERT Academic Publishing, 132 pages. ISBN-10: 3330027940; ISBN-13: 978-3330027947
- Awazi, N.P., and Avana, T.M.L (2020). Agroforestry as a sustainable means to farmer-grazier conflict mitigation in Cameroon. *Agroforestry Systems*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10457-020-00537-y</u>
- Awazi, N.P., and Tchamba, N.M. (2018). Determinants of small-scale farmers' adaptation decision to climate variability and change in the North-West Region of Cameroon. *Afr.* J. Agric. Res., 13, 534-543.
- Awazi, N.P., and Tchamba, N.M. (2019). Enhancing agricultural sustainability and productivity under changing climate conditions through improved agroforestry practices in smallholder farming systems in sub-Saharan Africa. *African Journal of Agricultural Research*, 14(7), 379-388. DOI: 10.5897/AJAR2018.12972
- Awazi, N.P., Tchamba, N.M., and Avana, T.M.L. (2019b). Climate change resiliency choices of small-scale farmers in Cameroon: determinants and policy implications. *Journal of Environmental Management 250* (2019) 109560
- Awazi, N.P., Tchamba, N.M., and Tabi, F.O. (2019a). An assessment of adaptation options enhancing smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change: Case of Mbengwi Central sub-Division, North-West Region of Cameroon. Afr. J. Agric. Res. 14(6): 321-334, DOI: 10.5897/AJAR2018.13008.
- Awazi, NP., Tchamba, N.M., and Temgoua, L.F. (2019c). Enhancement of resilience to climate variability and change through agroforestry practices in smallholder farming systems in Cameroon. *Agroforest Syst* (2019). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10457-019-00435-y</u>
- Azibo, B.R., Kimengsi, J.N., and Buchenrieder, G. (2016). Understanding and Building on Indigenous Agro-Pastoral Adaptation strategies for Climate Change in Sub-Saharan Africa: Experiences from Rural Cameroon. *Journal of Advances in Agriculture*, 6 (1), 833-840.
- Bate, B.G., Kimengsi, J.N., and Amawa, S.G. (2019). Determinants and policy implications of farmers' climate adaptation choices in rural Cameroon. *Sustainability* 11, 1921; doi:10.3390/su11071921.
- Berg, P., Moseley, C., and Haerter, J.O. (2013). Strong increase in convective precipitation in response to higher temperatures. *Nature Geoscience*, *6*, 181–185
- Berry, P.M., Rounsevell, M.D.A., Harrison, P.A., and Audsley, E. (2006). Assessing the vulnerability of agricultural landuse and species to climate change and the role of policy in facilitating adaptation. *Environmental Science and Policy*, *9*, 189-204.
- Bhandari, B. (2009). Summer rainfall variability and the use of rice (Oryza sativa L.) varietal diversity for adaptation: Farmers' perceptions and responses in Nepal. Master's thesis,

International Master Programme at the Swedish Biodiversity Centre. http://www.slu.se/Global/externwebben/centrumbildningar-projekt/centrum-forbiologisk-mangfald/Dokument/publikationercbm/Masteruppsatser/NR\_54\_Bharat\_Bhandari.pdf

- Biermann, F. (2007). Earth system governance as a crosscutting theme of global change research. *Global Environmental Change*, 17, 326–337.
- Bishaw, B., Neufeldt, H., Mowo, J., Abdelkadir, A., Muriuki, J., Dalle, G., Assefa, T., Guillozet, K., Kassa, H., Dawson, I.K., Luedeling, E., and Mbow, C. (2013). Farmers' strategies for adapting to and mitigating climate variability and change through agroforestry in Ethiopia and Kenya, edited by Caryn M. Davis, Bryan Bernart, and Aleksandra Dmitriev. Forestry Communications Group, Oregon State University, Corvallis, http://international.oregonstate.edu/files/final\_report\_agroforestry\_synthesis\_pape r\_3\_14\_2013. pdf
- Boko, M., Niang, I., Nyong, A., Vogel, C., Githeko, A., Medany, M., Osman-Elasha, B., Tabo, R. and Yanda, P. (2007). Africa. Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Parry, M.L., Canziani, O.F., Palutikof, J.P., van der Linden, P.J., and Hanson, C.E. Eds., Cambridge University Press, Cambridge UK, 433-467. <u>https://www.ipcc.ch/pdf/assessmentreport/ar4/wg2/ar4-wg2-chapter9</u>. pdf
- Buishand, T.A., and Brandsma, T. (1999). Dependence of precipitation on temperature at Florence and Livorno (Italy). *Climate Research*, *12*, 53-63
- Burck, J., Marten, F., Bals, C., Rink, E., and Heinze, I. (2016). The Climate Change Performance Index Results 2016. Ed: Kolboske, B., Divarci, L., and Baum, D. <u>https://germanwatch.org/en/download/13626.pdf</u>
- CBD (2008). Climate Change and Biodiversity. <u>http://www.cbd.int/climate</u> pdf [accessed 20 august 2015]
- Challinor, A.J., Wheeler, T., Garforth, C., Craufurd, P., and Kassam, A. (2007). Assessing the vulnerability of food crop systems in Africa to climate change. *Climatic Change*, *83*, 381-399.
- Chanana-Nag, N., and Aggarwal, P.K. (2018). Woman in agriculture, and climate risks: hotspots for development. *Climatic Change*, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-018-2233-z
- Charles, R.L., Munishi, P.K.T., and Nzunda, E.F. (2013). Agroforestry as Adaptation Strategy under Climate Change in Mwanga District, Kilimanjaro, Tanzania. *International Journal of Environmental Protection*, 3(11), 29-38.
- Charles, R.L., Munishi, P.K.T., and Nzunda, E.F. (2014). Agroforestry as a Resilient Strategy in Mitigating Climate Change in Mwanga District, Kilimanjaro, Tanzania. *Global Journal of Biology, Agriculture and Health Sciences*, *3*(2), 11-17.
- Chen, Y-L., and Wang, J-J. (1995). The effects of precipitation on the surface temperature and Airflow over the island of Hawaii. *American Meteorological Society*, 123, 681 694.

- Cong, R-G., and Brady, M. (2012). The Interdependence between Rainfall and Temperature: Copula Analyses. *The Scientific World Journal*, 2012, Article ID 405675, 11pages. doi:10.1100/2012/40567.
- Coulibaly, J.Y., Chiputwa, B., Nakelse, T., and Kundhlande, G. (2017). Adoption of agroforestry and the impact on household food security among farmers in Malawi: A review. *Agricultural Systems*, *155*, 52-69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2017.03.017
- Dagar, J.C., and Tewari, V.P. (2017). Agroforestry: Anecdotal to Modern Science, 879 pages DOI https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7650-3, Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2017.
- Dawson, I.K., Place, F., Torquebiau, E., Malézieux, E., Iiyama, M., Sileshi, G.W., Kehlenbeck, K., Masters, E., McMullin, S., and Jamnadass, R. (2013). Agroforestry, food and nutritional security. Background paper for the *International Conference on Forests for Food Security and Nutrition*, FAO, Rome, 13–15 May, 2013.
- Deresa, T.T., Hassan R.M., and Ringler C. (2011). Perception of and Adaptation to Climate Change by Farmers in the Nile Basin of Ethiopia. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, *149*, 23-31.
- Deresa, T.T., Hassan, R.M., Ringler, C., Alemu, T., and Yesuf, M. (2009). Determinants of Farmers' Choice of Adaptation Methods to Climate Change in the Nile Basin of Ethiopia. *Global Environmental Change*, *19*, 248-255.
- Deressa, T., Hassan, R.M., Alemu, T., Yesuf, M., and Ringler, C. (2008). Analyzing the Determinants of Farmers' Choice of Adaptation Methods and Perceptions of Climate Change in the Nile Basin of Ethiopia. *IFPRI Discussion Paper 00798, International Food Policy Research Institute*, Washington D.C, 26 pages.
- Deressa, T.T., Ringler, C., and Hassan, R.M. (2010). Factors Affecting the Choices of Coping Strategies for Climate Extremes: The Case of Farmers in the Nile Basin of Ethiopia. *IFPRI Discussion Paper No. 01032, International Food Policy Research Institute*, Washington, D.C, 25pp.
- Di Falco, S., Veronesi, M., and Yesuf, M. (2011). Does Adaptation to Climate Change Provide Food Security? A Micro-Perspective from Ethiopia. Am. J. Agr. Econ., 93(3), 829-846.
- Easterling, W.E., Aggarwal, P.K., Batima, P., Brander, K.M., Erda, L., Howden, S.M.A., Kirilenko, A., Morton, J., Soussana, J.F., Schmidhuber, J. and Tubiello, F.N. (2007). Food, fibre and forest products. Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Parry, M.L., Canziani, O.F., Palutikof, J.P., van der Linden, P.J., and Hanson, C.E., Eds., Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 273-313. <u>https://www.ipcc.ch/pdf/assessment-report/ar4/wg2/ar4-wg2-chapter5.pdf</u>
- Ekpo, F.E., and Asuquo M.E. (2012). Agroforestry practice as adaptation tools to climate change hazards in Itu Lga, Akwa Ibom state, Nigeria. *Global Journal of Human Social Science, Geography and Environmental Geosciences, 12* (11), 26-36.

- Endale, Y., Derero, A., Argaw, M., and Muthuri, C. (2017). Farmland tree species diversity and spatial distribution pattern in semi-arid East Shewa, Ethiopia. *For Trees Livelihoods*, 26(3), 199-214.
- FAO, IFAD, UNICEF, WFP, and WHO (2018). The State of Food Security and Nutrition in the World 2018. Building climate resilience for food security and nutrition. Rome, FAO. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.
- Focho, D.A., Newu, M.C., Anjah, M.G., Nwana, F.A., and Ambo, F.B. (2009). Ethnobotanical survey of trees in Fundong, North-West Region, Cameroon. *Journal of Ethnobiology and Ethnomedicine*, 5(17), 1-5.
- Folke, C., Carpenter, S.R., Walker, B., Scheffer, M., Chapin, T., and Rockström, J. (2010).
   Resilience thinking: integrating resilience, adaptability and transformability. *Ecology* and Society 15(4): 20. [online] URL: http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol15/iss4/art20/. Pdf
- Fongnzossie, F.E., Sonwa D. J., Kemeuze, V., and Mengelt, C. (2018). Assessing climate change vulnerability and local adaptation strategies in adjacent communities of the Kribi-Campo coastal ecosystems, South Cameroon. *Urban Climate*, *24*, 1037-1051.
- Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO), (2010a). Homestead gardens in Bangladesh. Technology for agriculture. Proven technologies for small holders. http://www.fao.org/teca/content/homestead-gardens-bangladesh. Accessed 26 October 2016 pdf
- Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO), (2010b). Incorporation of tree management into land management in Jamaica guinea grass mulching. Technology for agriculture. Proven technologies for small holders. <u>http://www.fao.org/teca/content/incorporation-tree-management-land-management-jamaica-%C2%BF-guinea-grass-mulching. Pdf</u>
- Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO), (2011). Framework Programme On Climate Change Adaptation, Fao-Adapt. <u>http://www.fao.org/docrep/014/i2316e/i2316e00.pdf</u>
- Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO), (2013). Advancing Agroforestry on the Policy Agenda: A guide for decision makers. By Buttoud, G. in collaboration with Ajayi, O., Detlefsen, G., Place, F. and Torquebiau, E. In Agroforestry Working Paper no 1. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations Rome; 2013: 48
- Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO), (2016). Climate change and food security: risks and responses. http://www.fao.org/3/a-i5188e.pdf
- Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), (2006). Livelihood Adaptation to Climate Variability and Change in Drought-Prone Areas of Bangladesh, Rome, Italy, 97. <u>ftp://ftp.fao.org/docrep/fao/009/a0820e/a0820e. pdf</u>
- Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), (2009). Climate Change and Agriculture Policies; How to mainstream climate change adaptation and mitigation into agriculture policies, Rome, Italy, 76pp. <u>http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/ex\_act/pdf/Climate change and agriculture</u> <u>policies\_EN. pdf</u>

- Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), (2010). Collaborative Change; A Communication Framework for Climate Change Adaptation and Food Security, Rome, Italy, 47pp. <u>http://www.fao.org/docrep/012/i1533e/i1533e00.pdf</u>
- Gbetibouo, A.G. (2009). Understanding Farmers' Perceptions and Adaptations to Climate Change and Variability: The Case of the Limpopo Basin, South Africa. *IFPRI Discussion Paper No. 00849. International Food Policy Research Institute*, Washington, D.C, 36pp.
- Gbetibouo, G.A., and Ringler, C. (2009). Mapping South African Farming Sector Vulnerability to Climate Change and Variability; A Sub national Assessment. *IFPRI Discussion Paper 00885*.
- Gordon, C.R. (2009). The science of climate change in Africa: Impacts and Adaptation, *Grantham Institute for Climate Change, Discussion Paper number 1*. Imperial College London, <u>https://workspace.imperial.ac.uk/climatechange/public/pdfs/discussion\_papers/Grantham\_Institue\_-\_The\_science\_of\_climate\_change\_in\_Africa.pdf</u>
- Greene, H.W. (2003). Econometric Analysis. 5th Edition, Pearson Education, Inc., Upper Saddle River, New Jersey, USA; 2003. http://stat.smmu.edu.cn/DOWNLOAD/ebook/econometric.pdf
- Gur, A.S., Kimengsi, J.N., Sunjo, T.E., and Awambeng, A.E. (2015). The Implications of Climate Variability on Market Gardening in Santa Sub-Division, North-West Region of Cameroon. *Environment and Natural Resources Research*, 5(2), 14-23.
- Hadgu, G., Tesfaye, K., Mamo, G., and Kassa, B. (2015). Farmers' climate change adaptation options and their determinants in the Tigray Region, Northern Ethiopia. *African Journal of Agricultural Research*, *10*(9), 956-964.
- Harvey, C.A., Rakotobe, Z.L., Rao, N.S., Dave, R., Razafimahatratra, H., Rabarijohn, R.H., Rajaofara, H., and MacKinnon, J.L. (2014). Extreme vulnerability of smallholder farmers to agricultural risks and climate change in Madagascar. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B* 369, 20130089.
- Hassan, R., and Nhemachena, C. (2008). Determinants of African farmers' Strategies for Adapting to Climate Change: Multinomial Choice Analysis. *African Journal of Agricultural and Resource Economics*, 2(1), 83-104.
- Herrero, M., Ringler, C., van de Steeg, J., Thornton, P., Zhu, T., Bryan, E., Omolo, A., Koo, J., and Notenbaert, A. (2010). Climate Variability and Climate Change: Impacts on Kenyan Agriculture. International Food Policy Research Institute 2033 K Street, NW, Washington, DC 20006-1002 USA. <a href="https://cgspace.cgiar.org/bitstream/handle/10568/3840/climateVariability.pdf">https://cgspace.cgiar.org/bitstream/handle/10568/3840/climateVariability.pdf</a>
- ICRAF (2006). World Agroforestry Centre, Southeast Asia web site. (http://www.worldagroforestrycentre.org/sea).
- Innocent, N.M., Bitondo, D., and Azibo, B.R. (2016). Climate variability and change in the Bamenda Highlands of The North-West Region of Cameroon: Perceptions, Impacts and Coping mechanisms. *British Journal of Applied Sciences and Technology*, 12(5), 1-18

- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), (2001). Climate Change 2001: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability: A Report of the Working Group II of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. *Cambridge University Press*, Cambridge, United Kingdom. <u>http://www.preventionweb.net/files/8387\_wg2TARfrontmatter1.</u> <u>pdf</u>
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), (2007). Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Summary for Policymakers, IPCC AR4 WGII, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK. <u>https://www.ipcc.ch/pdf/assessmentreport/ar4/wg2/ar4-wg2-spm.pdf</u>
- International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD), (2012). Sustainable smallholder agriculture: feeding the world, protecting the planet. Proceedings of the Governing Council Events. In conjunction with the thirty-fifth session of IFAD's Governing Council, February 2012. <u>https://www.ifad.org/documents/10180/6d13a7a0-8c57-42ec-9b01-856f0e994054 pdf</u>
- IPCC, (2018). Summary for Policymakers. In: Global warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty [V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, H. O. Pörtner, D. Roberts, J. Skea, P. R. Shukla, A. Pirani, W. Moufouma-Okia, C. Péan, R. Pidcock, S. Connors, J. B. R. Matthews, Y. Chen, X. Zhou, M. I. Gomis, E. Lonnoy, T. Maycock, M. Tignor, T. Waterfield (eds.)]. World Meteorological Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, 32 pp
- Jerneck, A., and Olsson, L. (2014). More than trees! Understanding the agroforestry adoption gap in subsistence agriculture: Insights from narrative walks in Kenya. *Journal of Rural Studies*, *32*, 114-125.
- Kabir, K.H., Billah, M.M., Sarker, M.A., and Miah, M.A.M. (2015). Adaptation of farming practices by smallholder farmers in response to climate change. *Journal of Agricultural Extension and Rural Development*, 7(2), 33-40.
- Kimengsi, J.N., and Azibo, B.R. (2015). Building an indigenous agro-pastoral adaptation framework to climate change in Sub-Saharan Africa: experiences from the North-West Region of Cameroon. *Procedia Environmental Sciences*, 29, 126-127
- Kimengsi, J.N., and Botanga, A.Q. (2017). Crop-Specific Response to Climatic Variability and Agricultural Planning Implications in North West Cameroon. *Journal of Geography, Environment and Earth Science International, 13*(2), 1-11.
- Kimengsi, J.N., Azibo, B.R., and Amawa, S.G. (2016). Preparedness of African Farmers for Climate Insurance. Empirical Evidence from Cameroon. Open Journal of Applied & Theoretical Environmental Sciences, 2(1), 69-83.
- Kirui, J.W., Muthama, J.N., Opere, A.O., and Ngaina, J.N. (2015). Influence of climate change on smallholder dairy productivity: A case of Kosirai, Kenya, and Namayumba, Uganda. *International Journal of Agricultural Science Research*, 4(6), 109-116.
- Koch, S. (2010). Fractional Multinomial Response Models With An Application To Expenditure Shares, No 201021, Working Papers, University of Pretoria, Department of Economics.
- Kumar, B.M., and Nair, P.K.R. (2012). Carbon Sequestration Potential of Agroforestry Systems: Opportunities and Challenges. *Springer*; 2012.
- Kumar, K. (2016). Multifunctional Agroforestry Systems in Tropics Region. *Nature Environment and Pollution Technology*, 15(2), 365-376.
- Kurukulasuriya, P., and Mendelsohn, R. (2007). Crop selection: Adapting to climate change in Africa. *World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 4307*, Sustainable Rural and Urban Development Team. <u>http://library1.nida.ac.th/worldbankf/fulltext/wps04307.pdf</u>
- Kuwornu, M.K.J., Hassan, M.R., Etwire, M.P., and Osei-Owusu, Y. (2014). Determinants of choice of indigenous climate related strategies by smallholder farmers in Northern Ghana. *British Journal of Environment and Climate Change*, *3*(2), 172-187.
- Lambi, C.M. (2010). The environment and development frontier in sub-Saharan Africa: some global lessons. Published by NAB Ventures, Bamenda, Cameroon., 135 pages. ISBN: 9956-420-24-7
- Lasco, R.D., Delfino, R.J.P., Catacutan, D.C., Simelton, E.S., and Wilson, D.M. (2014). Climate risk adaptation by smallholder farmers: the roles of trees and agroforestry. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, *6*, 83-88.
- Lasco, R.D., Espaldon, M.L.O., and Habito, C.M.D. (2015). Smallholder farmers' perceptions of climate change and the roles of trees and agroforestry in climate risk adaptation: evidence from Bohol, Philippines. *Agroforest Syst*, *90*(3), 521–540.
- Leakey, R.R.B. (1996). Definition of Agroforestry Revisited. <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/269407082\_Leakey\_RRB\_1996\_Definition\_o</u> <u>f\_agroforestry\_revisited\_Agroforestry\_Today\_81\_5-7</u>
- Lewis, P., Monem, M.A., and Impiglia, A. (2018). Impacts of climate change on farming systems and livelihoods in the near east and North Africa With a special focus on small-scale family farming. Cairo, FAO. 92 pp. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- Lin, B.B. (2007). Agroforestry management as an adaptive strategy against potential microclimate extremes in coffee agriculture. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 144, 85-94.
- Liyama, M., Neufeldt, H., Dobie, P., Njenga, M., Ndegwa, G., and Jamnadass, R. (2014). The potential of agroforestry in the provision of sustainable woodfuel in sub-Saharan Africa. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, *6*, 138-147.
- Lott, J.E., Ong, C.K., and Black, C.R. (2009). Understorey microclimate and crop performance in a Grevillea robusta-based agroforestry system in semi-arid Kenya. *Agric Forest Meteor*, 149, 1140-1151.
- Luedeling, E., Kindt, R., Huth, N.I., and Koenig, K. (2014). Agroforestry systems in a changing climate challenges in projecting future performance. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, *6*, 1–7.
- Mandleni, B., and Anim, F.D.K. (2011). Climate Change Awareness and Decision on Adaptation Measures by Livestock Farmers. 85rd Annual Conference of the Agricultural Economics Society, Warwick University. 2011; 18 - 20 April. <u>http://ageconsearch.umn.edu/bitstream/108794/2/10Mandleni\_Anim.pdf</u>

- Mary, A.L., and Majule A.E. (2009). Impacts of climate change, variability and adaptation strategies on agriculture in semi arid areas of Tanzania: The case of Manyoni District in Singida Region, Tanzania. African Journal of Environmental Science and Technology 3(8), pp. 206 – 218.
- Mbow, C., Noordwijk, M.V., Luedeling, E., Neufeldt, H., Minang, P.A., and Kowero, G. (2013b). Agroforestry solutions to address food security and climate change challenges in Africa. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, 6, 61-67.
- Mbow, C., Noordwijk, M.v., Prabhu, R., and Simons, T. (2014). Knowledge gaps and research needs concerning agroforestry's contribution to Sustainable Development Goals in Africa. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, *6*, 162-170.
- Mbow, C., Smith, P., Skole, D., Duguma, L., and Bustamante, M. (2013a). Achieving mitigation and adaptation to climate change through sustainable agroforestry practices in Africa. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, *6*, 8-14.
- McCarthy, J., Martello, J., and Marybeth, L. (2004). Climate Change in the Context of Multiple Stressors and Resilience. ACIA Scientific Report, Cambridge University Press, p. 945-983.
   <u>www.acia.uaf.edu/PDFs/ACIA\_Science\_</u> Chapters\_Final/ACIA\_Ch17\_Final.pdf
- Mensah-Bonsu, A., Sarpong, D.B., Hassan R., Asuming-Brempong, S., Egyir, I., Kuwornu, J., and Osei-Asare, Y. (2017). Intensity of and factors affecting land and water management practices among smallholder maize farmers in Ghana. *African Journal of Agricultural and Resource Economics*, 12(2), 142-157.
- Meybeck, A., Laval, E., Lévesque, R., and Parent, G. (2018). Food Security and Nutrition in the Age of Climate Change. *Proceedings of the International Symposium organized by the Government of Québec in collaboration with FAO*. Québec City, September 24-27, 2017. Rome, FAO. pp. 132. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (MEA) (2005). Summary for decision makers. In ecosystems and human well-being: Synthesis, 1 24. Washington, D.C.: Island Press.
- Mkonda, M., and He, X. (2017). The Potentials of Agroforestry Systems in East Africa: A Case of the Eastern Arc Mountains of Tanzania. *International Journal of Plant & Soil Science*, 14(3), 1-11.
- Molua, E., and Lambi, C. (2002). Climate variability, vulnerability and effectiveness of farmlevel adaptation options: the challenges and implications for food security in Southwestern Cameroon. *Environment and Development Economics*, 7, 529-545. Cambridge University Press.
- Molua, E.L. (2005). The economics of tropical agroforestry systems: the case of agroforestry farms in Cameroon. *Forest Policy and Economics*, 7(2), 199-221.
- Molua, E.L. (2006). Climate trends in Cameroon: implications for agricultural management. *Climate Res.*, 30, 255–262.
- Molua, E.L. and Lambi, C.M. (2006): The Economic impact of Climate Change on Agriculture in Cameroon. In *CEEPA Discussion Paper No.17*.

- Montagnini, F. (2017). Integrating Landscapes: Agroforestry for Biodiversity Conservation and Food Sovereignty, pp 494, *Springer*.
- Mortimore, M.J., and Adams, W.M. (2001). Farmer adaptation, change and crisis in the Sahel. *Global Environmental Change 11*, 49-57.
- Morton, J.F. (2007). The impact of climate change on smallholder and subsistence agriculture. *Natural Resources Institute, University of Greenwich*, Kent ME4 4TB, United Kingdom. Edited by William Easterling, Pennsylvania state University. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2148357/pdf/zpq19680.pdf</u>
- Munjeb, N.L., Yerima, B.P.K., and Avana, T.M.L. (2018). Farmer's perception of soil and watershed degradation and the assessment of soil nutrients status under agroforestry systems in the Western Highlands of Cameroon: Case of Ako sub division. *Journal of Soil Science and Environmental Management* 9(8), 119-126.
- Nair, P.K.R. (1985). Classification of agroforestry systems. Agroforestry Systems 3(2), 97 128.
- Nair, P.K.R. (1989). Agroforestry Systems in the tropics, Dordrecht, Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Nair, P.K.R. (1993). An introduction to agroforestry, Dordrecht, Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Nair, P.K.R., and Garrity, D. (2012). Agroforestry The Future of Global Land Use. Advances in Agroforestry, series volume 9, edition 1, 542 pages, DOI 10.1007/978-94-007-4676-3, Springer Netherlands.
- Nair, P.K.R., Rao, M.R., and Buck, L.E. (2004). New vistas in Agroforestry: A Compendium for 1st World Congress of Agroforestry, 2004. Advances in Agroforestry, Series Volume 1, Edition 1, 480 pages, DOI 10.1007/978-94-017-2424-1, Springer Netherlands
- National Academy of Sciences (NAS) and the Royal Society (RS). (2014). Climate change, evidence and causes. An overview from the *Royal Society* and the *United States Academy of Sciences*. <u>http://dels.nas.edu/resources/static-assets/exec-office-other/climate-change-full.pdf</u>
- Negawo, J.W., and Beyene, D.N. (2017). The Role of Coffee Based Agroforestry System in Tree Diversity Conservation in Eastern Uganda. *Journal of Landscape Ecology*, 10(2), 5-18.
- Neupane, R.P., and Thapa, G.B. (2001). Impact of agroforestry intervention on soil fertility and farm income under the subsistence farming system of the middle hills, Nepal. *Agric Ecosyst Environ*, *84*, 157-167.
- Newaj, R., Chaturvedi, O.P., and Handa, A.K. (2016). Recent development in agroforestry research and its role in climate change adaptation and mitigation. *Indian Journal of Agroforestry*, 18(1), 1-9.
- Newaj, R., Chavan, S.B., and Prasad, R. (2015). Climate-smart agriculture with special reference to agroforestry. *Indian J. of Agroforestry*, 17(1), 96-108.

- Nguyen, Q., Hoang, M.H., Öborn, I., and van Noordwijk, M. (2013). Multipurpose agroforestry as a climate change resiliency option for farmers: an example of local adaptation in Vietnam. *Climatic Change*, *117*, 241-257.
- Nhemachena, C., and Hassan, R. (2007). Micro-Level Analysis of Farmers' Adaptation to Climate Change in Southern Africa. *IFPRI Discussion Paper No. 00714. International Food Policy Research Institute*, Washington, D.C, 30pp. <u>https://ipcc-wg2.gov/njlite\_download2.php?id=8035pdf</u>
- Niles, M.T., and Salerno, J.D. (2018). A cross-country analysis of climate shocks and smallholder food insecurity. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(2), e0192928. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0192928
- Njongue, Y.N., Avana, T.M.L., Fotsing, E. and Muderhwa, P.M. (2017). Assessing farmers' interest in Agroforestry practices around the Mount Cameroon National park (MCNP) in Cameroon: International Journal of Geomatics, Planning and Resources Management (2)
- Nkuna, T.R., and Odiyo, J.O. (2016). The relationship between temperature and rainfall variability in the Levubu sub-catchment, South Africa. *International Journal of Environmental Science*, 1, 66-75.
- Noordwijk, V.M., Hoang, M.H., Neufeldt, H., Öborn, I., Yatich, T., eds. (2011). How trees and people can co-adapt to climate change: reducing vulnerability through multifunctional agroforestry landscapes. Nairobi: World Agroforestry Centre (ICRAF).
- Nsabimana, D., Klemedtson, L., Kaplin, D.A., and Wallin, G. (2008). Soil carbon and nutrient accumulation under forest plantations in southern Rwanda. *African Journal of Science and Technology*, *2*, 142-149.
- Ojwang, G.O., Agatsiva, J., and Situma, C. (2010). Analysis of Climate Change and Variability Risks in the Smallholder Sector: Case studies of the Laikipia and Narok Districts representing major agro-ecological zones in Kenya. Environment and Natural Resources Management Working Paper Number 41, Environment [Climate Change] Bioenergy Monitoring and Assessment, FAO 2010. <u>http://www.fao.org/3/a-i1785e.pdf</u>
- Olsson, T., Jakkila, J., Veijalainen, N., Backman, L., Kaurola, J., and Vehviläinen, B. (2015). Impacts of climate change on temperature, precipitation and hydrology in Finland studies using bias corrected Regional Climate Model data. *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci.*, *19*, 3217-3238.
- Pandey, D.N. (2007). Multifunctional agroforestry systems in India. *Current Science*, 92(4), 455-463.
- Partey, S.T., Dakorah, A.D., Zougmoré, R.B., Ouédraogo, M., Nyasimi, M., Nikoi, G.K., and Huyer, S. (2018). Gender and climate risk management: evidence of climate information use in Ghana. *Climatic Change*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-018-2239-6</u>
- Paterson, B., and Charles, A. (2019). Community-based responses to climate hazards: typology and global analysis. *Climatic Change*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-018-2345-5</u>.

- Quandt, A. (2019). Variability in perceptions of household livelihood resilience and drought at the intersection of gender and ethnicity. *Climatic Change 154*, 1-13. doi: 10.1007/s10584-018-2343-7
- Quandt, A. (2018). Measuring livelihood resilience: the household livelihood resilience approach (HLRA). *World Dev 107*, 253-263. doi: 10.1016/j.worlddev.2018.02.024
- Quandt, A., Neufeldt, H., and McCabe, J.T. (2017). The role of agroforestry in building livelihood resilience to floods and droughts in semi-arid Kenya. *Ecol Soc* 22(3).
- Quandt, A., Neufeldt, H., and McCabe, J.T. (2018). Building livelihood resilience: what role does agroforestry play? *Clim Dev*. https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2018.1447903.
- Raintree, J. B., and Warner, K. (1986). Agroforestry pathways for the intensification of shifting cultivation. *Agroforestry systems*, 4(1), 39-54.
- Raintree, J.B., and Torres, F. (1986). Agroforestry research in farming systems perspective. The ICRAF approach. *ICRAR working paper 39*, 30 pages.
- Rao, K.P.C., Ndegwa, W.G., Kizito, K., and Oyoo, A. (2011). Climate variability and change: farmer perceptions and understanding of intra-seasonal variability in rainfall and associated risk in semi-arid Kenya. *Experimental Agriculture*, 47, 267-291.
- Rao, K.PC., Verchot, L.V., and Laarman, J. (2007). Adaptation to Climate Change through Sustainable Management and Development of Agroforestry Systems. SATeJournal, 4(1), 1-30.
- Rayner, P.J., Stavert, A., Scholze, M., Ahlström, A., Allison, C.E., and Law, R.M. (2015). Recent changes in the global and regional carbon cycle: analysis of first-order diagnostics. *Biogeosciences*, 12, 835-844.
- Rurinda, J. P., Mapfumo P., Van Wijk, M.T., Mtambanengwe, F., Rufino, M.C., Chikowo, R., and Giller, K.E. (2014). Sources of vulnerability to a variable and changing climate among smallholder households in Zimbabwe: A participatory analysis. *Climate Risk Management*, 3, 65-78.
- Rurinda, J.P. (2014). Vulnerability and adaptation to climate variability and change in smallholder farming systems in Zimbabwe. Thesis Submitted in fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor at *Wageningen University*, and publicly defended on Tuesday 10 June 2014 at 11 a.m. in the Aula. <u>http://edepot.wur.nl/305159pdf</u>
- Seleshi, Y., and Zanke, U. (2004). Recent Changes in Rainfall and Rainy Days in Ethiopia. *International Journal of Climatology*, 24, 973-983.
- Serdeczny, O., Adams, S., Baarsch, F., Coumou, D., Robinson, A., Hare, W., Schaeffer, M., Perrette, M., and Reinhardt, J. (2016). Climate change impacts in Sub-Saharan Africa: from physical changes to their social repercussions. *Regional Environmental Change* 17, 1585–1600.
- Smit, B., and Skinner, M.W. (2002). Adaptation options in agriculture to climate change: A typology. *Mitigation and adaptation strategies for Global Change*, *7*, 85-114.
- Smit, B., and Wandel, J. (2006). Adaptation, adaptive capacity and vulnerability. *Global Environmental Change 16*, 282-292.

- Smith, M.S., and Mbow, C. (2014). Editorial overview: Sustainability challenges: Agroforestry from the past into the future. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, *6*, 134-137.
- Snelder, D.J., and Lasco, R.D. (2008). Smallholder Tree Growing for Rural Development and Environmental Services: Lessons from Asia. Advances in Agroforestry, Series volume 5, edition 1, 494 pages, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4020-8261-0, Springer Netherlands.
- Sobola, O.O., Amadi, D.C., and Jamala, G.Y. (2015). The role of agroforestry in environmental sustainability. *IOSR Journal of Agriculture and Veterinary Science*, 8(5), 20-25.
- Syampungani, S., Chirwa, P.W., Akinnifesi, F.K., and Ajayi, O.C. (2010). The potential of using agroforestry as a win-win solution to climate change mitigation and adaptation and meeting food security challenges in Southern Africa. *Agricultural Journal* 5 (2), 80-88.
- Synthesis Report, (2009). Coping with Drought and Climate Change Project: Case of the<br/>ChiredziChiredziof<br/>districtZimbabwe.<a href="http://adaptation-undp.org/sites/default/files/downloads/cwd\_va\_synthesis\_report.pdf">http://adaptation-</a><br/>undp.org/sites/default/files/downloads/cwd\_va\_synthesis\_report.pdf
- Tabi, F.O., Adiku, S.G.K., Kwadwo, O., Nhamo, N., Omoko, M., Atika, E., and Mayebi, A. (2012). Perceptions of rain-fed lowland rice farmers on climate change, their vulnerability, and adaptation strategies in the Volta Region of Ghana. *Technologies and Innovations for Development*. DOI: 10.1007/978-2-8178-0268-8\_12.
- Tankou, C.M., de Snoo, G.R., Persoon, G., and de Iongh, H.H. (2017). Evaluation of smallholder farming systems in the Western Highlands of Cameroon. *IOSR Journal of Engineering*, 7(1), 01-11.
- Taruvinga, A., Visser, M., and Zhou, L. (2016). Barriers and opportunities to climate change adaptation in rural Africa: Evidence from the Eastern Cape Province of South Africa. *International Journal of Development and Sustainability*, 5(11), 518-535.
- Temesgen, D., Hassan, R.M., Alemu, T., Mahmud, Y., and Ringler, C. (2008). Analyzing the determinants of farmers' choice of adaptation methods and perceptions of climate change in the Nile Basin of Ethiopia. *IFPRI Discussion Paper 00798*. <u>https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/6337745.pdf</u>
- Temesgen, D., Yehualashet, H., and Rajan, D.S. (2014). Climate change adaptation of smallholder farmers in South Eastern Ethiopia. *Journal of Agricultural Extension and Rural Development*, 6(11), 354-366.
- Temgoua, L.F. (2011). Determinants Socio-Economiques et Ecologiques de la Plantation d'Arbres Producteurs de Bois D'œuvre et d'Artisanat dans L'Ouest du Cameroun; PhD thesis defended at the "Ecole Doctorale Montaigne-Humanités" of the "Université Michel de Montaigne Bordeaux 3"- France.

Tesfay, G.K. (2014). Smallholder farmers' adaptation strategies to climate change in Ethiopia (Case of Adwa Woreda, Tigraie Region). Masters of Science Thesis in Economics, Mekelle University, Ethiopia. <u>http://opendocs.ids.ac.uk/opendocs/bitstream/handle/123456789/4507/Smallholder%20</u> <u>Farmers%E2%80%99%20Adaptation%20Strategies%20to%20Climate%20Change%20</u> <u>in%20Ethiopia.pdf?sequence=1</u>

- Thorlakson, T. (2011). Reducing subsistence farmers' vulnerability to climate change: the potential contributions of agroforestry in western Kenya. Occasional Paper 16. Nairobi: World Agroforestry Centre. http://www.worldagroforestry.org/downloads/Publications/PDFS/OP11183.pdf
- Thorlakson, T., and Neufeldt, H. (2012). Reducing subsistence farmers' vulnerability to climate change: evaluating the potential contributions of agroforestry in western Kenya. *Agric Food Security, 1,* 1-13.
- Tingem, M., Rivington, M., and Bellocchi, G. (2009). Adaptation assessments for crop production in response to climate change in Cameroon. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, 29 (2), 247-256.
- Tingem, M., Rivington, M., Azam A.S.N., and Colls, J.J. (2007). Assessment of the ClimGen stochastic weather generator at Cameroon sites. *Afr. J. Environ. Sci. Technol.*, *1*, 86-92.
- Tingem, M., Rivington, M., Azam-Ali, S.N., and Colls, J.J. (2008b). Climate variability and maize production in Cameroon: simulating the effects of extreme dry and wet years. *Singapore J. Trop. Geogr.*, 29(3), 357-370.
- Tingem, M., Rivington, M., Bellocchi, G., and Colls, J.J. (2008a). Crop Yield Model Validation for Cameroon. *Theor. Appl. Climatol.* 96(3), 275-280.
- Tingem, M., Rivington, M., Bellocchi, G., Azam-Ali S.N., and Colls J. (2008c). Effects of climate change on crop production in Cameroon. *Climate Res.* 36, 65–77.
- Toppo, P., and Raj, A. (2018). Role of agroforestry in climate change mitigation. *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*, 7(2), 241-243.
- Tsalefac, M., Zaninetti, J.M., Giroir, G., and Ngoufo, R. (2011). L'Afrique centrale, le Cameroun et les changements globaux de l'environnement. *Presses Universitaires d'Orléans*, France 256 PP. <u>https://studylibfr.com/doc/5985157/l-afrique-centrale--le-cameroun-et-les-changements-globau</u>...
- Tsufac AR, Yerima BPK, Awazi NP (2019). Assessing the role of agroforestry in soil fertility improvement in Mbelenka-Lebialem, Southwest Cameroon. *International Journal of Global Sustainability* 3(1), 115 135.
- Tume, S.J.P. (2019). Standardized precipitation valuation of water resources vulnerability to climate variability on the Bui Plateau, NorthWest Cameroon. *Environment and Ecology Research* 7(2): 83-92. DOI: 10.13189/eer.2019.070202
- Tume, S.J.P., and Tanyanyiwa, V. (2018). Climate Change and Changing Agents in Africa and South Asia, *Vernon Press*.
- Tume, S.J.P., Kimengsi, J.N., and Fogwe, Z.N. (2019b). Indigenous knowledge and farmer perceptions of climate and ecological changes in the Bamenda Highlands of Cameroon: Insights from the Bui Plateau. *Climate* 7, 138, doi:10.3390/cli7120138
- Tume, S.J.P., Nyuykigham, M.D., Kongnso, M.E., Dzeaye, B.A., Nsaikii, M.F., and Njodzeka, N.G. (2019a). Food crop vulnerability to climate variability and change at the household level in Bui Division, Northwest Cameroon. In: Kuwornu J.K.M. (ed) Climate Change and Sub-Saharan Africa: The vulnerability and adaptation of food

supply chain actors. School of Environment, Resources and Development, Asian Institute of Technology, Thailand.

- Turner, B., Kasperson, R.E., Matson, P.A., McCarthy J.J., Corell, R.W., Christensen, L., Eckley, N., Kasperson, J.X., Luers, A., Martello, M.L., Polsky, C., Pulsipher, A., & Schiller, A. (2003). A framework for vulnerability analysis in sustainability science. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100(14), 8077.
- UNFCCCs Conference of the Parties Twenty-first session (COP21) Paris, 30 November to 11 December 2015. Adoption of the Paris Agreement, Draft decision -/CP.21, 12 December 2015. <u>http://www.c2es.org/docUploads/cop-21-paris-summary-02-2016-final.pdf</u>
- United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), (2006). United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change: Handbook. UNFCCC Secretariat. Bonn, Germany. <u>https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/publications/handbook.pdf</u>
- United Nations Sustainable Development Summit (2015). Resolution adopted by the General Assembly on 25 September 2015: Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. A/RES/70/1. http://www.un.org/ga/search/view\_doc.asp?symbol=A/RES/70/1&Lang=E. word
- United States Agency for International Development (USAID), (2007). Adapting to climate variability and change: A guidance manual for development planning. USAID, Washington, D.C. <u>http://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf\_docs/Pnadj990.pdf</u>
- Vaast, P., and Somarriba, E. (2014). Trade-offs between crop intensification and ecosystem services: the role of agroforestry in cocoa cultivation. *Agroforest Syst, 88,* 947–956.
- Verchot, L.V., Noordwijk, M.V., Kandji, S., Tomich, T., Ong, C., Albrecht, A., Mackensen, J., Bantilan, C., Anupama, K.V., and Palm, C. (2006). Climate change: linking adaptation and mitigation through agroforestry. *Mitig Adapt Strat Glob Change;* DOI 10.1007/s11027-007-9105-6.
- Viswanath, S., Lubina, P. A., Subbanna, S., and Sandhya, M.C. (2018). Traditional Agroforestry Systems and Practices: A Review. *Advanced Agricultural Research & Technology Journal*, 2(1), 18-29.
- Weng, F., Zhang, W., Wu, X., Xu, X., Ding, Y., Li, G., Liu, Z., and Wang, S. (2017). Impact of low-temperature, overcast and rainy weather during the reproductive growth stage on lodging resistance of rice. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 1-9.
- Wooldridge, J.M. (2013). Introductory Econometrics: A Modern Approach, Fifth Edition, ISBN-13: 978-1-111-53104-1. ISBN-10: 1-111-53104-8
- World Bank (2013). Turn Down the Heat: Climate Extremes, Regional Impacts, and the Case for Resilience. A report for the World Bank by the Potsdam Institute for Climate Impact Research and Climate Analytics. Washington, DC:World Bank. License: Creative Commons Attribution—NonCommercial–NoDerivatives3.0 Unported license (CC BY-NC-ND 3.0).
   http://www.worldbank.org/content/dam/Worldbank/document/Full\_Report\_Vol\_2\_Tu

rn\_Down\_The\_Heat %20Climate\_Extremes\_Regional\_Impacts\_Case\_for\_Resilience Print%20version\_FINAL.pdf

Zomer, R.J., Trabucco, A., Coe, R., and Place, F. (2009). Trees on Farm: Analysis of Global Extent and Geographical Patterns of Agroforestry. *ICRAF Working Paper no. 89, Nairobi, Kenya: World Agroforestry Centre.* <u>http://worldagroforestry.org/sites/default/files/WP89\_text\_only.pdf</u>

### APPENDICES

Appendix	1:	List	of	key	informants	interviewed	in	Mezam	Division,	North-West
Region of (	Car	neroo	n							

SN	Name	Portfolio
1	Anonymous	Regional Delegate of Agriculture and Rural Development
2	Anonymous	Regional Chief of Service for agricultural statistics
3	Anonymous	Regional chief of service for phytosanitary and pest control
4	Anonymous	Regional chief of service for crop production
5	Anonymous	Divisional Delegate of agriculture and rural development
6	Anonymous	Sub-divisional delegate of agriculture and rural development for Santa
7	Anonymous	Sub-divisional delegate of agriculture and rural development for Tubah
8	Anonymous	Sub-divisional delegate of agriculture and rural development for Bafut
9	Anonymous	Sub-divisional delegate of agriculture and rural development for Bamenda I
10	Anonymous	Sub-divisional delegate of agriculture and rural development for Bamenda II
11	Anonymous	Sub-divisional delegate of agriculture and rural development for Bamenda III
12	Anonymous	Chief of agricultural post for Awing
13	Anonymous	Chief of agricultural post for Mbei Santa
14	Anonymous	Chief of agricultural post for Akum
15	Anonymous	Chief of agricultural post for Bambui
16	Anonymous	Chief of agricultural post for Bambili
17	Anonymous	Chief of agricultural post for Kedjom-Keku
18	Anonymous	Chief of agricultural post Mendakwe
19	Anonymous	Chief of agricultural post Nkwen village
20	Anonymous	Chief of agricultural post Alabukam – Mankon
21	Anonymous	Regional delegate of environment, protection of nature and sustainable
		development
22	Anonymous	Regional chief of service for sustainable development
23	Anonymous	Regional chief of service for environmental protection
24	Anonymous	Divisional delegate of environment, protection of nature and sustainable
		development
25	Anonymous	Regional delegate of forestry and wildlife
26	Anonymous	Regional chief of service for forestry
27	Anonymous	Regional chief of service for wildlife
28	Anonymous	Regional chief of service for forestry statistics
29	Anonymous	Divisional delegate of forestry and wildlife
30	Anonymous	Regional coordinator of ANAFOR

Years/	1961 -	1966 -	1971 -	1976 –	1981 -	1986 -	1991 -	1996 -	2001 -	2006 -	2011 -	2016 -
	1965	1970	1975	1980	1985	1990	1995	2000	2005	2010	2015	2018
Months												
Jan	20.4	19.9	20.1	19.9	18	20.2	20.3	19.8	18.2	21	20.6	21.1
Feb	20.7	21.5	21.1	20.6	18.1	21.3	20.2	23.2	18.1	22.1	21.2	22.3
Mar	20.5	20.8	20.8	20.9	19.1	21.7	21.3	21.4	18.4	21.5	21.4	20.6
Apr	20.3	20.4	20.4	20.8	20	20.6	21	20.8	18.5	21	20.9	19.9
May	20.2	20.1	20.3	20.2	20	20.6	20.6	20.3	18.4	20.1	20.3	21.4
June	21.4	19.9	20.1	19.9	18	20.2	20.1	19.8	18.2	21	20.6	21.1
July	19	17.9	18.2	18	17.8	18	18.4	18.7	19.1	19.5	19.8	21.5
Aug	19.7	17.8	18.1	18.1	18.1	18.3	18.5	17.6	18.2	18.6	19.7	19.2
Sept	18.2	18.1	18.4	18.5	18.4	18.9	19.1	18.2	18.6	19.2	19.5	20.4
Oct	19.8	19.7	19.5	19.4	18.3	20.2	19.7	18.9	19.2	17.6	20.7	21.3
Nov	19.1	19.3	19.3	19.6	19.3	20.5	20	19.2	19.1	21.2	19.9	20.5
Dec	21.2	19.5	19.5	19.6	19.4	16.4	20.5	19.3	19.7	20.5	20.6	21.3
Avr.	20.02	19.82	19.68	19.62	18.52	20.02	20.20	20.50	18.56	20.16	20.50	21

Appendix 2: Average monthly temperature 1961 – 2018 for Mezam Division, North-West Region of Cameroon

Source: Regional service of meteorology for the North-West Region of Cameroon

Years/	1961 -	1966 -	1971 -	1976 –	1981 -	1986 -	1991 -	1996 -	2001 -	2006 -	2011 -	2016 -
	1965	1970	1975	1980	1985	1990	1995	2000	2005	2010	2015	2018
Months												
Jan	0	21.2	4.4	11.3	24.7	13	17.1	16.4	4	4.6	0.8	0
Feb	65.2	28.9	51.6	68.6	13.6	20.2	22.4	18.4	14.1	16.4	28.2	12.7
Mar	152.7	192.2	147.7	102.7	174.4	84.6	110.7	127.4	90.9	85.8	71.3	47.4
Apr	234.1	214.5	150.7	209.2	171.5	166.4	202.5	141.8	95.5	213.5	201.4	147.2
May	183.4	191.8	145.1	178.5	134.6	159.5	209.6	177.2	194.4	164.9	253.1	178.4
June	335.5	315.7	242.4	279.3	249.7	262.9	259.2	171.2	351.9	303.8	298.2	258.9
July	463.7	457.7	361.6	481.7	410.8	391.3	166.4	397.3	407.2	410.8	350.1	342.7
Aug	358.1	445.6	342.1	406.7	517.9	453.9	408.3	409.4	425	449.1	354.2	279.5
Sept	406.1	554.6	420.6	432.2	425	417	358.7	391.7	411.9	380.1	302.5	300.4
Oct	280.2	218.6	210.9	281.3	293.6	224.3	236.1	324.5	202.5	227.1	260.4	203.4
Nov	72	166.6	43.4	4.5	31.5	18.9	32.7	66.2	51	58.8	69.5	36.8
Dec	34.9	1.4	9.3	0.1	13.4	17.9	1.2	5.4	18.4	22.4	19.6	2.3
Total	2585.9	2808.8	2129.8	2456.1	2460.7	2229.9	2024.9	2246.9	2266.8	2337.3	2209.3	1809.7

Appendix 3: Average monthly rainfall 1961 – 2018 for Mezam Division, North-West Region of Cameroon

Source: Regional service of meteorology for the North-West Region of Cameroon

Years	1961	1966	1971	1976	1981	1986	1991	1996	2001	2006	2011	2016 to
Months	to 1965	to 1970	to 1975	to 1980	to 1985	to 1990	to 1995	to 2000	to 2005	to 2010	to 2015	2018
Jan	0	2	1	2	2	1	1	2	1	1	1	0
Feb	7	4	3	7	2	2	2	3	3	3	4	3
Mar	14	16	14	12	13	10	12	10	11	10	8	9
Apr	19	21	19	21	20	16	20	19	20	19	16	15
May	12	21	20	22	19	21	22	19	22	20	19	18
June	26	25	24	26	25	23	23	23	24	24	21	20
July	29	29	26	28	28	27	28	28	28	27	26	24
Aug	25	27	25	30	30	28	28	25	26	27	25	24
Sept	27	26	29	28	28	27	25	28	25	28	25	23
Oct	25	26	23	24	23	22	25	25	24	24	20	19
Nov	5	8	6	2	7	5	6	20	13	6	5	3
Dec	3	1	1	1	1	2	1	2	1	1	2	0
Total	192	206	191	203	198	184	193	204	198	190	172	158

Appendix 4: Average monthly rainy days 1961 – 2018 for Mezam Division, North-West Region of Cameroon

Source: Region service of meteorology for the North-West Region of Cameroon

### Appendix 5: Questionnaire addressed to smallholder farmers in Mezam Division, North-West Region of Cameroon

Division\_\_\_\_\_

Sub-Division	
Name of village	
Location	
Questionnaire number	
Interviewer	
Date	

### I. Identification and General information

1. Name of household
head
2. Gender: Male 🗌 Female 🗌 Age Marital status: Married 🗌 Single 🗌
Widow/Widower Divorced
3. How many of you live in this household?
4. What is your level of education? None Primary Secondary Tertiary
5. What is your farm size?
6. How many years of farming experience do you have?
7. Are you a member of any farming group? Yes No

8. What is your annual family income?

II. Surv	ev pertainin	ng to smallhold	<u>ler farmers'</u>	perception o	f variations	and changes in
climate	parameters	and drivers of	<sup>r</sup> vulnerabilii	ty to climate	variability a	nd change

### II.1. Smallholder farmers' perception of variations and changes in climate parameters

<ol> <li>Have you ex</li> <li>If yes, which</li> </ol>	kperienced h extreme	l extreme weather e	weather or event(s) did	climate ev you exper	vents in rec rience?	cent years?	? Yes	] No 🗌
2 How source	was it?							
4 Did you hay	was it : ve access t	o early wa	arning hefo	re the occi	irrence of	extreme w	eather an	d
climate events	? Yes							u
If ves, what die	d vou do v	with the in	formation	in preparat	tion for the	e extreme	weather of	r
climate event?				F F				-
5. Can you ren	nember so	me of the	extreme w	eather/clir	nate events	s you expe	rienced ir	the
past years?						<b>9</b> 1		
Year		Ev	vent		D	egree of s	everity	
<ul> <li>(a) Very seven</li> <li>6. If forecast a months in advauseful to you?</li> <li>(a) Two weeks</li> <li>(e) others? Sp</li> <li>7. List and ran</li> </ul>	re (  bout a cor ance of the s () (b pecify k your sou	b) Modera ning rainy e season v ) Three w arces of cl	ately sever y season con yould you n yeeks imate infor	e [] (c) uld be provided to rec (c) A Mor mation	Less seve vided relia eive the in hth (d	re (of bly, how r formation ) Two mo	d) <b>Not sev</b> nany weed for it to b	ere
8 In your onin	ion which	of them	are very rel	iable? Giv	e reasons			
9 How freque	ntly do vo	n or them a	climate info	ormation f	From these	sources?		
10. Compare v	variation in	n rainfall.	temperatur	e. wind sp	eed, and su	inshine in	the follow	ving
time scales:			eenip er avan	,				
Climate	Year	< 5	5-10	11-14	15-19	20-24	25-29	> 30
parameter	to year	years	years	years	years	years	years	years
1	2	ago	ago	ago	ago	ago	ago	ago
Rainfall			Ĭ			Ŭ		Ŭ
Temperature				1				
Wind				1				
Sunshine								
Use the scale b	below:							

(a) Very high (b) High (c) Average (d) Low (e) Very low 11. If forecasts about a coming rainy season could be provided reliably, what type of forecast information will be most useful to you?

- $\checkmark$  Forecasts about when the rains are expected to start falling in your area
- $\checkmark$  Forecasts about when the rains are expected to end in your area
- ✓ Forecasts about whether the amount of rain falling will be above average, normal or below average

$\checkmark$ Forecasts about the distribution of rainfall during the season	
Use the usefulness scale below:	
(a) Very useful (b) Moderately useful (c) Less useful (	(d) Not Useful

12. How do you feel the following climate parameters have varied/changed in the recent past?

#### > The total amount of rainfall:

Time	Increased a	Increased	Stayed the	Decreased	Decreased a
period	lot		same		lot

#### > Temperature:

Time period	Much hotter	Hotter	Stayed the same	Cooler	Much cooler

#### > Rainfall consistency:

Time period	Much more variable	More variable	Stayed the same	Less variable	Much less variable

### > Total amount of sunshine:

Time period	Increased a lot	Increased	Stayed the same	Decreased	Decreased a lot	

### > Incidence of violent winds and thunder storms:

Time	Increased a	Increased	Stayed the	Decreased	Decreased a
period	lot		same		lot

# *II.2. Smallholder farmers' perception of drivers of vulnerability to climate variability and change*

1. Have you personally been affected by recurrent extreme weather events? Yes 🗌 No 🗌

2. If yes, was/were the impact(s) positive or negative? **Positive Negative** 

3. If the impact(s) was/were positive, can you cite it/them?\_\_\_\_

4. If the impact(s) was/were negative, can you cite it/them?

5. Which factors do you think contribute to make you vulnerable to extreme weather events?

\_\_\_\_\_

\_\_\_\_\_

6. Are there some factors that you think contribute more to increase your vulnerability? Yes No 7. If yes, can you name them?\_\_\_\_\_

8. Provide suggestions that will reduce your vulnerability to extreme weather events\_\_\_\_\_

### III. Survey pertaining to smallholder farmers' agroforestry practices

1. Do you practice agroforestry? Yes No	
If No, why?	

\_\_\_\_\_

If Yes, which agroforestry practices do you practice?

2. What are some of the tree/shrub species you integrate on your agroforestry farm plots?\_\_\_\_

3. What are some of the crop species you integrate on your agroforestry farm plots?

4. What are some of the animal species you raise?\_\_\_\_\_

5. Do you derive benefits from your agroforestry practices? Yes 🗌 No	
If Yes, cite the benefits you derive from your agroforestry practices	

# IV. Survey pertaining to the contribution of agroforestry practices to the attenuation of smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change

1. Do you think agroforestry practices contribute towards reducing your vulnerability fa	iced
with climate variability and change? Yes No	
If No, why?	

If Yes, how do you think agroforestry practices contribute to reduce your vulnerability to climate variability and change?\_\_\_\_\_

2. Which agroforestry practices do you think contribute the most towards reducing your vulnerability to climate variability and change?\_\_\_\_\_

3. What do you think can be done to increase the contribution of these agroforestry practices towards reducing smallholder farmers' vulnerability to climate variability and change?

\_\_\_\_\_

# V. Survey pertaining to the contribution of agroforestry practices to enhancement of smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change

1. Do you think agroforestry practices contribute towards enhancing your resilience in the face of climate variability and change? Yes No If No, why?\_\_\_\_\_

If Yes, how do you think agroforestry practices contribute to enhance your resilience to climate variability and change?\_\_\_\_\_

2. Which agroforestry practices do you think contribute the most towards enhancing your resilience to climate variability and change?\_\_\_\_\_

3. What do you think can be done to increase the contribution of these agroforestry practices towards enhancing smallholder farmers' resilience to climate variability and change?

## Appendix 6: Interview guide addressed to Key Informants in Mezam Division, North-West Region of Cameroon

Name of Key Informant
Gender of Key Informant
Position Occupied
Interview guide number
Interviewer
Date
<ol> <li>Have you noticed variations and/or changes in climate in your area?</li> <li>If affirmative, what makes you think that variations and/or changes in climate is/are a</li> </ol>
reality <b>OR</b> what in your opinion are the indicators of variations and changes in climate?
3. What in your opinion are the main effects of increasing variation of these climate elements on smallholder farmers?
<ul> <li>4. In your opinion, are smallholder farmers vulnerable to the effects of increasing variation and/or changes in climate elements? Yes No</li> <li>5. If yes, why then do you think they are vulnerable?</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>6. Are smallholder farmers taking any measures to reduce vulnerability and beef-up their resilience to extreme climate and weather events? Yes No</li> <li>7. If yes, which measures are they taking?</li> </ul>
8. How do you judge the effectiveness of these measures? Give reasons for your answer
9. What do you think determines the choice of the measures or options smallholder farmers decide to adopt in the face of climate variability and change?
10. Have you proposed any measures or options to smallholder farmers which can help them to become more resilient? Yes No 11. If yes, which measures have you proposed or recommended to the farmers?

12. What are the farmers' opinions about the proposed measures?

13. I	Do s	mallholder far	mers p	ractic	e agro	oforestry in	your area?				
14.	If	affirmative,	what	are	the	different	agroforestry	practices	taken	up	by
farm	ers?										

15. In your opinion what is the role of agroforestry in helping smallholder farmers adapt to and/or mitigate the effects of climate variability and/or change?\_\_\_\_\_

16. Have you been encouraging smallholder farmers to practice agroforestry? **Yes No 17**. If affirmative, why do you think some smallholder farmers are still hesitant when it come to practicing agroforestry?

18. What do you think can be done to encourage smallholder farmers to practice agroforestry, especially in the face of climate variation and change?\_\_\_\_\_

19. How can you rate your level of knowledge on climate variability and change?

20 Was "Climate Change" taught as a course during your schooling days? Ves No
20. Was childed change taught as a course during your schooling days. It's it's
21. Is there a service in your ministry responsible for issues on climate variability and
change? Yes No
22. Have you received any training to handle problems associated with climate variability and
change? Yes No
23. If yes, how many training sessions have you undertaken?
Provide the themes of the training

24. How will you rate exchange of experience between colleagues on climate variability and change?

25. How will you rate communication of information on climate variability and change between agricultural officers and smallholder farmers?\_\_\_\_\_

elements be controlled? Yes No	26.	In	your	opinion,	can	the	effect	ts resulting	from	the	inter-annual	variation	in	climate
	eler	nen	ts be	controlled	1?	Yes		No						

\_\_\_\_\_

27. If yes, how can this be achieved?\_\_\_\_\_

28. If no, which reasons can you advance?\_\_\_\_\_

Thank You Very Much for Your Time

Appendix	7:	Data	collection	sheet for	tree/shrub	inventories	on	smallholder		
farmers'agroforestry plots										

Agroforestry	Type of	Geographical	Sub-	Local name	Botanical	Family of
plot number	agroforestry	coordinates	division	of species	name of	species
	practice	of plot			species	

### **Appendix 8: Focus group discussions**



Photo 1a: Focus group discussion



Photo 1b: Focus group discussion



Photo 1c: Focus group discussion



Photo 1d: Focus group discussion

### **Appendix 9: Household surveys**



Photo 1a: Household survey

Photo 1b: Household survey

### Appendix 10: Inventory on agroforestry plots



Photo 1a: Trees on cropland



Photo 1b: Trees on cropland



Photo 1c: Trees on cropland



Photo 1d: Trees on cropland



Photo 1e: Trees on cropland



Photo 2a: Improved fallow



Photo 1f: Trees on cropland



Photo 2b: Improved fallow



Photo 3a: Silvopastoral practice



Photo 3b: Silvopastoral



Photo 4a: Live fence/hedge



Photo 4b: Live fence/hedge



Photo 5a: Homegarden



Photo 5b: Homegarden



Photo 6a: Taungya

Photo 6b: Taungya



**Appendix 11: Inventory on non-agroforestry farm plots** 

Photo 1a: Tomato monocrop



Photo 1b: Huckleberry monocrop



Photo 1c: Groundnut monocrop



Photo 1d: Cassava monocrop



Photo 2a: Mixed cropping



Photo 2b: Mixed cropping



Photo 2c: Mixed cropping



Photo 2d: Mixed cropping